Alma Mater Studiorum - Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN SCIENZE BIOMEDICHE E NEUROMOTORIE

Ciclo 35

Settore Concorsuale: 06/F1 - MALATTIE ODONTOSTOMATOLOGICHE **Settore Scientifico Disciplinare:** MED/28

Development of new collagen cross-linkers for adhesive bonding stabilization.

Presentata da: Edoardo Mancuso

Coordinatore Dottorato:

Chiar.ma Prof.ssa Matilde Young Follo

Supervisore:

Chiar.ma Prof.ssa Annalisa Mazzoni

Co-supervisore: Lorenzo Breschi

Esame finale anno 2023

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
CHAPTER 1 Introduction	
CHAPTER 2	
Literature Review	
Adhesive Systems and Adhesion Strategies to Dentin	6
Dentin structure in relation to bonding	
Dentin Collagen Structure	15
Degradation of the hybrid layer	17
Strategies to reduce hybrid layer degradation	21
Conclusions Error! Bookmark not	defined.
CHAPTER 3	
Collagen Corss-linkers	32
Molecules tested	
Glutaraldehyde	
Carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC)	34
Dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC)	36
Chitosan	37
Aims and hypotheses	39
CHAPTER 4	
Experimental Studies	40
STUDY 1: Dentin Cross-linking Effect of Carbodiimide After 5 Years	40
STUDY 2: Effect of an ethanol cross-linker on universal adhesive	50
STUDY 3: Endogenous enzymatic activity in dentin treated with a chitosan primer	61
STUDY 4: Effect of two glutaraldehyde-based desensitizer on dentin	68
STUDY 5: Bonding to dentin using an experimental zirconium oxynitrate etchant	82
CHAPTER 5	
Discussion, Conclusions & Future Directions	95
Discussion	96
Role of Collagen Cross-Linkers on microtensile bond-strength	96
Detection of MMP Inactivation Using Gelatin Zymography	105
Localization of Gelatinolytic activity Using in-situ Zymography	107
Conclusions	112
Future Directions	113
List of publicationsError! Bookmark not a	lefined.
Bibliography	114

ABSTRACT

Aims: This thesis aimed to investigate the influence of different collagen cross-linkers, as separate primers or contained within desensitizing agents, on the longevity of dental restorations and on the dentinal enzymatic activity immediately, or after aging in vitro. Methods: A series of studies was conducted using several different cross-linking molecules and several adhesive systems. Four studies investigated the longevity of the hybrid layer by means of microtensile bond strength test, and the enzymatic activity using gelatin and in situ zymography, immediately or after 1 year of aging in the artificial saliva. The first study tested samples bonded with or without a cross-linking agent, that were previously aged for 5 years. The degradation of the hybrid layer was observed using transmission electron microscopy, the enzymatic activity in the hybrid layer using in situ zymography. Raman spectroscopy was used to investigate whether the active substance was still within the hybrid layer after 5 years. Results: The results of the studies showed that collagen cross-linkers were efficient in preserving bond strength after aging in vitro when used as separate primers on demineralized or partially demineralized dentin. In the cases when the cross-linker was utilized on mineralized dentin, bond strength results were higher than in the control groups immediately and after aging, however, no difference in enzymatic activity was detected after aging. Conclusions: The tested cross-linker molecules used as separate primers in etch-and-rinse and self-etch adhesives seem to be clinically applicable, since the procedure is not overly time-consuming and seems to preserve the hybrid layer over time. As for the cross-linkers contained in the desensitizing agent, when utilized before the adhesive procedures, it has shown to increase the bond strength of self-etch adhesives, but further studies are needed to better understand its effect on the enzymatic activity and crosslinking effects on mineralized dentin.

Keywords: Dentin; collagen crosslinker; hybrid layer; enzymatic activity;

CHAPTER 1 Introduction

WHO defines health as "a complete state of physical, mental, and social well-being and not just the absence of disease" (WHO 1948). World Health Organization Constitution. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; Retrieved January 18, 2011, from http://www.who.int/governance/eb/who_constitution_en.pdf). This concept of health status embraces the biopsychosocial model of health into which symptoms, physical functioning, and emotional and social well-being are incorporated (Kleinman et al., 1988).

In this sense, oral disease impact society health severely with outcomes that are related to limitations in role performance, and in social and functional capabilities, affecting aspects of social life, including self-esteem, social interaction, school and job performance.

Moreover, oral diseases and their treatment have high social costs. Tooth decay is in fact the second reason of absence from work after respiratory diseases and affects nearly 100% of the population of developed countries. Considering that the life span is nowadays increasing, there is a large population of the elderly with a poor quality of life due to edentulousness. The estimated worldwide expenditures due to dental diseases amounts to 356.00 billion dollars, with the Western European countries accounting for 28% of this amount.

Discovering and explaining the mechanisms responsible for these diseases and the possibility of developing better preventive, diagnostics and therapeutic clinical protocols has a huge potential in terms of reducing social costs, decreasing the psychological and financial load and consequently improving patients' life quality.

Within the last 50 years, therapy of dental disease has drastically changed allowing for previously inconceivable clinical treatment. This revolution in the approach of oral health could be summarized with the introduction of the adhesive dentistry that has allowed the dental clinicians to perform minimally invasive treatments, preserving tooth substances and allowing for a more durable and stable dental restorations, providing immediate bond strength without the need of a retentive cavity. The goal of the adhesive dentistry procedures is to form and maintain a tight adhesive-tooth interface that is stable for a number of years, providing retentive strength, marginal seal, and clinical durability (Tjäderhane, 2015).

Establishing this durable adhesion to dentin with resin monomer solutions has been an arduous task since the pioneering work of several research teams in the 1950s using the

phosphate monomer glycerol phosphoric acid dimethacrylate (GPDM), patented by Oskar Hagger in 1951 (Buonocore et al., 1956).

Dental adhesives have gone through substantial transformations in their chemistry and number of components within the last four decades as a result of the challenging pledge to create durable bonding to dentin using resin monomers. Adhesion to enamel, on the other hand, has remained consistently simple and reliable since the introduction of the acid-etch technique in 1955 by Michael Buonocore (Buonocore, 1955).

However, the adhesion of a dental restoration greatly depends on the quality of the micromechanical and, in certain adhesive systems also chemical bond between the adhesive resin and dentin. Adhesion to dentin could be considered as bioengineering and relies on the formation of a layer which contains both dentin and the adhesive resin – the hybrid layer. It is formed when a superficial layer of dentin is demineralized, either by a separate etching step, or in the case of self-etching adhesives, due to the low pH of the primer or the adhesive itself. After demineralization, dentin collagen fibrils are denuded, and ideally, the adhesive resin should penetrate the fibrils and envelope them fully, forming a stable hybrid layer. Aiming to improve the longevity of dental restorations, it is necessary to first unveil the reasons behind their failure, understand in detail all the constituents of the hybrid layer, their biomechanical and chemical properties, possible interactions between them, and the reasons why they degrade.

Since neither etch-and-rinse (E&R) nor self-etch (SE) adhesives can fully penetrate the dentin collagen network, denuded collagen fibrils surrounded by water are always present on the bottom of the hybrid layer after the bonding procedures, and this is the weak area of any resin-dentin interface. In the demineralized dentin, endogenous proteases, mainly, matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and cysteine cathepsins are reactivated, and in the presence of water they can hydrolyze collagen fibers. MMPs are proteases dependent of zinc and calcium ions, which are required to maintain their active state. The true collagenases, MMP-1, -8, -13 and -18, are responsible for collagen degradation. However, they cannot initially bind the collagen triple helix since the binding position is protected by telopeptides. The telopeptidases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) remove the protective telopeptides which facilitates the unwinding of the triple helix and the collagenolytic activity of true collagenases. Therefore, the inhibition or inactivation of these enzymes is crucial to prolong the resin-dentin bond strength over time.

There have been numerous reports on the beneficial effect of protease inhibitors on the longevity of the hybrid layer. Primarily, agents that are able to influence the activity of endogenous dentinal enzymes can be enzyme inhibitors, via a chelating mechanism, or can be

collagen cross-linkers, reported to reinforce the collagen structure and recently also to inactivate the dentinal proteases by changing their molecular mobility.

Current research in this field aims at increasing the longevity of the adhesive interface and this doctoral research thesis considers the fundamental processes responsible for the aging mechanisms involved in the degradation of resin-bonded interfaces, as well as some potential strategies to prevent and counteract this degradation.

With the vast array of possibilities investigated in the literature, a confusion could be created in dental practitioners. Hence, there is a necessity for the formation of clear, clinically applicable protocols with new materials, that show predictable and favorable results even after long-term intraoral use.

Adhesive Systems and Adhesion Strategies to Dentin

Adhesion to dentin could be considered as bioengineering in situ and relies on the formation of a layer which contains both dentin and the adhesive resin intertwined – the "hybrid layer" (Breschi et al., 2008; David H. Pashley et al., 2011).

Resin monomers themselves cannot infiltrate mineralized tissues, adhesive bonding systems consist of an acid, used for the removal of mineral crystals and exposure of the collagen fibrils, a primer, a hydrophilic solution of resinous monomers, which allows the infiltration of the resinous monomers, especially in demineralized dentin, and the adhesive itself containing mixtures of monomers that penetrate the surfaces treated with the primer, creating a mechanical adhesion to dentin (Swift et al., 1995).

These adhesive systems laid ground for contemporary dentistry and shifted the development of materials and therapeutic concepts in a new direction. Due to rapid technological development, nowadays there is a vast array of adhesive systems available on the market. The developments have aimed to resolve the most important weakness of the adhesive-dentin interface: susceptibility to hydrolytic degradation, as well as to simplify the adhesive procedure.

There are three main adhesive strategies:

- the etch-and-rinse (E&R),
- the self-etch (SE),
- and the universal adhesive systems.

They differ in terms of composition, acidity, their interaction with dentin, and the clinical protocols. They can be applied in one, two or three clinical steps (D. H. Pashley et al., 2011b; Van Meerbeek et al., 2011).

Etch-and-rinse adhesive systems



Figure 1: schematic representation of the adhesion steps required when using an etch-and-rinse 3-step adhesive.

The first requirement of this system is the demineralization of the superficial layer of dentin which removes the smear layer, exposes the organic matrix and makes it permeable for the adhesive resin. The dental substrate is etched with 35-37% phosphoric acid and thoroughly rinsed with water (Pashley et al., 1993). After dentin demineralization, collagen fibril network is exposed, surrounded by water and fragile. The specific requirement of handling demineralized dentin is not to overly dry it. In case this happens, the collagen fibrils collapse, and the adhesive resin cannot penetrate the organic network. Hence, etched dentin should be only blot dried and water-wet bonding should be applied, as suggested for the first time by Kanca et al. (Kanca, 1992). Since this layer is hydrophilic and the adhesive monomers are hydrophobic, the primers are used to increase the wettability of collagen fibrils with hydrophobic resin. The primers are amphiphilic molecules, they contain both hydrophilic and hydrophobic monomers. The hydrophilic portion is able to contact the collagen fibrils surrounded by water molecules and dislocate them. With the hydrophobic portion represented by the monomers the primers will enable the monomers of the adhesive resin to closely penetrate the fibrils granting a better diffusion of the adhesive around the collagen. In the 3step E&R systems, the primer is in a separate bottle to facilitate the penetration of the adhesive resin (Swift et al., 1995). The 3-step E&R system is considered the gold standard in this group, since it showed the best mechanical properties and bond strength to dentin when used correctly (De Munck et al., 2003). Another advantage of the 3-step system is that therapeutic molecules

could be implemented into etchant, primer and/or adhesive, which could render the system antimicrobial or anti-enzymatic, or both (D. H. Pashley et al., 2011b). The downside of the 3step system is that these materials are very technique-sensitive. Whenever a system contains several steps that need to be performed in a specific way, the possibility of error increases. Therefore, simpler E&R systems, 2-step, have been developed, combining the primer and adhesive into one bottle. These adhesives are applied in two layers, with the first one serving as the primer (D. H. Pashley et al., 2011b). However, the monomers in these blends are not miscible with water and are therefore dissolved in acetone or ethanol, but since demineralized collagen is comprised of approx. 70% water, the interdiffusion of these two different materials is not adequate. Hence, it was necessary to add a certain percentage of hydrophilic monomers, such as two-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA), into the adhesive blends in order to improve the interdiffusion with dentin (Swift et al., 1995; Van Meerbeek et al., 2005). However, the incorporation of the more hydrophilic monomers into these systems has rendered them more permeable and prone to hydrolytic degradation. Enamel bonds with E&R systems are more durable compared to dentin bonds (Reis and Loguercio, 2009). If in vitro bond strength test was applied to teeth that were restored and aged as intact resin-bonded crowns, and cut into sticks only before testing, the bond strength was preserved possibly due to the protective effect of peripheral enamel seal. If, on the other hand, the teeth were restored, immediately cut and aged as sticks, the bond strength deteriorated significantly (De Munck et al., 2003; Gamborgi et al., 2007). The protective properties of the peripheral enamel seal however, were shown to be less important in vivo, since clinical studies showed deterioration of the adhesive layer in class I restorations, probably due to functional and thermal stresses (M. Carrilho et al., 2007; Hebling et al., 2005).

Self-etch adhesive systems



Figure 2: schematic representation of the adhesion steps required when using a self-etch 2-step adhesive.

In the SE systems on the other hand, there is no separate etching step, since the primers and/or adhesives are acidic, and they simultaneously etch dentin and penetrate the collagen network which should provide better resin infiltration compared to the E&R systems (Breschi et al., 2003; Breschi et al., 2004; Spencer et al., 2000). Further, there is significantly less postoperative sensitivity after bonding with SE compared to E&R adhesives (Franklin R. Tay et al., 2002). Depending on the aggressiveness of the system and the method of dentin preparation, SE hybrid layers contain parts of the smear layer including the smear plugs that prevent dentinal fluid from wetting the surface during bonding procedures (Koibuchi et al., 2001; Oliveira et al., 2003). With regard to the chemical composition and acidity, SE adhesives interact differently with dentin and create hybrid layer thickness of a few hundred nanometers (ultra-mild SE approach, pH > 2.5), around 1 μ m (mild SE approach, pH ~2), 1-2 μ m (intermediately strong SE approach, pH between 1 and 2), and several micrometers deep (strong SE approach, pH≤1) (Koshiro et al., 2006). There are 2- step systems, which contain a primer and an adhesive resin, and there are one-bottle systems. As in the case of E&R adhesives, the gold standard is the more "complex" system, since it prepares the dentinal tissue for adhesion in a more adequate way. The SE adhesives also contain functional monomers which can bind to dentin chemically, and their adhesive performance depends on the affinity of these monomers towards hydroxyapatite (Van Meerbeek et al., 2011). For instance, a

functional monomer 10-methacryloyloxydecanethylene phosphoric acid (MDP), incorporated for the first time in the Clearfil SE (Kuraray) has the ability to bind to hydroxyapatite chemically, reinforcing the adhesive bond. The Adhesion-Decalcification concept explains that in the reaction of SE adhesives with dentin, the acidic component of the adhesive initially always binds to calcium, causing the release of phosphate (PO43–) and hydroxide (OH–) ions from hydroxyapatite. The strength of the bond between the acid and the calcium will determine if demineralization, or chemical bonding to hydroxyapatite will occur. In mild SE adhesives with MDP, chemical bonding will take place. On the other hand, when the strong ones are used, the surface will demineralize (Inoue et al., 2003; Yoshioka et al., 2002). In general, SE bonds show adequate durability, but are still prone to loss of bond strength over time (Tjäderhane et al., 2013).

Universal adhesive systems



Figure 3: schematic representation of the adhesion steps required when using a universal 1-step adhesive.

The universal adhesive systems are more similar by composition to the SE systems and can be used both in the E&R and SE mode, providing more versatility to clinicians. They also contain functional monomers as the SE systems and are more acidic compared to the E&R adhesives (Hanabusa et al., 2012; Inoue et al., 2005; Toledano et al., 2001). Depending on the system, they can contain a separate primer, or be one-bottle-systems. There is still scarce evidence on bond strength of universal adhesives compared to the standard systems. So far, it seems that if used in SE mode, they present better bond strength after aging, than in the E&R mode (Marchesi et al., 2014). Further, in comparison to SE or E&R systems, the results were material-dependent. Some systems performed similarly as the controls, while others performed worse (Muñoz et al., 2013).

Different adhesive systems interact with dentin in specific ways, creating hybrid layers which are microstructurally distinct, as observed using scanning electron microscopy (SEM) or transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Figure 4). These differences were also investigated by means of the gold immunolabeling technique (Breschi et al., 2004). Resininfiltrated dentin specimens, both in E&R and SE mode, were incubated with a primary anticollagen type I antibody and a secondary gold-conjugated antibody, to examine gold labelling under SEM. The E&R adhesive showed weak gold labeling in the first half of the hybrid layers, while the bottom half showed intense gold labeling. This indicates that the deepest parts of the hybrid layer in the E&R adhesives are not fully infiltrated by the adhesive resin. On the other hand, the hybrid layer created with a SE adhesive system showed a uniform weak labeling throughout the resin-dentin interface, signaling better homogeneity. Interestingly, the distribution of the areas of interfacial nanoleakage in E&R and SE system correlated with the presented immunolabeling, demonstrating that there are more nanoporosities in the bottom of the hybrid layer, especially in the E&R adhesives, marking the initial points of hybrid layer degradation (Suppa et al., 2005)(Josic et al., 2022).

Adper Single Bond (2-step E&R)





Scotchbond Universal (universal in 1-step SE mode)



Figure 4. Hybrid layer formed with different adhesive systems as presented on TEM (a, c, e) or FEI-SEM (b, d, f): (a, b) Adper Single Bond, 3M Espe (2-step E&R); (c, d) Clearfil SE, Kuraray (2-step SE); (e, f) Scotchbond Universal (universal adhesive in 1-step SE mode).

Dentin structure in relation to bonding

The composition and structure of dentin varies in different parts of the tooth due to its tubular structure. Overall, it is composed of approximately 70 weight % or 45 volume % of mineral tissue, and 20 weight % or 33 volume % of the organic tissue, with water as the remaining fraction (A. Nanci, 2008; Tjäderhane et al., 2009).

The presence of tubules is the main characteristic of dentin. This characteristic of the dental tissue influences its mechanical behavior, permeability and bonding properties (Carvalho et al., 2012; Tjäderhane et al., 2009). Since dentinal tubules are in a radial disposition, and of a conical shape with the wider part facing the pulp, the deeper the dentin – the larger is the surface occupied by dentinal tubules. Hence, superficial dentin presents a higher surface of intertubular dentin, that is mainly organic matrix constituted of collagen fibrils, unlike peritubular dentin, which is high in mineral content. Both intertubular dentin and the tubules are equally important for the adhesion to dentin due to the interdiffusion with the adhesive resin (Gwinnett, 1993; D. H. Pashley et al., 1995; Tay and Pashley, 2004). Hence, regional variations in dentin structure could influence the quality of adhesion. Further, the surface water content is higher in deeper dentin, leading to lower bond strengths (Prati and Pashley, 1992). Different factors, such as aging, carious and reparatory processes, preparation of dentin, proximity to the pulp tissue, use of diverse chemical cleaning or whitening agents, can all influence bonding to dentin significantly (Carvalho et al., 2012).

Given that in clinical settings, the dentinal substrate available for bonding is rarely completely sound, it is important to stress out the differences in the bonding quality in these cases. Depending on the clinical situation, caries removal method, the extent of the removal of carious dentin, often governed by preferences and personal experience of the operator, the dentinal substrate available for bonding could be partially caries-infected and/or -affected (de Almeida Neves et al., 2011). The caries process causes structural changes in the dentin. The mineral content and crystallinity of the hydroxyapatite are reduced, and are followed by the changes in the structure of collagen (Wang et al., 2007). Hence, the mechanical properties of dentin are hampered, which influences adhesion to carious dentin. The hybrid layers in caries-infected and -affected dentin have been reported to be thicker and poorly infiltrated by the bonding agent (Hsu et al., 2008). Furthermore, carious dentin contains a higher percentage of

water (Ito et al., 2005), making the hybrid layer more prone to hydrolytic degradation. Polymerization of dental adhesives on caries-affected dentin has also been shown to be less efficient compared to sound dentin (Spencer et al., 2005). The majority of the studies investigating bonding to dentin in vitro have been performed on sound dentin, which might be less relevant form the clinical standpoint, since an operator is most often faced with cavities which include an array of different substrates, from enamel, to sound dentin, caries-infected or -affected dentin, or sclerotic dentin. The available in vitro research on bonding to cariesaffected dentin showed a 20-50% lower bond strength of this substrate compared to sound dentin (Ceballos et al., 2003; de Almeida Neves et al., 2011; Yoshiyama et al., 2002). Further, the immediate bond strength in caries-affected dentin seems to be higher when etch-and rinse adhesives are used compared to self-etch systems (Erhardt et al., 2008; Yoshiyama et al., n.d.). However, these differences seem to disappear after short-term aging (Erhardt et al., 2008). Long-term aging studies are necessary to further investigate this matter. On the other hand, long-term clinical retrospective studies have demonstrated a high level of success of posterior composite restorations over time (Da Rosa Rodolpho et al., 2011; Opdam et al., 2010), regardless of the fact that the majority of the posterior cavities contain a portion caries-affected dentin. This disparity could be due to the fact that the cavities also contain, as previously mentioned, enamel and sound dentin, superior bonding substrates, which are usually the structures directly exposed to the oral cavity, with the caries-infected/-affected dentin being in the deeper portions of the cavity. Altogether, this could enhance the clinical durability of the restorations. Sclerotic dentin is another specific dentinal substrate to be considered in terms of adhesive bonding. It is characterized by a superficial layer of hypermineralized dentin, often containing trapped microorganisms, under which is a layer of dentin with denatured collagen fibrils. The tubules are filled with mineral crystallites (Tay and Pashley, 2004). All these features influence bonding properties of sclerotic dentin. Bond strength measured on this substrate is lower compared to sound dentin (Kwong et al., 2002), probably due to the fact that the standardized etching procedures are inadequate in this case and should be modified. It has been shown that resin tags and intertubular dentin hybridization contribute to bond strength about 20% each (Gwinnett, 1993; David H. Pashley et al., 1995; Tay and Pashley, 2004). Due to the specific structure of sclerotic dentin this hybridization is significantly reduced, which could be the cause of poor bond strength. A mere prolongation of etching time showed an improvement in some but not in all the tested adhesives (Lopes et al., 2004), indicating that this solution time might not be sufficient to resolve issues such as bacterial infiltration or denatured collagen fibrils.

Hence, it is clear that the dentin is a highly variable dynamic tissue, and it is therefore difficult to control bonding on dentin and to predict the longevity of the hybrid layer in each individual case. To better understand the mechanisms of adhesion to dentin, and its limitations, it is necessary to understand its molecular structure and organization.

Dentin Collagen Structure

The extracellular organic dentinal matrix (ECM) has been studied by means of transmission electron microscopy, field-emission scanning electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy, revealing it as a complex 3-dimensional network of fibrillar collagen and globular entities that become mineralized by nanoscopic apatite crystallites during the process of dentinogenesis (Perdigão et al., 1996; Van Meerbeek et al., 2000) (Figure 2A).

Collagen type I comprises the majority of the collagen structure (90%wt), that also contains traces of collagen V and III (Tjäderhane et al., 2009). The remaining constituents of the ECM are the non- collagenous proteins, among which the proteoglycans are the most prominent. Others include dentin sialoproteins, phosphoproteins, bone morphogenic proteins and insulin-like growth factors 1 and 2 (Finkelman et al., 1990).

A collagen molecule consists of three α chains, two α 1 and one α 2 chain intertwined into a left- handed triple helix (Kramer et al., 2001; Okuyama et al., 1977; Rainey and Goh, 2009) (Figure 2B).



Figure 5: A: Scanning electron microscopy of collagen fibers. B: Diagram showing an aggregate of collagen molecules, fibrils, fibers, and bundles. There is a stepwise overlapping arrangement of rodlike collagen molecules, each measuring 300 nm (1). This arrangement results in the production of alternating spaces and overlapping regions (2), which cause the cross-striations characteristic of collagen fibrils and confer a 67-nm periodicity of dark and light bands when the fibril is observed in the electron microscope (3). Fibrils aggregate and are covalently cross-linked to form fibers (4), which in collagen type I aggregate further to form bundles (5) routinely called

collagen fibers when seen by light microscopy. Credit figure 5A: Tom Deerinck and Mark Ellisman, NCMIR; Credit figure 5B: Junqueira's Basic Histology Text and Atlas, 16e

Collagen molecules are further intertwined into a right-handed helix (300 kDa, 300 nm of length, 1.5 nm diameter, containing around 1000 amino acids). Collagen chains consist of three domains: a central triple helical region (>95%), a non-helical aminoterminal (N-telopeptide) region and a carboxyterminal (C-telopeptide) region (Yamauchi and Shiiba, 2008). These peptide chains spontaneously form insoluble collagen fibrils by aggregating and stacking in parallel. These collagen fibrils contain a 67 nm gap between the neighboring collagen molecules, and are further organized in bundles (Veis, 2003). During the process of dentin maturation, apatitic mineral crystallites precipitate and fill the 67 nm gaps between the collagen molecules (Perdigão et al., 1996; Van Meerbeek et al., 2000), thereby inactivating enzymes that are present in the ECM and were active during the dentinogenesis (Angélica R. Hannas et al., 2007).

Unlike insoluble collagen in other bodily systems, dentinal collagen does not metabolically turn over (Tjäderhane et al., 2009), meaning that it is not easily degraded, but once it is, it cannot be replaced. This stability is due to the slow formation of covalent interand intramolecular cross-links, which occur between the C-terminal of one collagen molecule and the N-terminal of the adjacent collagen molecule (Yamauchi and Shiiba, 2008). Because dentin collagen does not turn over, the natural cross-links accumulate over time and improve the mechanical properties of collagen fibrils (Schlueter and Veis, 1964). Dentin collagen is the most cross-linked collagen in the body. These cross-links are responsible for the ability of dentin collagen to be acid-etched during bonding procedures without denaturing its collagen (Veis and Schlueter, 1964).

Hydrogen bonds also play a role in the stabilization of the triple helix by bridging the water-filled gaps between the collagen molecules, thereby bringing them closer together and facilitating intra- and intermolecular reactions (Brinckmann et al., 2005).

Type I collagen fibrils represent the pillar of the collagen structure, perpendicularly connected by non-collagenous proteins (Breschi et al., 1999; Lin et al., 1993). Of the non-collagenous dentinal proteins, the most prominent ones are the proteoglycans (PGs), which consist of a core protein, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and linkage proteins (Goldberg and Takagi, 1993). PGs are shown to be involved in the process of dentin mineralization and the maintenance of the structural three-dimensional integrity of collagen fibrillar alignment (Cheng et al., 1999; Goldberg and Takagi, 1993). Moreover, these proteins can bind and organize water

molecules, regulating the affinity of collagen to water and can affect the substitution of water during the formation of the HL (Hedbom and Heinegård, 1993; Scott, 1988; Vogel et al., 1984). Sensitive selective immunolabeling protocols can reveal with great precision the three-dimensional relationships between the different structural elements of the ECM (Breschi et al., 2002; L Breschi et al., 2003; Lorenzo Breschi et al., 2003; Oyarzún et al., 2000).

Degradation of the hybrid layer

Since the hybrid layer consists of different components, deterioration of each of these components can lead to the degradation of the whole system. Primarily, the hybrid layer degrades due to hydrolysis and disorganization of the collagen fibrils and of the adhesive resin (Breschi et al., 2018).

Degradation of the adhesive resin

Hydrolytic degradation is a chemical reaction during which the covalent bonds between polymers are disrupted in the presence of water, leading to loss of resin mass (Breschi et al., 2018; Tay and Pashley, 2004).

The well-known discrepancy between dentin and the adhesive resins in the affinity towards water, along with the tendency to simplify dental procedures, caused changes in the composition of the simplified adhesives. The hydrophilic monomers that are added into simplified adhesive blends are essential for the infiltration of the resin into the collagen network (Swift et al., 1995; Van Meerbeek et al., 2005), but render the adhesive more prone to water sorption and more permeable (F.R. Tay et al., 2002; Franklin R. Tay et al., 2002). Moreover, the amphiphilic resin blends are susceptible to nano-phase separation phenomenon, especially in the more simplified systems. Hence, heterogenous resin layers are created, with the separation of the more hydrophilic and the more hydrophobic phase (Wang et al., 2006; Ye et al., 2008, 2007). The restorations are intraorally constantly exposed to occlusal forces and temperature changes, which eventually hampers the interfacial stability allowing oral fluids and water to penetrate the resin, especially in the more hydrophilic adhesives, or the hydrophilic phase of the heterogenous blends (Gale and Darvell, 1999). The degradation starts with water diffusion through the more hydrophilic part of the adhesive layer, leading to the creation of water-filled channels that degrade the hydrophilic phase of the adhesive (Jacobsen and Söderholm, 1995; Mazzoni et al., 2011a). As the solubilized resin leaches out, the underlying collagen fibrils become denuded and are more exposed to hydrolytic degradation

by endogenous proteases (Cadenaro et al., 2005). One of the key factors in the stability of the resin-dentin interface is the quality of the polymerization of the adhesive. All the adhesive systems, irrespective of the number of the components in the system, display a certain degree of incomplete polymerization, which could facilitate hydrolytic degradation (Breschi et al., 2008b; Cadenaro et al., 2005). Hence, any factor that can further adversely affect degree of conversion can facilitate the degradation of the hybrid layer. With regard to this, it is important to mention that the adhesive resins contain up to 50% of solvents, that can be water, ethanol or acetone, depending on the system. These solvents need to be evaporated by air stream before polymerization or they may remain trapped within the matrix during photopolymerization (Reis et al., 2010; Yoshida et al., 2007). Further, the standard photo-initiators, such as camphorquinone, that were adequate for the hydrophobic monomers, might not yield the optimal degree of cure of hydrophilic resins (Wang et al., 2006). The addition of alternative hydrophilic photo-initiators such as TPO (ethyl 4-dimethylaminobenzoate and diphenyl(2,4,6trimethylbenzoyl)-phosphine oxide), in addition to conventional camphorquinone, has been proposed to improve the DC of hydrophilic adhesive systems (Ilie and Hickel, 2008; Wang et al., 2006).

Degradation of the collagen fibrils

Since neither E&R nor SE adhesives can fully penetrate the dentin collagen network, denuded collagen fibrils surrounded by water are always present on the bottom of the hybrid layer after the bonding procedures, and this is the weak area of any resin-dentin interface (Frankenberger et al., 2005; Sano et al., 1995; Wang and Spencer, 2002). In the demineralized dentin, endogenous proteases, mainly, matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and cysteine cathepsins are reactivated (Angélica R Hannas et al., 2007; Y. Liu et al., 2011; Nascimento et al., 2011; Vidal et al., 2014), and in the presence of water they can hydrolyze collagen fibers (Pashley et al., 2004).

MMPs are a group of Zn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} dependent endogenous proteases, with implications in various physiological and pathological processes in dentin (Mazzoni et al., 2009a). The MMPs contain several prodomains, two of which are in common for all: propeptide domain which contains the key cysteine residue and the catalytic domain, which contains the Znbinding site. These two domains form the "cysteine switch" which maintains the enzyme in an inactive form. MMPs also contain other domains which determine substrate specificity and other interactions (Angélica R Hannas et al., 2007). The MMPs are secreted in pro-form and due to several different factors, they can turn to the active form. In the pro-form, the cysteine residue from the propeptide domain is bonded to the zinc atom on the active site. Irrespective of the activation mode, the underlying mechanism is always the same - the cysteine is dissociated from the zinc atom in the active site, and exchanged by water molecules, which transforms the pro- into active form of MMP (Van Wart and Birkedal-Hansen, 1990). So far, several MMPs have been identified in dentin: gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 (Mazzoni et al., 2009b, 2007), collagenase MMP-8 (Shimada et al., 2009; Sulkala et al., 2007), stromelysin MMP-3 (Mazzoni et al., 2011b), enamelysin MMP-20 (Shimada et al., 2009; Sulkala et al., 2007) and most recently MMP-7 (Mazzoni et al., 2018). They are thought to play part in the mineralization of collagen matrix during tooth development, after which they remain trapped and inactive in the mineralized dentin. After the demineralization of dentin, these protases are reactivated. The MMPs are believed to be involved in a vast range of dental hard tissue pathologies, including dental caries (Mazzoni et al., 2015; Tjäderhane et al., 2015), degradation of the hybrid layer (Mazzoni et al., 2014) and dentin erosion (Buzalaf et al., 2015). In particular, MMP-2 and MMP-9 are important in caries progression (Tjäderhane et al., 1998; Vidal et al., 2014) and degradation of the hybrid layer (Apolonio et al., 2017; A. Mazzoni et al., 2013; Mazzoni et al., 2015, 2012).

The MMPs can degrade practically all components of the extracellular matrix (ECM). However, only true collagenases, MMP-1, -8, -13 and -18, are responsible for collagen degradation (Visse and Nagase, 2003). The cleavage occurs on specific sites, creating ¹/₄ and ³/₄ fragments of the collagen molecule. These fragments are thermally unstable and can easily be degraded by other members of the MMP family, or a wide range of proteases (Perumal et al., 2008). Nevertheless, they cannot initially cleave the collagen triple helix since the binding position is sterically blocked by C-telopeptides, making collagen triple helix positioned in such a way that the large collagenase molecule cannot fit (Perumal et al., 2008). Hence, removing the protective telopeptides is the key factor which facilitates the unwinding of the triple helix and the collagenolytic collagen cleavage by true collagenases (Mirigian et al., 2013). The telopeptidases which enable this process are MMP-2 and -9 (Perumal et al., 2008). The activity of these gelatinases, the most abundant in dentin, and pivotal in the collagen degradation process, has been extensively investigated by Mazzoni et al. (Mazzoni et al., 2009b, 2007). Apart from demonstrating MMP-2and -9 as the intrinsic constituents of dentin organic matrix using immunolabeling technics (Mazzoni et al., 2009b), Mazzoni et al. also investigated the activity of these MMPs with precise identification of the pro- and active forms of both MMP-2 and -9 using gelatine zymography in dentin powder (Mazzoni et al., 2007). The same research team further demonstrated that the MMPs can be activated by acid etching, E&R as well as SE

adhesive systems (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013; Mazzoni et al., 2012, 2006). Therefore, inhibition/inactivation of the MMPs is considered a very important strategy for the preservation of the hybrid layer (Breschi et al., 2018; Tjäderhane et al., 2013).

CTs are another important intrinsic constituent of dentinal organic matrix with implications in physiological and pathological processes in dentin. They can contribute to the degradation of the ECM and foreign proteins (Mazzoni et al., 2009a). All human cathepsins have the same active site, formed by cysteine and histidine residues, with three well-defined substrate binding subsites (Turk et al., 1998). The presence and distribution of cathepsins K and B in dentin have recently been described using immunolabeling technique (Scaffa et al., 2017). Cathepsins K and B may play an important role in bone remodeling or collagen degradation during orthodontic tooth movement (Mazzoni et al., 2009a). Furthermore, there is high increase in the activity of cysteine CTs in active and chronic carious lesions (Nascimento et al., 2011). The activity of cathepsins is more pronounced with the increased depth of the cavity. Hence, it is reasonable to believe that the odontoblast-secreted CTs have implications in the active caries lesions. The increase of the activity of cysteine CTs in the chronic caries lesions could indicate their role in the activation of growth factors and consequently in the stimulation of defensive pulpal reactions (Nascimento et al., 2011; Tersariol et al., 2010).

Interestingly, almost all collagenolytic activity of the CTs can be attributed to CTK which is specific in several ways. Cathepsin K, a papain-like cysteine protease, is predominantly expressed in osteoclasts and held responsible for the degradation of bone collagen (Bromme and Okamoto, 1995). It can cleave collagen in multiple positions, in the helical as well as non-helical parts (Garnero et al., 1999), while other CTs can cleave only the non-helical parts of the collagen molecule (Brömme and Wilson, 2011). It is capable of disintegrating compact collagen fibers into fragments and further solubilizing them into soluble peptides (Panwar et al., 2013). "Productive" GAGs, such as chondroitin 4-sulfate, or chondroitin 6-sulfate are necessary for the activation of CTK. Since the active site of the CTK is too small to accommodate the whole collagen molecule, it is hypothesized that the CTK-GAG complex conformationally changes the active site of the proteases, enlarges it, enabling the cleavage of collagen (Li et al., 2002). While some GAGs activate CTK, others, such as heparin, act in its inhibition. Hence, the activity of CTK is fully regulated by GAGs (Li et al., 2004).

The mechanisms in which the MMPs and CTs degrade collagen is different, but they can also work synergistically, and create a cascade of events leading to the degradation of the hybrid layer (Nascimento et al., 2011; Tersariol et al., 2010).

In summary, there are two main pathways of collagen degradation. One involves the MMPs, where in the joint activity of telopeptidases and true collagenases, the collagen molecule is fragmented into ¹/₄ and ³/₄ fragments which are thermally unstable and can further be degraded by a wide range of proteases and non-collagenolytic MMPs. The other pathway is mediated by CTK-GAG complexes which can degrade collagen without the cooperation with other proteases (Li et al., 2004).

Strategies to reduce hybrid layer degradation

Endogenous proteases are actually hydrolases, since they require unbound water to cleave collagen peptides. During dentin bonding procedures, it is very difficult, if not impossible, to fully envelope the deepest portion of the demineralized collagen fibrils within the HL with resin. The gaps between the exposed collagen fibrils are filled with water, enabling the activation of the endogenous enzymes, leading to plasticization of the adhesive resin, and mechanical strain on the exposed fibrils. Hence, there are several bonding strategies designed to reduce adhesive interface degradation, which involve the removal of water from the gaps between the exposed collagen fibrils, thereby preventing their activity.

Inhibition of the enzymatic activity

The inhibition of endogenous collagenolytic activity can occur by a chelating mechanism, since the activity of the MMPs is dependent on the metal ions that can be chelated. Of the numerous MMPs inhibitors, chlorhexidine (CHX) has been studied the most. It has been used in dentistry as an antimicrobial agent, and is therefore suitable for use as a primer. Apart from its antimicrobial properties, CHX was shown to inhibit the activity of the MMPs (Gendron et al., 1999) and cysteine cathepsins (Scaffa et al., 2012)(Gobbi et al., 2021). As low as 0.2% solutions of CHX have been shown to increase the longevity of the HL (Breschi et al., 2010b; Campos et al., 2009; M. Carrilho et al., 2007; M. R. O. Carrilho et al., 2007; Leitune et al., 2011; Loguercio et al., 2016; Mobarak, 2011; Scaffa et al., 2012; Zheng et al., 2014). After the discovery of CHX as an efficient enzyme inhibitor when used as a primer, there have been efforts to incorporate it into the components of dental adhesive systems with the intention of shortening chair time, with promising results (Carrilho et al., 2010; da Silva et al., 2015; J. Kim et al., 2010; Stanislawczuk et al., 2014; Yiu et al., 2012).

Some studies have shown that CHX binding is a reversible mechanism, and probably due to leaching, the resin-dentin interfaces treated with CHX were shown to be unstable after

18 months (Zhou et al., 2009). Sodium chloride have been demonstrated to be able to displace CHX from both mineralized and demineralized dentin, indicating that CHX binding to dentin is only electrostatic (Imazato et al., 2003; J. Kim et al., 2010). However, there is also ample *in vitro* and *in vivo* research data that shows at most part a beneficial effect of CHX on HL longevity and bond strength (Breschi et al., 2010b; M. Carrilho et al., 2007; Hebling et al., 2005; Loguercio et al., 2016). A recent study carried on by our research group has demonstrated the anti-proteolytic effect and protection of the hybrid layer from degradation of chlorhexidine also after 10 years of accelerated aging (Breschi et al., 2020).

The use of CHX as additional therapeutic primer is still the most commonly used *in vitro* and *in vivo* tested method to stabilize the adhesive interface with clinical applicability due to the large availability of CHX in dental offices and the limited clinical application time (as low as 30 s showed efficacy in inhibiting the enzymatic activity of dentin) (Cadenaro et al., 2023; J. Kim et al., 2010).

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) has been used for decades in the endodontic therapy for the enlargement of the root canals due to its chelating properties. EDTA removes the Ca^{2+} from the collagen matrices, and binds the Zn^{2+} ions from the catalytic site of the MMPs (Carvalho et al., 2000; Thompson et al., 2012). However, several downsides of this agent have been reported, such as long application time and reversibility caused by water solubility.

Quaternary ammonium compounds, positively charged at physiological pH, can inhibit the endogenous enzymatic activity of dentin using a cationic mechanism, similar to CHX. One of the quaternary ammonium compounds already tested as an MMPs inhibitor is benzalkonium chloride (BAC), which is a mixture of alkyl-benzyl-dimethylammonium chlorides of various alkyl chains that strongly binds to demineralized dentin and that was shown to have an immediate inhibiting effect comparable to that of CHX (Comba et al., 2019a; Sabatini et al., 2015; Sabatini and Patel, 2013; Arzu Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2011), with promising results in bond strength preservation over time (Sabatini et al., 2015). Integrating methacrylates into these compounds (quaternary ammonium methacrylates - QAMs) seems to improve their efficiency. 12-methacryloyloxydodecylpyridinium bromide (MDPB), a quaternary ammonium methacrylate well-known for its antimicrobial properties, has been incorporated into a commercially available adhesive system (Imazato et al., 2007, 2003), showing a good ability to inhibit the MMPs activity (D. Pashley et al., 2011; Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2015). Following the good results obtained with MDPB, other QAMs were investigated as MMPs inhibitors with encouraging results, comparable to CHX (A Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2011). Researchers are still focused on the development of new monomers with quaternary

ammonium functionalities (Antonucci et al., 2012), and further data are needed to demonstrate that adhesives based on QAM compounds can effectively counteract the MMPs activity at the adhesive interface and thus, increase the durability of resin-dentin bonds.

Pharmaceutical agents used for various medical conditions have also been shown to have an inhibiting effect on the MMPs through a chelating mechanism. For instance, bisphosphonates, in particular, polyvinyl-phosphonic acid, has shown good immediate results, but with questionable longevity (Heikkilä et al., 2002; Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2010). Further, tetracycline and its analogs (doxycycline and minocycline) have shown collagenases- and gelatinases-inhibitory properties (Lauhio et al., 1995; Sulkala et al., 2001). The longevity of the resin-dentin bond preservation effect of these antibiotics has not been studied, and special caution in use of these agents in dentistry should be taken due to the dark photo- oxidation stains it can cause on dental tissue.

Moreover, specific inhibitors of the MMPs and cysteine cathepsins have been produced and tested in terms of bond strength preservation. Galardin incorporated within a primer of the E&R adhesive has shown a reduction in the degradation of the HL after one year (Breschi et al., 2010a). Similarly, SB-3CT, a specific MMP-2 and -9 inhibitor showed a positive influence on HL preservation (De Munck et al., 2010). Specific inhibitors for cysteine cathepsins, such as E-64 and odanacatib express their inhibiting effect through binding to the enzyme at the cleavage site, mimicking the substrate (Turk et al., 2012).

Cross-linking agents

As previously mentioned, cross-linking of dentin matrix collagen is a naturally occurring mechanism in dentin, and therefore, researchers have attempted to enhance this mechanism using chemical substances with cross-linking properties. Introducing exogenous crosslinks to dentin matrix is a stable approach to enhance the biostability of collagen through improving its mechanical properties and resistance to collagenase degradation. Khor et al. have pointed out the significance of the intramolecular and intermolecular chemical bonds of collagen molecules to the stability of collagen fibrils (Khor, 1997). The chemical crosslinking agents, which increase the number of intramolecular and intermolecular chemical bonds, can effectively increase the stability of collagen structure. Meanwhile, crosslinking may inactivate endogenous enzymes by lowering the molecular mobility of the catalytic sites, which are critical for their protease activities (A. Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012). Biomodification of the collagen scaffold enhance the biomechanical properties of dentin, and makes it less prone to proteolytic attack (Bedran-Russo et al., 2008; Xu and Wang, 2011).

Aldehydes, such as glutaraldehyde (GD), are used as tissue fixatives, but have been proposed as potential cross-linking agents for the use in dentistry, since they form covalent bonds between the amino groups of proteins and the two aldehyde groups of glutaraldehyde. In particular, GD is a monomer containing five carbon atoms of aliphatic molecules, and two aldehyde groups at both ends of the hydrocarbon chain. GD is able to bind the *\varepsilon*-amino groups of peptidyl lysine and hydroxylysine residues within the collagen scaffold. GD has been extensively studied as a cross-linking agent in dentistry (Bedran-Russo et al., 2008, 2007; Chen et al., 2016; Hass et al., 2016; Hiraishi et al., 2013; R. Liu et al., 2011; Xu and Wang, 2011). Similarly, acrolein (2-propenal), the simplest unsaturated aldehyde, was used as an additional primer to improve the mechanical durability of resin-bonded dentin and was as effective in cross-linking dentin as was GD, which involves much longer application time. Even when acrolein was applied for only 1 min, at concentration as low as 0.01 wt%, it showed bond strength preservation after one year, confirming the validity of the cross-linking approach (Maravic et al., 2017; Nimni, 1988; H. Sung et al., 1999). Less toxic agents, such as carbodiimides and plant-derived cross-linkers have been recently studied. The cross-linking capability of carbodiimides lies in the ability to form amide bonds between activated carboxylic and amino groups of the collagen molecules.

The most studied carbodiimide in dentistry is 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylamino-propyl) carbodiimide (EDC), which was shown to achieve a similar bond strength preservation to that of GD (Bedran-Russo et al., 2010; Annalisa Mazzoni et al., 2013; Mazzoni et al., 2018, 2017, 2009b; A Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012) with the advantage of a much lower cytotoxicity. EDC contains a functional group with the formula RN=C=NR and can react with ionized carboxyl groups in proteins to form an O-acylisourea intermediate that can react with a nonproteinated amino group and an adjacent protein chain to form a stable covalent amide bond between the two proteins. EDC has a two-fold activity being able to cross-link both helical and telopeptide domains in collagen and also preventing telopeptidase activity that would normally remove telopeptides (A Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012). Its ability to increase the stiffness of collagen structure has been well documented by preventing the unwinding of the collagen molecule, which is needed for the MMPs to cleave the collagen. Recent zymographic assays on dentin powder (Annalisa Mazzoni et al., 2013) and in-situ zymographic three-dimensional images obtained by confocal microscopy (Mazzoni et al., 2014), clearly demonstrated that when EDC is used as additional therapeutic primer on acid- etched dentin, it has also the ability to inhibit dentinal MMPs.

As previously mentioned, plant-derived cross-linking agents are another prominent group, gaining much interest in the scientific community. They are characterized by high potency and low cytotoxicity, and are therefore suitable for use in dentistry. The most studied of these agents are genipin, polyphenolic compounds, such as tannins, proanthocyanidins and curcumin (Bedran-Russo et al., 2007; Hiraishi et al., 2013; Seseogullari-Dirihan et al., 2016).

Apart from chemical compounds, the cross-linking effect can also be achieved through physical and photochemical treatment, such as ultraviolet A (UVA) (Seseogullari-Dirihan et al., 2015) or gamma irradiation, heating and drying (Hayashi et al., 2010).

Another important feature of cross-linking agents is their ability to react with the other components of the ECM. In this context, they can covalently bind to the active site of the MMP, causing long-term irreversible inactivation of the enzyme (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013; Mazzoni et al., 2006). The longevity of this effect is an advantage of this mechanism over the inhibition of the MMPs through chelation. In addition, the amount of active MMPs within the HL is very limited since there is no cellular activity in peripheral dentin. Hence, once deactivated, these enzymes usually do not reactivate, and due to the lack of synthetic cellular activity, there is no activation of new enzymes. To date, GD (Sabatini et al., 2014), EDC (Mazzoni et al., 2012; A Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012) and plant-derived cross-linking agents (Khaddam et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012) have shown this ability.

Removal of the unbound/residual water within the HL

It is well-known that most dimethacrylates that are capable of creating strong, highly, crosslinked resin polymers, are so poorly soluble in water that they undergo phase changes when mixed with water that interferes with monomer infiltration of acid-etched dentin (Spencer and Wang, 2002).

Manufacturers market their adhesive formulations in ethanol solvents to ensure the mixture is in a single phase. Most dentists place ethanol-solvated adhesives on water-saturated acidetched dentin, a procedure fraught with the danger of creating microscopic phase changes in the applied adhesive. To avoid such dangers, Pashley et al. (Pashley et al., 2007) altered the wet-bonding technique by replacing rinse-water with ethanol, so that the dentin was saturated by ethanol rather than water. That same year, Tay et al. (Tay et al., 2007) reported excellent resin-dentin bonding by applying bis-GMA, the least soluble dimethacrylate, to ethanolsaturated dentin. Applying ethanol-solvated adhesives to ethanol-saturated dentin avoids any risk of phase separations. These approaches reduce the presence of residual water in the resindentin bonds (Ayar, 2016). In the absence of water, matrix poroteases cannot cleave collagen. Using ethanol wet-bonding permits infiltration of more hydrophobic resins (Hiraishi et al., 2005; Mazzitelli et al., 2022a; Shin et al., 2009) than is possible with water wet-bonding. Hydrophobic resins absorb less water than hydrophilic resins.

It is well-known that ethanol can remove and replace unbound water from demineralized dentin (Agee et al., 2015). To determine whether ethanol can replace bound water from collagen matrices, Jee et al. (Jee et al., 2016) used molecular dynamic simulations to recreate the three layers of bound water in collagen matrices. Using this computer simulation, they confirmed that the first and second layers of tightly-bound water in collagen could not be replaced by ethanol. However, half of the bound water in the outermost layer of bound water could be replaced by ethanol. Thus, ethanol wet-bonding brings ethanol-solvated resin closer to collagen than is possible during water wet-bonding. It is predicted to occur more in the gap regions of collagen. The resin infiltration of the gap regions may also inactivate collagen-bound proteases.

A second approach to removal of residual water from hybrid layers was the development of self-etching primer adhesives. Manufacturers selected acidic monomers like 10-methacryloyloxydecanethylene phosphoric acid (MDP), and added them in higher concentrations than were used before for wet-bonding adhesives (i.e. 20-25 vol %). They only added sufficient water to allow the acidic monomers to become ionized, and to solubilize the mineral phase of dentin. These water concentrations are proprietary, but are generally in the range of 20-25 vol% (Hiraishi et al., 2005), unlike the 70 vol% (D. H. Pashley et al., 2011b) water that is found in acid-etched dentin just prior to adhesive application. When using self-etching primer/adhesives, one is performing "dry bonding". That is, one dries an unetched tooth before applying a self-etching primer that contains 20-25 vol% water. No water rinsing is employed. After "self-etching" for 10 sec., one dries the primed dentin and then seals it with a solvent-free adhesive before light-curing.

Such hybrid layers are only 1 µm thick and contain much of the smear layer including the smear plugs that prevent dentinal fluid from wetting the surface during bonding procedures. These bonds show excellent durability (Ayar, 2015; El-Deeb et al., 2015; Makishi et al., 2015).

Alternative demineralizing agents for structural stabilization of dentin

A viable option to preserve the longevity of the hybrid layer is to maintain a thin layer of apatite mineral surrounding the collagen fibrils in the dentin.

Dental adhesion on dentin requires the removal of the smear-layer and the demineralization of the collagen substrate to correctly infiltrate the fibrils and to obtain a hybrid

layer. However, when demineralized dentin collagen is challenged by collagenase, collagenases approach to collagen molecules and unwind triple helical conformation in such a way that the catalytic active can attack the specific glycine-isoleucine peptide bonds and cleave individual chains in succession, turning collagen molecules into small peptide fragments (Chung et al., 2004). In this sense, different materials have been proposed as an alternative to traditional orthophosphoric acid dentin demineralization in order to protect the collagen fibrils from complete demineralization or to cross-link them during the demineralization process in order to strengthening them.

Nordihydroguaiaretic acid (NDGA), isolated from the creosote bush, is a natural dicatechol antioxidant, with well-known anti-inflammatory, anti-cancer and anti-cardiovascular disease properties. The structure of NDGA molecule is simple, and contains two o-catechol groups at the ends of its short alkyl chain. Recent studies have also identified its highly efficient protein crosslinking effect (Koob and Hernandez, 2003, 2002). NDGA could stabilize collagen by forming bridge-type hydrogen bonds between its phenolic hydroxyl and amide carbonyl groups of collagen, hydrophobic interaction (i.e., π -stacking) between aromatic rings, and covalent-like interactions (Fathima et al., 2010). Using an EDX Gongx et al. demonstrated that dentin etched by bio-modified 1% NDGA etchant displayed the presence of remnant calcium. It is well known that phenolic hydroxyl groups from NDGA can interact with metal ions (i.e., calcium) via metal-coordination chemistry (Gong et al., 2018; Sever et al., 2004). Free calcium ions generated during the demineralization process of dentin might have participated in the crosslinking reaction of dentin collagen. This would be an ulterior benefit for the subsequent dentin bonding, as the calcium persisting in the collagen matrix may promote remineralization of denuded collagen fibrils that were not penetrated by adhesive resin (Dhand et al., 2016). Bio-modified etchant with low concentration (0.5% or 1%) of NDGA showed significantly improved enzymatic degradation resistance and stability of the mechanical properties of dentin collagen matrix (Gong et al., 2018).

Phytic acid, known as inositol hexakisphosphate (IP6), is a saturated cyclic acid and the phosphate ester of inositol. In 2013, IP6 was evaluated as a dentine etching agent with results showing that upon etching with IP6, the bond strength of resin to dentine was significantly increased compared with phosphoric acid (Nassar et al., 2013). The speculated mechanism of action behind the increased resin-dentine bonding was attributed to two possible events. The first mechanism was due to IP6's ability to form insoluble complexes with calcium at a pH above 4 (Grynspan and Cheryan, 1983). As a result of the high dentine buffering capacity (Camps and Pashley, 2000), the pH of IP6 increases upon neutralization with dentine,

and thus facilitated the formation of the insoluble complex, which might provide a certain level of stability for the exposed collagen. The second speculated mechanism was through the collagen crosslinking action of IP6 (Lee et al., 2011; Ravichandran et al., 2013). At a pH above the isoelectric point, because both IP6 and the protein have a net negative, IP6 can interact with collagen fibrils, forming a soluble ternary protein-cation-IP6 complex, where cations such as calcium, bridges the IP6 to protein (Camps and Pashley, 2000). This newly formed protein complexes result in decreased protein solubility and might be recalcitrant to enzymatic hydrolysis or require higher quantities of the enzymes to be degraded (Ravindran et al., 1995; Selle et al., 2012). Moreover, in addition to IP6's excellent ability to chelate with calcium, it is also a potent chelator of zinc. The zinc-IP6 complex is stable and insoluble and these properties along with an ability to bind to collagen might make IP6 a potential inhibitor of dentinal matrix metalloproteinases. Despite limited evidence, it seems that controlled concentrations of IP6 are not aggressive to dentine and create a stable collagen network which might be clinically translated to better longevity of resin-based restorations (Nassar et al., 2021).

Recently, a new alternative etchant have been introduced and were tested on their enamel-bonding effectiveness (Yao et al., 2019). This experimental metal salt-based ZrO(NO₃)₂ conditioner, produced by Ivoclar (Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein) represents a new category of dentin conditioners with Ca-chelating ability. Despite having a higher pH than a classic phosphoric acid etchant, the etching efficacy of this experimental material on enamel enabled durable bonding, and it could be considered as a promising phosphoric-acid alternative etchant. This experimental etchant is a Lewis acidic metal salt that is readily soluble in water. Water is necessary for the dissolution of the zirconium salt to create an acidic condition (pH = 0.56) that is conducive for demineralizing the inorganic components of dentin. During demineralization, Ca2+ and PO24- ions are released from dentin and these ions bind to the Zr4+ ions as to form a solid complex that determin a self litimting demineralization factor for the etching of the material (Solovkin and Tsvetkova, 1962). The experimental etchant interfacial interaction with a universal adhesive was characterized by a twofold bonding mechanism, combining collagen-fibril envelopment by resin at the hybridlayer top, rendering micro-mechanical interlocking as typically achieved by an E&R bonding mode, with additional chemical binding of the functional monomer 10-MDP at the HAp-richer hybrid-layer bottom as typically achieved by a mild SE bonding mode. The latter chemical interaction is potentially complemented by the methacrylated polyalkenoic acid co-polymer included in universal adhesives. In addition, the more HAp-protected collagen at the deepest hybrid-layer area, where potentially resin failed to fully infiltrate, may reduce/retard hydrolytic degradation with time but ulterior research are needed on the matter.

Another alternative to completely demineralize the collagen fibrils would be to selectively remove the interfibrillar mineral from between collagen fibrils, without demineralizing the fibrils. Recent research has revealed that collagen fibrils behave as if they were size-exclusion beads of Sephadex in column chromatography. While molecules with molecular weights smaller than 600 Daltons can enter collagen, molecules larger than 40 KDa are excluded (Chiba et al., 2016; Takahashi et al., 2013; Toroian et al., 2007). Phosphoric acid, with a MW of 100 Da, is small enough to permeate throughout collagen fibrils, solubilizing both extra- and intrafibrillar- mineral, leaving dentin completely demineralized and soft. If, instead of acid-etching dentin with phosphoric acid, one used 15 wt% of a large molecular weight (i.e. 225,000 Da) calcium chelator, like sodium polyacrylate, or nitric acid, or iron containing solution (Sebold et al., 2019), then the chelator would be too large to permeate collagen. Application of such a chelator would only remove apatite mineral from the extrafibrillar space, creating interfibrillar spaces for inward monomer diffusion and uptake into the hybrid layer. After 30 sec of chelation, the reaction is stopped by water rinsing and airdrying (Mai et al., 2017). Because the collagen fibrils remain completely mineralized, they are too stiff to shrink or collapse when the residual rinse water is evaporated with strong air blasts. These procedures allow for "dry bonding", using hydrophobic resins much like pit-and-fissure sealants (Mai et al., 2017; Sebold et al., 2019).

The matrix proteases are not activated by these processes, and there is no residual water to fuel proteases if they ever become activated. This represents an exciting new example of dry bonding.

Remineralization of hybrid layers

A novel, exciting approach to HL preservation is biomimetic remineralization. It entails ion-releasing materials, which are intended to mimic the natural mineralization process. Since infiltration of resin is incomplete, there are numerous water-filled regions in hybrid layers that can slowly solubilize the insoluble collagen fibrils. Is it possible to coax hydroxyapatite into those water-filled spaces? The infiltration of apatite can remineralize the collagen fibrils, and simultaneously fossilize the MMPs. Tay and Pashley (Tay and Pashley, 2008) showed that Portland cement in a phosphoprotein analog-containing fluid can form a meta-stable amorphous calcium-phosphate, which can deposit inside the collagen organic network in the form of apatite crystallites. Further studies confirmed this concept (Gu et al., 2011; Y. K. Kim et al., 2010) and validated the importance of the presence of biomimetic analogs, since the mineralization achieved without the analogs was in the form of extrafibrillar mineral deposits. In order to facilitate the transition of this proof-of-concept into a clinically applicable system, the authors performed a follow-up study, binding the phosphoprotein analog directly to collagen, instead of having it in the solution (Abuna et al., 2016; Sauro et al., 2015). The study showed a complete remineralization of dentinal collagen after 3 to 4 months. It should be possible to cover resin-bonded dentin with "therapeutic" resin composite containing slowrelease remineralization reagents that can diffuse through the adhesive layer, into water-filled regions of the hybrid layers to remineralize naked collagen fibrils. The demineralized regions can be "back-filled" with nanoscopic apatite crystallites. This results in physical displacement of free water, thereby preventing protease hydrolysis of collagen. It is also very important that the remineralizing reagents contain an inhibitor of matrix proteases. If the demineralized collagen matrix degrades before it can remineralize, then remineralization cannot occur. Recently, certain studies investigated the efficiency of E&R (Sauro et al., 2015) and SE (Abuna et al., 2016) experimental adhesives and primers doped with phosphoprotein biomimetic analogs to preserve the HL longevity. Microtensile bond strength was preserved in the experimental groups after 3-, and 6- month storage in the dentin specimens bonded with E&R and SE adhesive systems, respectively. Although very interesting, this strategy has not yet become applicable in everyday clinical practice.

The future of dentin adhesion?

Although there are many more hurdles to be overcome in the field of adhesive dentistry, impressive progress in the understanding of the processes underlying HL degradation, as well as in the development of strategies for the preservation of the adhesive interface have been achieved. The removal of the unbound water from the hybrid layer and the silencing of the endogenous enzymatic activity, have been achieved using chemical agents and physical approaches, which are increasing in number, effectiveness, biocompatibility and clinical applicability. This large amount of available research on the topic is an indicator of the importance of these issues, and of the significant efforts of researchers and dental material companies to reach a new level of quality and longevity of resin-dentin bonds.

Endogenous crosslinking is a result of maturation of the tissue that occurs over time. This mechanism includes enzymatic crosslinking mediated by lysine–lysine covalent bonding between non-helical telopeptides and triple-helical fragments of collagen or/and nonenzymatic crosslinking by oxidation and glycation (Reiser et al., 1992).

On the other hand, crosslinking may be stimulated by using external collagen crosslinkers to improve the biomechanical properties of the collagen against proteolytic attack and to strengthen collagen structure. This exogenous crosslinking may modify the non-collagenous component of dentin as well as collagen scaffold (Bedran-Russo et al., 2014).

As a term, the 'biomodification' of dentin collagen matrices was used by Bedran-Russo to explain the structural changes in the three-dimensional scaffold of collagen treated with an exogenous crosslinking agent. The aim of modifying dentin matrices by collagen crosslinking agents is to improve the biomechanical properties of the dentin against dentin protease attacks. Bedran-Russo et al., for the first time, showed the effect of collagen crosslinkers on dentin collagen matrices in terms of the increased durability of the hybrid layer. Further studies showed that various collagen crosslinkers, such as carbodiimides, aldehydes, phenolic compounds and photochemicals, improve biomechanical properties of the collagen structure on dentin (Bedran-Russo et al., 2008, 2007; Cheung et al., 1985; Hayashi et al., 2010). Collagen can be modified by using methods such as chemical, physical and photochemical crosslinking (Cova et al., 2011; A. Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012).

A cross-link is a bond that links one polymer chain to another one. They can be covalent bonds or ionic bonds. "Polymer chains" can refer to synthetic polymers or natural polymers (such as proteins). Proteins in nature present crosslinks generated by enzyme-catalyzed or spontaneous reactions. Such crosslinks are important in generating mechanically stable structures such as hair, skin and cartilage. Cross-linking reactions can be promoted using external cross-linking molecules.

Molecules tested

Glutaraldehyde

Among the many available protein crosslinking agents, glutaraldehyde has undoubtedly found the widest application in various fields (Nimni et al., 1987; Richards and Knowles, 1968; SABATINI et al., 1963).

Glutaraldehyde, a linear, 5-carbon dialdehyde, is a clear, colorless to pale strawcolored, pungent oily liquid that is soluble in all proportions in water and alcohol, as well as in organic solvents. It is mainly available as acidic aqueous solutions (pH 3.0–4.0), ranging in concentration from less than 2% to 70% (w/v). The structure of glutaraldehyde in aqueous solution has been the subject of more debate than any of the other crosslinking reagents. In fact, glutaraldehyde structure in aqueous solution is not limited to the monomeric form (Figure 6, structure I). Figure 1 gives an overview of the possible molecular forms of glutaraldehyde in aqueous solution based on reports covering the past 40 years (Aso and Aito, 1962; Kawahara et al., 1992; Rembaum et al., 1978; Richards and Knowles, 1968).



Figure 6. Summary of the possible forms of glutaraldehyde in aqueous solution.

Glutaraldehyde has had great success because of its commercial availability and low cost in addition to its high reactivity. It reacts rapidly with amine groups at around neutral pH (Okuda et al., 1991) and is more efficient than other aldehydes in generating thermally and chemically stable crosslinks (Nimni et al., 1987).

The mechanism seems to be dependent on the formation of covalent chemical bonds between the aldehyde group of GA and the amino groups of lysine and hydroxylysine residues in collagen (Ritter et al., 2001; H. W. Sung et al., 1999), which increases the resistance of collagen to enzymatic degradation (H. W. Sung et al., 1999). However, the chemical nature of the reaction of glutaraldehyde with proteins is not clearly understood, and the mechanisms of protein crosslinking reactions remain open to speculation. It seems that no single mechanism is responsible for glutaraldehyde reaction with proteins. In fact, because glutaraldehyde is present in different forms even for specific and controlled reaction conditions, several possible reaction mechanisms could proceed simultaneously (Migneault et al., 2004).

Carbodiimide

A carbodiimide or a methanediimine is a functional group consisting of the formula RN=C=NR. Carbodiimides hydrolyze to form ureas, which makes them uncommon in nature. Carbodiimides are formed by dehydration of ureas or from thioureas. They are also formed by treating organic isocyanates with suitable catalysts (generally based on phosphine oxides); in this process, carbon dioxide evolves from the isocyanate (Sheehan et al., 1961). In synthetic organic chemistry, compounds containing the carbodiimide functionality are dehydration agents and are often used to activate carboxylic acids towards amide or ester formation. Additives, such as N-hydroxybenzotriazole or N-hydroxysuccinimide, are often added to increase yields and decrease side reactions. While the cross-linking potential is limited (Bedran-Russo et al., 2010), carbodiimides are less toxic than aldehydes (Huang et al., 1990).

Carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC)

1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) (Figure 7) is a water soluble carbodiimide usually obtained as the hydrochloride. It is typically employed in the 4.0-6.0 pH range (López-Alonso et al., 2009). It is generally used as a carboxyl activating agent for the coupling of primary amines to yield amide bonds. Additionally, EDC can also be used to activate phosphate groups in order to form phosphomonoesters and phosphodiesters. Common uses for this carbodiimide include peptide synthesis, protein cross-linkings to nucleic acids, but

also in the preparation of immunoconjugates (López-Alonso et al., 2009). In medical filed EDC was recently studied, with promising results, as reinforced for collagen scaffold in tissue engineering (Li et al., 2013).

The most studied carbodiimide in dentistry is 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylamino-propyl) carbodiimide (EDC), which was shown to achieve a similar bond strength preservation to that of GD (Bedran-Russo et al., 2010; Mazzoni et al., 2013) with the advantage of a much lower cytotoxicity. EDC contains a functional group with the formula RN=C=NR and can react with ionized carboxyl groups in proteins to form an O-acylisourea intermediate that can react with a non-proteinated amino group and an adjacent protein chain to form a stable covalent amide bond between the two proteins. EDC has a two-fold activity being able to cross-link both helical and telopeptide domains in collagen and also preventing telopeptidase activity that would normally remove telopeptides (A Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012). Its ability to increase the stiffness of demineralized dentin matrix (Bedran-Russo et al., 2010; Ryou et al., 2016) and the HL (Zhang et al., 2017) has been well documented. Recent zymographic assays on dentin powder (Mazzoni et al., 2013) and in situ zymographic three-dimensional images obtained by confocal microscopy (Mazzoni et al., 2017, 2014), clearly demonstrated that when EDC is used as additional therapeutic primer on acid-etched dentin, it also has the ability to silence dentinal MMPs, even after a 1-year storage in artificial saliva (Mazzoni et al., 2017).



Figure 7. EDC molecular structure

EDC is often used in combination with N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) for the immobilization of large biomolecules. EDC is known as a zero-length agent due to its ability to cross-link peptides without introducing additional linkage groups. The cross-linking mechanism is mediated by the activation of carboxylic acid groups of glutamic and aspartic acids to form an O-acylisourea intermediate. The latter reacts with the ε -amino groups of lysine or hydroxylysine to form an amide cross- link, leaving urea as the terminal by-product (Figure 8). The addition of N- hydroxysuccinimide to the EDC-containing solution is effective in increasing the number of induced collagen cross- linking and preventing the hydrolysis of activated carboxyl groups (Olde Damink et al., 1996; Staros et al., 1986). Cross-linkings with
EDC are especially appealing for biological applications as the carbodiimide does not remain in the chemical bond but is released as a substituted urea molecule.



Figure 8. EDC cross-linking reaction: EDC reacts with carboxylic group of, after the elimination of O-acylisourea intermediate, the glutamic or aspartic acid bond the N residue of lysine or hydroxylysine.

Dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC)

N,N'-Dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC) is an organic compound with the chemical formula C¹³H²²N² (Figure 9) whose primary use is to couple amino acids during artificial peptide synthesis. Under standard conditions, it exists in the form of white crystals with a heavy, sweet odor; DCC is normally used as a condensation reagent in amide synthesis or esterification reactions (Chen et al., 2014). Differently to EDC the DCC is insoluble in water but on the other hand it is well soluble in other organic compounds, such as ethanol and acetone. During protein synthesis, the N-terminus is often used as the attachment site on which the amino acid monomers are added. To enhance the electrophilicity of carboxylate group, the negatively charged oxygen must first be "activated" into a better leaving group, and DCC is also used for this purpose. The negatively charged oxygen will act as a nucleophile, attacking the central carbon in DCC, thus it is temporarily attached to the former carboxylate group forming a highly electrophilic intermediate, making nucleophilic attack by the terminal amino group on the growing peptide more efficient (Sebald et al., 1980).



Similarly to the EDC cross-linker mechanism the DCC first reacted with the carboxylic acid group of the amino acid to form the O-acylisourea intermediate, and then the DCC adduct underwent a relatively slow rearrangement process to form the final derivative that possesses higher ionization efficiency and higher molecular weight than the original amino acid (Sebald et al., 1980) (Figure 10).



Figure 10. DCC cross-linking reaction: likewise EDC, the DCC reacts with carboxylic group of glutamic and aspartic acids, after the elimination of O-acylisourea intermediate, the glutamic or aspartic acid bond the N residue of lysine or hydroxylysine.

Chitosan

Chitosan is a macromolecule formed by the repetition of D-glucosamine, which is derived from the deacetylation of chitin, obtained from the shells of marine crustaceans (in particular from crabs and prawns). It is a fiber, chemically similar to cellulose, and it is indigestible. Chitosan is a natural nontoxic, biocompatible, biodegradable polysaccharide with tested antibacterial properties (Qasim et al., 2018). The major properties of chitosan include biocompatibility, safety, biodegradability, antimicrobial activity, and the ability to form film and gel (Fiorillo, 2019; Husain et al., 2017; M, 2017). Different formulations of chitosan are presented on the market characterized by different pH and different materials. There are gels based on chitosan containing lactic acid, some containing distilled water, and others containing

chlorhexidine. The antibacterial activity of chitosan is strongly influenced by its formulation. In conservative dentistry it has been used for the prevention of caries, as well as in to the field of conservative dentistry surgery (Ortiz and Boyce, 2008). Chitosan has been widely used as a component of toothpaste for its antimicrobial activity, and it is a biocompatible and safe characteristic. It favors the hard tissues of the tooth, such as enamel and dentin, and it can be widely used without reported side effects (Cicciù et al., 2019). In some studies, it has been hypothesized that chitosan, modified with methacrylic groups, is able to covalently bind to the resin of dental restorations and, because of the presence of residual positive charges on the polysaccharide, to interact electrostatically with the demineralized dentin. Therefore, by introducing chitosan methacrylate in the primer of a three-step "etch and rinse" adhesive system we can achieve good adhesion values and good stability of the hybrid layer when subjected to mechanical simulation of chewing and thermal stress. It would also seem to improve the characteristics of mucus-adhesion to the enamel, producing a better remineralization (Cervino et al., 2017). Chitosan biopolymer has also been highlighted among substances that can decrease degradation of the collagen matrix caused by metalloproteinases. It can form crosslinks with dentin collagen, strengthening the fibrils against degradation, besides decreasing the action of MMPs (Baena et al., 2020). The structure of chitosan has free amino and hydroxyl groups, besides positive charges that form a cross-linkage with dentin collagen through ionic complexes, producing a mechanically strong fibril chain and raising the mechanical performance of restorations (Kishen et al., 2016).

Aims and hypotheses

Five separate studies were performed as a part of the present thesis, and each study was executed in accordance with their own specific aims. However, all of them share the same general objectives:

- 1) To investigate whether different cross-linkers influence the preservation of bond strength, immediately or after aging in artificial saliva at 37°C.
- 2) To investigate whether different cross-linkers influence enzymatic activity within dentin powder or the hybrid layer, immediately or after aging in artificial saliva at 37°C.

The null hypotheses were as follows:

- The cross-linkers do not influence bond strength, immediately or after aging in artificial saliva at 37°C.
- 2) The cross-linkers do not influence the enzymatic activity within dentin powder or the hybrid layer, immediately or after aging in artificial saliva at 37°C.

STUDY 1

Dentin Cross-linking Effect of Carbodiimide After 5 Years

The objective of the present study was to evaluate the ability of an EDC-containing aqueous primer applied during etch-and-rinse and self-etch adhesive procedures to preserve bond strength and collagen structure and inactivate MMPs after 5 y of accelerated aging in artificial saliva at 37 °C.

The null hypotheses tested were that dentin preconditioning with an EDC-containing primer prior to the adhesive resin application does not:

- 1) preserve bond strength
- 2) inactivate endogenous enzymes
- 3) influence the chemical profile of the HL at baseline (T0) and after 5 y of accelerated aging (T5).

Materials and methods

Microtensile Bond Strength

Human noncarious molars (n = 32, sample size determined with G*Power 3.1.9.7 for Windows; Faul et al. 2007) were used within 1 month after extraction. Each tooth was cut into a 4-mm-thick slab with a slow-speed diamond saw (Micromet; Remet) under water cooling.

Following exposure of the medium/deep dentin, a standardized smear layer was created on the dentin surface with wet silicon-carbide paper (600 grit) for 30 s. The tooth slabs were randomly allocated to one of the following groups and restored by an experienced practitioner:

Group 1: dentin etched for 15 s with 35% phosphoric acid (3M ESPE), rinsed abundantly with water, pretreated with 0.3M EDC-containing aqueous primer for 1 min, blot dried, and bonded with XP Bond (XPB; Dentsply Sirona) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Group 2 (control): dentin prepared as in group 1 but with- out EDC pretreatment.

Group 3: dentin treated with Clearfil SE (CSE; Kuraray Noritake Dental Co. Ltd.) bond primer, air-dried, treated with the 0.3M EDC primer for 1 min, and bonded with the CSE bond according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Group 4 (control): dentin prepared as in group 3 but with- out EDC pretreatment.

All the adhesives were light cured with a light-emitting diode curing unit (output, 800 mW/cm²) for 20 s. A 4-mm– thick core buildup was created with a hybrid resin composite (Filtek Z250, 3M ESPE) in each of the bonded teeth in 1-mm– thick increments. Each increment was light cured for 20 s. Bonded teeth were sectioned into $0.9 \times 0.9 \times 8$ -mm sticks (±0.01 mm). Half of the randomly chosen sticks from each tooth were stored in artificial saliva for 24 h at 37 °C (designated as T0). The artificial saliva (pH 7.4) comprised the following (mmol/L): CaCl (0.7), MgCl ·6H2O (0.2), KH PO (4.0), KCl (30), NaN₃ (0.3), and 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethane-sulfonic acid buffer (20; Pashley et al. 2004). The other half of the sticks from each tooth were aged for 5 y in artificial saliva at 37 °C, with the saliva replaced every 2 wk (designated as T5). After aging, the bonded area of each specimen was calculated and was stressed in tension in a testing machine (Bisco Inc.) at a stretching speed of 1 mm/min until failure. Since the prematurely debonded specimens (1.2%) were evenly distributed among groups, they were not included in the statistical analysis. Fracture modes (A, adhesive failure; CC, cohesive in composite resin; CD, cohesive in dentin; M, mixed failure) were analyzed with a stereomicroscope at 30× magnification.

Three debonded sticks from each group with bond strength that approximated the mean of that group were fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde-cacodylate buffer (3 h, pH 7.4), dehydrated

in ascending concentrations of ethanol (50% to 100%), and dried with hexamethyldisilazane. Specimens were mounted on aluminum stubs, coated with gold-palladium, and examined with a field emission scanning electron microscope (FE-SEM; Nova NanoSEM 450 [FEI Co.]).

In Situ Zymography

Additional non-carious human molars (n = 5, sample size deter- mined per G*Power) were used to investigate gelatinolytic activity within the HL. The crown of each tooth was sectioned transversally in two 1-mm–thick slices that contained medium/ deep dentin. These slices were divided into 2 pieces (4 pieces in toto) and randomly assigned to 4 groups. This experimental design enabled all groups to be examined with the same dentinal substrate. The dentin pieces were bonded in the same manner as previously described. A 1-mm–thick composite buildup was made with the Filtek Z250 resin composite. The bonded and restored dentin pieces were sectioned to expose the HL. Half of the sectioned specimens from each group were tested after 24 h of storage in artificial saliva at 37 °C (T0), while the other half was aged for 5 y in artificial saliva (T5), as previously described.

After aging, in situ zymography was performed per the method reported by Mazzoni et al. (2012). Briefly, each specimen was glued to a microscope slide (2 specimens from each tooth per group) and progressively polished with wet silicon carbide papers with increasingly fine grit size (600, 1,200, 4,000) until ~50 µm thick and coated with fluorescein-conjugated gelatin solution (E-12055; Molecular Probes). The specimens were placed in a humid chamber and kept overnight in the dark at 37 °C. They were then examined with a confocal microscope (Leica SP8; Leica Microsystems GmbH; excitation/emission wavelength, 488/530 nm). Three z-stack images (1-µm interlayer distance) were made for each specimen (in the middle and toward both ends) by a researcher who was unaware of the designated groups. Quantification of the integrated density of the fluorescence signal was performed at the same level for each image via image analysis software (ImageJ; National Institutes of Health). A standardized rectangular selected area was used for all images. Differences in the level of fluorescence among the tested groups were statistically analyzed.

Micro–Raman Spectroscopy

The chemical profile of resin-dentin interfaces (n = 3 teeth per group, 2 bonded sticks per tooth) was examined with a dispersive Raman spectrometer/microscope (Horiba Scientific

Xplora). Specimens were polished with 1,500-grit silicon car- bide paper for 30 s and analyzed with a 638-nm diode laser (1- μ m spot diameter) at 100 mW, an X100/0.90 NA air objective, and at 600 lines per millimeter of grating. The bonded interface was scanned from 400 to 2,000 cm⁻¹, with 30-s accumulation time with 5 coadditions. Spectra were acquired at 3 random sites from the top of the HL to the underlying dentin at 1- μ m-thick intervals. Eleven spectra were acquired for each site via a computer-controlled x-y-z stage. The acquired spectra were analyzed by Labspec 6 software (Horiba). The band ratio between the intensity of the pyridinium ring and phenyl vibrations (1,032 cm⁻¹/1,003 cm⁻¹) was used to obtain information on the cross-linking effect of EDC.

Statistical Analyses

For the microtensile bond strength (primary outcome) and in situ zymography (secondary outcome), data were homogeneous (modified Levene test) and normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). As such, 3-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and post hoc Tukey tests were performed to identify the effects of 3 variables—EDC pretreatment (with/ without), aging (T0/T5), and adhesive system (XPB/CSE) — and their interactions on bond strength and gelatinolytic activity. A random effect for the tooth variable was included to account for the split-tooth design. One-way ANOVA and post hoc Bonferroni tests were conducted to evaluate differences among the groups. Statistical significance was preset at $\alpha = 0.05$ (Stata 12.0; StataCorp).

<u>Results</u>

Results of the microtensile bond strength test are presented in the Table 1. Bond strength was significantly affected by aging and EDC pretreatment, with higher bond strength at T0 (P = 0.0002) as well as in groups pretreated with EDC (P = 0.0223), while adhesive system (the main variable) and all the possible interactions did not exert any effect on bond strength (P < 0.05). When the groups were individually considered, the increase in bond strength in the EDC-treated XPB groups was statistically significant (P < 0.05; 27% at T0 and 29% at T5). No significant difference was observed in the EDC-treated CSE groups (9% at T0 and 13% at T5).

The majority of the failure modes in the XPB groups were A failure, regardless of aging or EDC-treatment. In the CSE groups, A and CC failures were the most prevalent (Table 1).

XP Bond			Clearfil SE Bond		
No ED	OC (Control)	EDC	No EDC (Control)	EDC	
T0 34.6	$b \pm 13.6^{Ab}$	44.1 ± 16.7 ^{Ab}	$38.2\pm9.9^{\rm \ Aab}$	$41.6\pm19.2~^{\rm Aa}$	
A	82	65	39	57	
C	9	4	35	9	
CD	8	27	17	25	
М	0	4	9	9	
T5 28.8	$\pm 12.3^{Ab}$	$37.0\pm13.4^{\rm\ Aa}$	$29.2\pm9.6^{\rm\ Bab}$	$33.1\pm13.4^{\rm \ Ba}$	
A	67	60	24	46	
C 3	34	27	50	27	
CD	5	5	15	20	
М	5	7	11	7	

Table 1. Results of Microtensile Test at T0 and T5 With and Without EDC (Carbodiimide).

n = 8 teeth per group. Data are expressed in MPa (mean \pm SD) and percentage of failure.

T0, data obtained after 24 h of storage at 37 °C; T5, data obtained after 5 y of aging in artificial saliva at 37 °C.

A, adhesive failure; CC, cohesive failure in composite; CD, cohesive failure in dentin; M, mixed failure.

 AB Different superscript uppercase letters indicate differences (P < 0.05) within the columns.

^{ab}Different superscript lowercase letters indicate differences (P < 0.05) within the rows.

FE-SEM demonstrated differences in the dentin structure between the adhesives. The XPB groups had M failures that displayed demineralized collagen fibrils and open dentinal tubules (Fig. 11).



Figure 11. Field emission scanning electron microscope micrographs of the adhesive interfaces of fractured microtensile bond strength sticks (the dentin side) for the XPB groups: left, view of the whole adhesive surface; right, enlarged view of the area marked with the yellow selection. (A) XPB T0: dentin surface after adhesive failure. Denuded collagen fibrils and a small number of resin tags can be identified within the dentin tubules (bars: 500 μ m, left; 5 μ m, right). (B) EDC XPB T0: mixed failure with a fine layer of adhesive resin adhering to the dentin surface (bars: 500 μ m, left; 50 μ m, right). (C) XPB T5: mixed failure with visible dentin tubules containing resin tags and sparse denuded collagen fibrils (bars: 500 μ m, left; 30 μ m, right). (D) EDC XPB T5: mixed fracture with the majority of the adhesive interface covered by adhesive resin. The dentin portion is free of resin tags, with sparse denuded collagen fibrils. A, adhesive resin; D, dentin; EDC, carbodiimide-pretreated group; T0, 24-h aging; T5, 5-y aging; XPB, XP Bond.

In contrast, CSE groups showed M failures with occluded dentin tubules covered with smear layers (Fig. 12).



Figure 12. Field emission scanning electron microscope micrographs of the adhesive interfaces of fractured microtensile bond strength sticks (the dentin side) for the CSE groups: left, view of the whole adhesive surface; right, enlarged view of the area marked with the yellow selection. (A) CSE T0 group: mixed failure. Flat resin surface with chevron marks (river lines) of the fractured adhesive resin created during crack propagation. Side chipping of the dentin is evident. Dentin tubules are occluded by a smear layer (bars: 500 μm, left; 50 μm, right). (B) EDC CSE T0: mixed failure with a thicker layer of adhesive resin adhering to the dentin surface. Dentin tubules are occluded by a smear layer (bars: 500 μm, left; 100 μm, right). (D) EDC CSE T5: mixed failure. Dentin tubules occluded by a smear layer (bars: 500 μm, left; 100 μm, right). A, adhesive resin; CSE, Clearfil SE bond; D, dentin; EDC, carbodiimide-pretreated group; T0, 24-h aging; T5, 5-y aging.

For in situ zymography, EDC pretreatment (P = 0.0001), aging (P = 0.0001), and adhesive (P = 0.0003), as well as the interaction pretreatment × adhesive (P = 0.0341), significantly influenced dentin gelatinolytic activity. In all the tested groups, fluorescence density level was higher after aging. The EDC silenced enzymatic activity more efficiently in the XPB groups. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant decrease in the gelatinolytic activity in all the EDC-pretreated groups except for CSE at T5. Fluorescence was detected in the HL as well as in the underlying dentinal tubules (Fig. 13).



Figure 13. In situ zymography results. (A) Resin-dentin interfaces incubated with quenched fluorescein-labeled gelatin. (a, c, e, g, i, k, m, o) Images acquired in the green channel show fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL of the tested groups. Fluorescence is lower in the groups treated with EDC primer and at T0 as compared with the aged specimens. (b, d, f, h, j, l, n, p) Image obtained by merging the differential interference

contrast image, showing the optical density of the resin-dentin interface, and the image acquired in the green channel. (B) Quantification of the gelatinolytic activity within the resin-dentin interfaces of the tested groups. Mean values of the fluorescence signal intensity and SDs are presented on the graph. CSE, Clearfil SE bond; Ctr, control; D, dentin; EDC, carbodiimide; HL, hybrid layer; R, resin composite; T0, 24-h aging; T5, 5-y aging; XPB, XP Bond.

Representative Raman spectra of the experimental groups are shown in Figure 14. Spectra recorded in the range of 400 to 2,000 cm⁻¹ covered the fingerprint region associated with the HL and dentin collagen bands. Peaks assigned to adhesives were documented (C–O–C at 1,113 cm⁻¹, C=C at 1,610 cm⁻¹, C=O at 1,720 cm⁻¹). The relative decrease of intensity of these peaks represented the transition through the dentin. Dentin collagen bands also became evident: amide I at 1,667 cm⁻¹, amide III at 1,243 cm⁻¹ and 1,273 cm⁻¹; the phenyl group at 1,003 cm⁻¹ of the aromatic ring of the phenylalanine residues of collagen; and the pyridinium ring at 1,032 cm⁻¹, which has a tri- valent amino acid cross-linking residue. In addition, functional groups of carbonated apatite (phosphate at 962 cm⁻¹ and carbonate 1,072 cm⁻¹) were detected within the mineralized den- tin. More aggressive demineralization was detected in the XPB groups, as shown by the abrupt reduction in the intensity of carbonate and phosphate peaks within the transition region, while mineral-associated peaks were more pronounced in the CSE groups. After aging, the intensity of the mineral-associated peaks dropped for the XPB groups (especially control), while they remained stable over time for the CSE groups.

Collagen changes were identified in the amide III peaks $(1,243 \text{ to } 1,248 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ and from 1,273 to 1,278 cm⁻¹ in all EDC-treated groups, regardless of aging. In addition, the second peak of the doublet at 1,273 cm⁻¹ was less well defined in the groups without EDC at T5; for XPB at T5, this peak almost disappeared. Furthermore, a drop of adhesive peaks was noted for all the T5 groups, except the EDC XPB, where well-pronounced adhesive bands were still detected.

Pretreatment with EDC did not alter the pyridinium/phenyl band ratio at T0, regardless of the adhesive system used. This band ratio was not reduced at T5 for the EDC groups in comparison with their respective adhesive sub- groups at T0 (cross-linking pyridinium/phenyl: XPB T0, 1.02; XPB T5, 0.98; EDC + XPB T0, 1.03; EDC + XPB T5, 1.16; CSE T0, 1.18; CSE T5, 1.02; EDC + CSE T0, 1.19; EDC + CSE T5, 1.19). Additional peaks assigned to EDC could not be identified.



Figure 14. Micro-Raman line spectra acquired at the adhesive-dentin interface created by XPB and CSE with the application of the EDC primer and without at T0 and T5. Each spectrum was acquired from the middle of the hybrid layer (top spectra) to the underlaying dentin (bottom spectra). The relative peaks associated with methacrylate monomers, mineralized and demineralized dentin in the hybrid layer, were observed in both groups. Changes were identified at amide III peaks (1,243 to 1,248 cm–1 and 1,273 to 1,278 cm–1) for all EDC-treated groups. The band ratios between intensity of pyridinium ring and phenyl vibrations (1,032 cm–1/1,003 cm–1) were used for evaluation of the cross-linking effect of EDC. No difference was detected for EDC treatment of each adhesive subgroup at T0. This ratio was not reduced at T5 for the EDC groups when compared with the ratio at T0 for both adhesives. CSE, Clearfil SE bond; EDC, carbodiimide; T0, 24-h aging; T5, 5-y aging; XPB, XP Bond.

STUDY 2

Effect of an ethanol cross-linker on universal adhesive

The aim of the study was to evaluate the effects of N,N'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC), an ethanol-based dentin cross-linker, on the immediate and long-term microtensile bond strength (µTBS) and nanoleakage expression of a universal adhesive employed in self-etch mode (SE) or etch- and-rinse mode (ER). The effect of DCC on the dentinal MMP activity was also investigated by means of in-situ zymography.

The null hypotheses tested were that preconditioning of dentin with DCC prior to adhesive application:

- 1) Does not benefit the immediate bonding performance of a universal adhesive to dentin;
- 2) Does not prevent interfacial degradation over time;
- 3) Does not inhibit endogenous dentin MMP activity.

Materials and methods

Freshly-extracted sound human third molars (N = 120) were obtained from anonymous individuals following their signed consent under the protocol ASL BO N $^{\circ}$ 0013852, approved on 02/01/2019 by the Ethics Committee.

Microtensile bond strength test (µTBS)

Eighty teeth were selected to conduct μ TBS testing. The occlusal surface of each tooth was cut transversely to the long axis to expose mid-coronal dentin using a low-speed diamond saw (Micromet, Remet, Bologna, Italy) with copious water cooling. A standardized smear layer was created with 600-grit silicon-carbide paper on each tooth surface. The polished teeth were randomly assigned to one of the following groups according to the dentin surface treatment and adhesive approach performed (N = 20) (Table 2):

Group 1 (G1): DCC pre-treatment and Scotchbond Universal adhesive (SBU; 3M ESPE, St. Paul, MN, USA used in the etch- and-rinse mode (ER). The dentin surface was etched with 32% H3PO4 (Scotchbond Universal Etchant, 3M ESPE) for 15 s, pre-treated with an ethanol solution of 0.5M DCC for 1 min, air-dried and bonded with SBU according to the manufacturer's instructions (Table 2).

Group 2 (G2): SBU in ER mode. No DCC was applied on dentin; SBU application was the same as G1.

Group 3 (G3): DCC pre-treatment and SBU in self-etch mode (SE). The dentin surface was pre-treated as in G1; instead of etching with 32% H3PO4, SBU was applied directly to the smear layer-covered dentin and agitated for 20 s. The adhesive was air-dried. Without light-curing, DCC was applied for 1 min. The second layer of universal adhesive was subsequently applied, air-dried and light-cured (Table 2).

Group 4 (G4): SBU in SE mode. No DCC was applied on dentin. SBU application was the same as G3.

Material	Composition	ER mode	DCC + ER mode	SE mode	DCC + SE mode
Scotchbond Universal (SBU; 3M ESPE)	1. Etchant: 32% phosphoric acid, water, synthetic amorphous silica, polyethylene glycol, aluminum oxide (Scotchbond Universal Etchant) 2. Adhesive: methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate (MDP) phosphate monomer, dimethacrylate resins, 2- hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA), methacrylate- modified polyalkenoic acid copolymer, filler, ethanol, water, initiators, and silane.	1. Apply etchant for 15 s 2. Rinse for 10s3.Airdry 5s4.Applythe adhesive to the entire preparation with a microbrush and rub it in for 20s5.Directa gentle stream of air over the liquid for 5 s until it no longer moves and the solvent is evaporated completely 6. Repeat steps 4 and 5 7. Light- cure for 20 s.	1. Apply 0.5M DCC ethanol-based primer and brush it for 1 min 2. Direct a gentle stream of air over the liquid for 5 s 3. Apply adhesive as for the ER mode.	1. Apply adhesive to the entire preparation with a microbrush and rub it in for 20 s 2. Direct a gentle stream of air over the liquid for 5 s until it no longer moves and the solvent is evaporated completely 3. Repeat steps 2 and34. Light-cure for 20 s.	1. Apply first coat of adhesive 2. Apply 0.5M DCC ethanol- based primer and brush it for 1 min 3. Direct a gentle stream of air over the liquid for 5 s 3. Apply adhesive as for the SE mode.
Filtek Z250 (3M ESPE)	Triethyleneglycol dimetacrylate (TEGDMA) < 1–5%; Bisphenol-A- glycidylmethacrylate (Bis- GMA) < 1–5%; Bisphenol-A polyethylenglycol dietherdimethacrylate (Bis- EMA) 5–10%; Urethane dimethacrylate (UDMA) 5– 10% Fillers: Zirconia/silica; 60 vol% inorganic fillers (particle size 0.01–3.5 m)				

 Table 2 – Adhesive system, composite composition and application mode.

Each bonded specimen was light-cured for 20 s using a light-emitting diode curing light (DemiTM Plus, Kerr Corp., Brea, CA, USA) after solvent evaporation. Four 1-mm thick layers of a micro-hybrid resin composite (Filtek Z250; 3M ESPE) were incrementally placed over the bonded dentin and individually polymerized for 20 s each to obtain a 4-mm thick composite build up for μ TBS testing. Each specimen was serially-sectioned to obtain approximately 1-mm thick sticks, each containing resin composite and dentin and with the adhesive interface in between, in accordance with the non- trimming technique of the μ TBS test. The dimension of each stick (0.9 mm × 0.9 mm ± 0.01 mm) was recorded using a pair of digital calipers. The bonded area was calculated for subsequent conversion of microtensile strength values into units of stress (MPa). Sticks from each tooth were randomly assigned to two storage groups: 24 h (T0) or 1 year (T12) of stor- age in artificial saliva at 37 °C. The artificial saliva consisted of CaCl2 (0.7 mmoles/L), MgCl2 6H2O (0.2 mmoles/L), KH2PO4 (4.0 mmoles/L), KCl (30 mmoles/L), NaN3(0.3 mmoles/L) in HEPES buffer (Sabatini et al., 2015).

Each stick was stressed to failure under tension using a simplified universal testing machine (Bisco, Inc., Schaumburg, IL, USA) at a crosshead speed of 1 mm/min. The number of prematurely-debonded sticks in each group was recorded, but those null values were not included in the statistical analysis. This is because all premature failures occurred during the cutting procedure and those failures did not exceed the 3% of the total number of tested specimens and were similarly distributed within the groups. A single observer evaluated the failure modes under a stereomicroscope (Stemi 2000-C; Carl Zeiss GmbH, Jena, Germany) at 30× magnification. Failure modes were classifieds adhesive failure (A), cohesive failure in dentin (CD), cohesive failure in composite (CC) or mixed failure (M).

Statistical analysis was performed using the tooth as the statistical unit. Bond strength data from each tooth were averaged to obtain the mean bond strength for that tooth. The acquired data were evaluated for compliance with the normality assumption using Shapiro-Wilk test, and the homoscedasticity assumption using the modified Levene test prior to the use of parametric analytical methods. A three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to identify the effects of three variables, DCC pre-treatment (with/without), adhesive application mode (ER/SE) and aging (T0 /T12) and their interactions on bond strength. Posthoc comparisons were conducted using Tukey test. Additionally, one-way ANOVA was conducted to evaluate differences within each variable. For all tests, statistical significance was pre-set at $\alpha = 0.05$. Statisti- cal analyses were performed using Stata 12.0 software for Mac (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Nanoleakage expression

Twenty teeth (N = 5) were used for examination of nanoleakage within the resin-dentin interface. Mid-coronal dentin was bonded in the same manner described for μ TBS testing. Each specimen was cut vertically into 1-mm-thick slabs to expose the resin-dentin interface. After storage in artificial saliva at 37 °C for 24 h (T0) or 12 months (T12), the specimens were immersed in 50 wt.% ammoniacal AgNO3 solution for 24 h in the dark, following the protocol described by Tay et al. (Franklin R. Tay et al., 2002). The specimens were then thoroughly rinsed in distilled water and immersed in a photo-developing solution for 8 h under a fluorescent light to reduce silver ions into metallic silver grains within voids along the bonded interfaces.

For light microscopy, the specimens were fixed, dehydrated, embedded in epoxy resin (LR White resin, Millipore- Sigma, Burlington, MA, USA), fixed on glass slides using cyanoacrylate glue, flattened on a grinding device (LS2; Remet, Bologna, Italy) under water irrigation and polished with a graded series of silicon carbide abrasive papers of increasing fineness (180-, 600-, 1200-, 2400-, and 4000-grit). The presence of the silver tracer was examined along the bonded interface using light microscopy (E800; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan), at 20× magnification. Interfacial nanoleakage expression was scored by two trained investigators based on the percentage of adhesive surface showing AgNO3 deposition, following the method of Saboia et al. (Saboia et al., 2008). A scale 0–4 was used for evaluation: (0) no nanoleakage; (1) <25% surface with nanoleakage; (2) 25–50% surface with nanoleakage; (3) 50–75% surface with nanoleakage; and (4) >75% surface with nanoleakage. Intra-examiner reliability was evaluated using the Cohen's kappa (κ) statistic. Statistical differences among nanoleakage scores were analysed with the chi-square statistic. Statistical significance was pre-set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

In-situ zymography

Twenty freshly-extracted human third molars (N = 5) were used for in-situ zymography. One mm-thick slabs of middle/deep dentin were prepared. Each slab was further divided into four parts to test the 4 control land experimental groups on the same substrate (Figure 15). Silicon carbide paper (600-grit). was used to create a standardized smear layer on each dentin surface. One surface of each quarter of a slab was treated with the adhesive systems as described for μ TBS testing. was used to create a standardized smear

layer on each dentin surface. One surface of each quarter of a slab was treated with the adhesive systems as described for μ TBS testing.



Figure 15. Schematic of tooth preparation for in-situ zymography. A dentin disk (1-mm thick) was divided into four quadrants, enabling bonding procedures of the four control and experimental groups to be performed on the same dentin substrate.

The procedure was performed using the method previously reported by Mazzoni et al. (Mazzoni et al., 2014, 2012). After aging for the designated period (24 h or 1 year), each bonded slab was glued to a glass slide and polished to produce an approximately 40- μ m thick section. To produce the substrate, 1.0 mg/mL of a stock solution containing self-quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin (E-12055; Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) was prepared by adding 1.0 mL deionized water to the vial containing the lyophilized gelatin. The substrate was stored at $-20 \circ$ C until use. The gelatin stock solution was diluted 10 times with dilution buffer (NaCl 150 mm, CaCl2 5 mm, Tris–HCl 50 mm, pH 8.0), followed by the addition of an anti-fading agent (Vectashield mounting medium with 4',6- diamidino-2-phenylindole; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Then, 50 μ L of the fluorescent gelatin mixture was placed on top of each polished dentin section and protected with a cover slip. The glass slide assemblies were light-protected and incubated in a humidified chamber at 37 °C for 48 h.

Detection of endogenous gelatinolytic enzyme activity within the hybrid layer was based on hydrolysis of the quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin substrate. The process was evaluated by examining the glass slides with a multi-photon confocal laser scanning microscope (LSM 5 Pa; Carl Zeiss), using an excitation wavelength of 495 nm and an emission wavelength of 515 nm. Samples were imaged using a HCX PL APO 40×/1.25 NA oil immersion objective. Series of x- y-z images (0.145*0.145*1 µm3 voxel size) were collected. Laser power and detector gain were set at the beginning of the experiment and kept the same for all specimens in order to have the possibility to compare different groups. Sixteen to 20 optical sections were acquired for each specimen. The stacked images were analyzed, quantified, and processed with ZEN 2009 software (Carl Zeiss). The fluorescence intensity emitted by the hydrolyzed fluorescein-conjugated gelatin was isolated and quantified using Image J (ImageJ; National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). The amount of gelatinolytic activity was expressed as a percentage of the green fluorescence within the hybrid layer.

Negative control sections were similarly incubated, with the exception that 250 mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) or 2 mM 1,10-phenanthroline was dissolved in the mixture of quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin. The EDTA- and 1,10-phenanthroline-containing gelatin were used as negative controls. In addition, standard non-fluorescent gelatin was used as the third negative control.

Because the in-situ zymography data complied with normality and homoscedasticity assumptions after non-linear transformation, a three-way ANOVA was used to identify the effects of the three variables, DCC pre-treatment, adhesive application mode and aging, on the density of fluorescence signals. Additional one-way ANOVA was conducted to evaluate differences within each variable. Statistical significance was pre-set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Results

Microtensile bond strength

Microtensile bonds strengths of the four groups tested at T0 and T12 are summarized in Table 3. Three-factor ANOVA revealed significant difference for the variables DCC pretreatment, adhesive application mode and aging (p < 0.05), as well as for the interaction between DCC pre-treatment and adhesive application mode (p < 0.05). Post-hoc com- parisons showed that the use of a 0.5 M DCC-containing ethanol solution before adhesive application improved bond strength of SBU (G1 and G3) vs control groups (G2 and G4) (p < 0.05), irrespective of the adhesive application mode and aging. Additionally, SBU generated higher bond strength when employed in the ER mode vs the SE mode (p < 0.05). Aging significantly reduced µTBS among all the adhesive application mode/dentin pre-treatment combinations, except for G3 (p < 0.05). One-way ANOVA indicated that at T0, DCC pretreatment significantly improved µTBS in both experimental groups compared to the control groups (G1 46.0 ± 15.3 ; G2 37.1 ± 12.5 ; G3 39.4 ± 11.1 ; G4 26.3 ± 11.4). After aging, DCC pretreatment showed a preservation of the bond strength when SBU was applied in the SE mode (T0 = 39.4 \pm 11.1 and T12 = 35.3 \pm 13.9) thus, shoving a final MPa value after aging comparable to that of the SBU ER groups. For all groups at T0 or T12 the predominant failure modes were the adhesive failure and the mixed failure. At baseline, for all groups, except for G2 the adhesive failures were around 70% of the failure. After aging, the number of mixed failures increased between 40% and 55% in the different groups (Table 4).

Table 3 : Results of μ TBS test at T0 and T12.					
Application mode	Application	n SBU (ER)ª	SBU (S	E)a	
Pre-treatment	G1	G2	G3	G4	
	46.0 ± 15.3 ^A ,a	37.1 ± 12.5 ^{A,b}	39.4 ± 11.1 ^{A,a,b}	26.,3 ± 11.4 ^{A,c}	
T_{12}	33.5 ^B ± 13.9 ^B ,a	31.0 ± 11.0 ^{B,a}	35.3 ± 13.9 ^A ,a	13.4 ± 9.1 ^{B,b}	
Different superscript upper-case letters indicate differences ($p < 0.05$) within the columns. Different					
superscript lower case letters indicate differences ($p < 0.05$) within the rows.					
a Values are means \pm standard deviations (in MPa).					

SBU (ER) Scotchbond Universal used in the etch-and-rinse mode; SBU (SE): Scotchbond Universal used in the self-etch mode. G1: 0.5M DCC SBU (ER); G2: SBU (ER), control; G3: 0.5M DCC + SBU (SE); G4: SBU (SE), control. T0: Data obtained after 24 h of storage at 37 °C. T12: Data obtained after 1 year of aging in artificial saliva at 37 °C.

Table 4: Percentages of failures mode among the different groups.

Application mode	Application	n SBU (ER)ª	SBU (SE)a		
Pre-treatment	G1	G2	G3	G4	
T ₀	68% A 32% M	35% A 8% CD 57%	81% A 1% CD 18%	74% A 36% M	
T ₁₂	45% A 55% M	M 58% A 42% M	M 53% A 47% M	60% A 40% M	
Different superscript upper-case letters indicate differences ($p < 0.05$) within the columns. Different					
superscript lower case letters indicate differences ($p < 0.05$) within the rows.					
a Values are means \pm standard deviations (in MPa).					

Nanoleakage expression

Descriptive statistics of interfacial leakage scores are represented in Figure 16. Statistically significant differences were found among the four groups in the extent of silver nitrate penetration along the adhesive interfaces (p < 0.05). Specimens that were pretreated with DCC-containing solution prior to adhesive application showed lower nanoleakage expression in both the ER and SE modes, compared to control groups, at both T0 and T12 (p < 0.05). At baseline SBU ER and SBU SE showed a higher percentage of marginal infiltration compared to the experimental groups. However, SBU SE performed worse than SBU ER. After aging in artificial saliva, DCC pretreated groups showed a significantly lower marginal leakage than the control groups. In addition, DCC SBU groups showed comparable results among them.



Figure 16: Distribution of interfacial nanoleakage (in %) in the resin-dentin interfaces created with the Scotchbond Universal (SBU) adhesive in the etch-and-rinse mode (ER) or the self-etch mode, with or without DCC pre-treatment of dentin. Testing was performed after 24 h (T0) or after one year of aging in artificial saliva (T12).

In-situ zymography

Representative micrographic images of the different groups are shown in Figure 17 for time T0 and Figure 8 for time T12. The percentages of hybrid layers exhibiting hydrolysis of the quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin at T0 and T12 are shown in Figure 19. For all specimens, the highest enzymatic activity appeared to be concentrated in the hybrid layer and the dentinal tubules underneath the hybrid layer.

Statistical analysis of the in-situ zymography identified significant differences for the variables DCC pre-treatment, adhesive application mode and aging (p < 0.05), and for the interaction between application mode and aging (p < 0.05). For the variable "DCC pre-treatment", post-hoc comparisons showed that DCC pre-treatment significantly reduced fluorescence at the level of the hybrid layer, compared to non-treated groups (p < 0.05), irrespective of the adhesive application mode and the aging period. For the variable "adhesive application mode", ER groups resulted in a significantly higher enzymatic activity compared to the SE groups (p < 0.05), irrespective of DCC application and aging period. For the variable "adhesive application mode", especially when associated with ER mode, significant increases in fluorescence at the level of the hybrid layer was identified with the ER mode at both T0 and T12 (p < 0.05).

One-way ANOVA calculated across all groups indicated that at T0, there was reduced fluorescence within the hybrid layers, irrespective of the adhesive application mode, when 0.5M DCC solution was applied prior to adhesive application (G1 and G3). However, the decrease was not statistically significant for the SE mode (Figure 17). At T12, both experimental (G3 and G4) and control groups (G1 and G2) showed comparable endogenous enzymatic activity for the ER group (Figure 8). When SBU was applied in the SE mode, 0.5M DDC solution significantly reduced the activity within the hybrid layer (Figure 18).

No fluorescence was detected in two negative control groups prepared with nonspecific inhibitors (EDTA or 1,10-phenanthroline) or when non-fluorescent gelatin was employed (data not shown).



Figure 17: Representative examples of in-situ zymography of the resin-dentin interfaces at T0. Dentin treated with SBU adhesive in the SE mode (a, b); SBU (SE) + DCC 0.5M (c, d); SBU in the ER mode (e, f); SBU (ER) + DCC 0.5 M (g, h). D: dentin; HL: hybrid Layer; R: resin composite.



Figure 18: Representative examples of in-situ zymography of the resin-dentin interfaces at T12 (aging for 12 months in artificial saliva). Dentin treated with SBU adhesive in the SE mode (a, b); SBU (SE) + DCC 0.5M (c, d); SBU in the ER mode (e, f); SBU (ER) + DCC 0.5M (g, h). D: dentin; HL: hybrid Layer; R: resin composite.

In-situ zymography of the HL



Figure 19: Gelatinolytic activity, expressed as the intensity of green fluorescence (pixels/ μ m2) within the hybrid layers (HL) created with SBU in ER mode or SE mode for the experimental (DCC pre-treatment) and control (no DCC pre-treatment) groups at T0 and T12. Values are means and standard deviations. For comparison of the factor "adhesive application mode", columns labelled with the same upper case letters (T0) or lower case letters (T12) are not significantly different (p > 0.05). For comparison of the factor "DCC pre-treatment", columns labelled with the same numerals are not significantly different (p > 0.05) (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article).

STUDY 3

Endogenous Enzymatic Activity in Dentin Treated with a Chitosan Primer

The aim of the present study was to evaluate, by means of gelatin and in situ zymography, the effect of different concentrations of lyophilized chitosan polymer as a separate aqueous primer on the enzymatic activity of unrestored, as well as adhesively restored, dentin.

The null hypotheses to be tested include the following:

- chitosan applied on acid-etched dentin does not influence MMPs activity regardless of the concentration used;
- the application of the adhesive resin does not influence the interaction of chitosan with the endogenous dentinal enzymes.

Materials and methods

Preparation of Solutions

Three aqueous solutions of 1, 0.5 and 0.1 wt% chitosan (Chitoscience Chitosan, Heppe Medical Chitosan GmbH, Halle, Germany; average molecular weight ~50 kDa) were obtained by dissolving the lyophilized polymer in distilled water without the need for pH adjustment.

Gelatin Zymography

Ten sound human third molars were extracted after obtaining informed consent. The teeth were ground free of enamel, and pulpal tissue was completely removed. Dentin was frozen in liquid nitrogen and triturated to obtain dentin powder by using a Retsch miller (Model MM400, Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany).

Mineralized (MD) dentin was divided into 5 experimental groups (two 100 mg aliquots per group) to be treated with 100 μ L of previously prepared solutions:

Group 1 (MIN): MD left untreated;

Group 2 (DEM): MD was treated with 10 wt% phosphoric acid for 10 min at 4 °C, then the acid was neutralized with 4N NaOH and centrifuged;

Group 3 (1% CH): MD was etched as in Group 3 and then treated with 1% chitosan water solution for 30 min;

Group 4 (0.5% CH): MD was etched as in Group 3 and then treated with 0.5% chitosan water solution for 30 min;

Group 5 (0.1% CH): MD was etched as in Group 3 and then mixed with 0.1% chitosan water solution for 30 min.

After the treatment, dentin aliquots were rinsed twice with distilled water and centrifuged to remove the supernatant. Dentin powder aliquots were stirred with the extraction buffer (50 mM Tris–HCl pH 6 containing 5 mM CaCl2, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.1% nonionic detergent P-40 and 0.1 mM ZnCl2, 0.02% NaN3) for 24h at 4 °C. Thereafter, the aliquots were sonicated for 10 min and then centrifuged twice in order to separate the supernatant (20 min/4 °C/12,000 rpm twice). The protein content was concentrated from the supernatant by using the Vivaspin centrifugal concentrator (10,000 kDa cut off; Vivaspin Sartorius Stedim Biotech, Goettingen, Germany) (30 min/4 °C/10,000 rpm for 3 times). The total protein concentration in the dentin extracts was determined by Bradford assay.

Dentin proteins aliquots from each experimental group (60 µg) were diluted in a Laemmli sample buffer in a 4:1 ratio and electrophoresed under non-reducing conditions in 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) containing 1 mg/mL fluorescein-labeled gelatin. Pre-stained low-range molecular weight SDS-PAGE standards (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) were used as molecular-weight markers. After electrophoresis, the gels were washed twice for 30 min in 2% Triton X-100 and incubated in zymography activation buffer (50 mmol/L Tris–HCl, 5 mmol/L CaCl2, pH 7.4) for 48 h at 37 °C. Gelatinase zymograms were registered under long-wave UV light scanner (ChemiDoc Universal Hood, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Zymograms were quantified by taking a mineralized group as baseline and using the Image J software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA).

In Situ Zymography

Sound extracted third molars (N = 5, sample size determined using G*Power 3.1.9.7 for Windows, Düsseldorf, Germany) were used either within 24 h from the extraction or frozen immediately ($-20 \circ$ C) until use. The enamel and superficial dentin were removed from all the teeth using a high-speed diamond saw with water cooling (Micromet, Remet, Bologna, Italy). When middle dentin was reached, two transversal cuts were made to obtain 1 mm thick slices of middle/deep dentin. These slices were further cut into 4 pieces, adding up to 8 dentin pieces per tooth. In order to test all the groups on the same dentin substrate, one dentin slice from each tooth was assigned to the 8 following groups:

Group 1: Dentin etched with 37% phosphoric acid for 15 s (Vococid, Voco, Cuxhaven, Germany), rinsed thoroughly, blot dried and then primed with the 1 wt% chitosan water solution for 1 min, after which it was gently air-dried for 5 s;

Group 2: Dentin etched and rinsed as in Group 1 and then primed with the 0.5 wt% chitosan water solution for 1 min, after which it was gently air-dried for 5 s;

Group 3: Dentin etched and rinsed as in Group 1 and then primed with the 0.1 wt% chitosan water solution for 1 min, after which it was gently air-dried for 5 s;

Group 4 (control): Dentin etched and rinsed as in Group 1 and gently air dried for 5 s;

Group 5: Dentin etched and pretreated as in Group 1, followed by the application of a universal adhesive system (Futurabond M, Voco, Cuxhaven, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions and polymerized for 10 s using a LED curing unit (Demi, Kerr, Germany) after which a 1 mm thick layer of flowable composite was applied to the bonded surface (Grandio Flow, Voco, Cuxhaven, Germany) and polymerized for 20 s;

Group 6: Dentin etched and pretreated as in Group 2, followed by the adhesive and restorative procedures as in Group 5;

Group 7: Dentin etched and pretreated as in Group 3, followed by the adhesive and restorative procedures as in Group 5;

Group 8 (control): Dentin etched as in Group 4, followed by the adhesive and restorative procedures as in Group 5.

After 24 h storage in the artificial saliva on 37 °C, the dentin specimens were cut into 1 mm thick sticks, glued to glass slides (2 sticks per tooth per group), ground down to approximately 50 µm thickness and subjected to the in situ zymography protocol by Mazzoni et al. (Mazzoni et al., 2012). Briefly, the samples were covered in diluted fluorescein-quenched gelatin, protected with a glass coverslip and kept in a dark humid chamber overnight at 37 °C, after which the specimens were observed by using a confocal microscope (Leica SP8, Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany; excitation/emission wavelength: 488/530 nm). Three images (z-stack, one image after every 1 µm into the depth of the sample) were made for each stick on randomly chosen sites by a blinded operator. Depending on the group, either the pretreated dentin surfaces or the hybrid layers were captured on the images. The integrated density of the fluorescent signal was further measured on all the images using the ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA), and the data were statistically analyzed using SigmaPlot 14.0 (Systat Software Inc., Berkshire, UK). As the data passed the assumptions of normal distribution and homogeneity, two- way ANOVA test was used for the analysis (factors "pretreatment" and "adhesive system application"). The significance level was set at p < 0.05.

<u>Results</u>

Gelatin Zymography

Results of the gelatin zymography are shown in Figure 20. Proteins extracted from mineralized dentin powder (Lane 1) showed the expression of pro-MMP-9 with the corresponding molecular weight of 92 kDa and active form of MMP-9 (at 86 kDa). Moreover, the presence of pro-form and active forms of MMP-2 is evident (72 and 66 kDa, respectively). On the other hand, the demineralization of dentin powder with phosphoric acid (Lane 2) demonstrates an increase in the expression of MMPs, but particularly MMP-2 in pro-form and active forms. The bands are wide and less delineated.

(A)





Figure 20. Zymographic analysis of proteins extracted from dentin powder. (A) Figure showing the differences in the enzymatic expression and activity between the investigated groups presented as light bands in the area of the molecular weights of MMP-2 and MMP-9. (B) Densitometric evaluation of the bands in the different treatment groups.

A lower expression of pro-MMP-9 compared to the control groups was detectable at 1% (lane 3) and 0.5% (lane 4) chitosan groups, and the faintest band was noted at 0.1% CH group (Lane 5). Furthermore, the expression of the 72 kDa MMP-2 pro-form decreased or completely disappeared after treating demineralized dentin with any of the chitosan concentrations tested (1%, 0.5% or 0.1%). In the groups treated with chitosan 0.5% and 1%, there is a faint band at the molecular weight of MMP-2 active form.

In Situ Zymography

The qualitative and quantitative results of the in situ zymography are presented on Figure 21. The gelatinolytic activity in unrestored dentin (Figure 21a–h) is concentrated mostly in the first several microns of the dentin surface (higher activity), as well as in the dentinal tubules (lower activity). The activity within the hybrid layer (Figure 21i-p) is visibly higher in all the groups compared to unrestored dentin, except for the 0.1% chitosan group. The high fluorescence level in the hybrid layers reaches deeper into the dentin tubules (~10 µm). The two-way ANOVA analysis of the quantitative data confirmed the qualitative observations and demonstrated that both investigated factors ("pretreatment" and "adhesive system application"), as well as their interaction, have a statistically significant influence on the gelatinolytic activity within dentin and the hybrid layer (p < 0.05). The intensity of the fluorescent signal significantly differed between all the pretreatments in the following order: 1% chitosan > control > 0.5% chitosan > 0.1% chitosan (p < 0.05). The application of the adhesive in all the pretreatment groups except for the 0.1% chitosan (p > 0.05) increased the density of the fluorescent signal (p < 0.05). Within the groups of unrestored dentin, significant differences were noted between all the groups except for the control and 1% chitosan, as well as 0.5 and 0.1% chitosan (control = 1% chitosan > 0.5% chitosan = 0.1% chitosan), while in the groups bonded with the adhesive and restored with composite resin, only the control group and the 0.5% groups were similar to one another (1% chitosan > control = 0.5% chitosan > 0.1% chitosan).



Figure 21. In situ zymography. (A) Images acquired in the green channel showing fluorescence within the dentin surface (a,c,e,g) and within the HL (i,k,m,o) of the tested groups. Images obtained by merging the differential interference contrast (DIC) image (showing optical density of the resin-dentin interface) and the image acquired in the green channel (b,d,f,h,j,l,n,p). (B) Quantification of the gelatinolytic activity within the dentin and the HL of the tested groups. D—dentin; HL—hybrid layer; R—resin composite.

STUDY 4

Effect of two glutaraldehyde-based desensitizer on dentin in combination with universal adhesives

The aim of this in vitro study was to evaluate the effects of two glutaraldehyde-based solutions (GLUMA Desensitizer and GLUMA Desensitizer PowerGel) Figure 22 on the microtensile bond strength (μ TBS) and endogenous enzymatic activity (MMPs) of simplified universal adhesives (UAs) used in the self-etch mode to dentin.

The null hypotheses were that 5.0% Glutaraldehyde and 35% HEMA in the two GLUMA formulations (gel and liquid):

- does not benefit the bonding performances of two universal adhesives to dentin immediately and after 1 year of laboratory aging.
- 2) does not influence endogenous dentin MMPs activity immediately or over time.



Figure 22

Application on dentin of the two desensitizer, GLUMA Desensitizer (left) and GLUMA Desensitizer Powergel (right).

Materials and Methods

Microtensile bond strength test (µTBS)

Forty-eight freshly extracted non-carious human molars were obtained from anonymous individuals following their informed consent under a protocol approved by the Ethical Committee of the University of the University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy (protocol N°: 71/2019/OSS/AUSLBO). Tooth crowns were removed with a low-speed diamond saw under water cooling (Microremet, Remet, Casalecchio di Reno, Italy) to expose enamel-free middle/deep coronal dentin. Cut dentin surfaces were examined with a stereoscopical microscope to ensure that they were devoid of defects and enamel remnants. A standardized smear layer was created on each dentin surface using #320- grit wet silicon carbide paper and water lubrication.

In the experimental groups, prior to adhesive application, the dentin surfaces were pre-treated for 30 s with one of the following desensitizers available in 2 consistencies (Kulzer GmgH, Hanau, Germany): the liquid GLUMA Desensitizer (L) and the gel GLUMA Desensitizer Powergel (G). After application, the specimens were thoroughly water-rinsed as indicated by the manufacturer. In the control groups, no dentin pretreatment was performed. Then, two universal adhesives were employed for the bonding procedures in the SE mode: IBU - iBond universal (Kulzer), or AU - Adhese Universal (Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein). In the end, the following groups were formed according to the desensitizer/adhesive combination (n=8): 1) L/IBU; 2) G/IBU; 3) IBU (CTRL); 4) L/AU; 5) G/AU; 6 AU (CTRL). Complete details and instructions of the materials used in the study are presented in Table 5.

After polymerization of the respective adhesive, a build-up was created (two 2 mm-thick layers) with a nanohybrid resin composite (Venus Pearl, Kulzer). Light curing of the adhesive resin and each layer of composite resin was performed for 20 s with a light-emitting diode (LED) curing light (ELIPAR[™] DeepCure-S, 3M, St Paul, MN, USA; light output > 1000 mW/cm² and wavelength 430-480 nm).

The bonded specimens were serially sectioned to obtain sticks with ~0.9 mm × ~0.9 mm crosssectional area, following the non-trimming technique of the microtensile bond strength test (μ TBS). The exact dimension of the sticks was measured using a pair of digital calipers. Bond testing was performed after the sticks were aged in artificial saliva at 37°C for 24 h (T0) or 12 months (T12). Each beam was stressed under tension to failure using a simplified bond testing machine (Shear Bond Tester; Bisco, Schaumburg, IL, USA) at a crosshead speed of 1 mm/min. The number of prematurely debonded specimens in each experimental group was recorded. Null bond strength values were not included in the statistical analysis because the number of prematurely debonded sticks did not exceed 3% of the total number of tested specimens and were similarly distributed within the groups. A single observer evaluated each side of the fractured sticks with a stereomicroscope at 50× magnification to determine the mode of failure. Failure was classified as adhesive at the dentin interface (A), cohesive in dentin (CD), cohesive in composite (CC) or mixed failure (M; adhesive and cohesive fractures occurred simultaneously). **Table 5.** Chemical composition of the materials used in the study and bonding procedures.

Material	Composition	Ph	Mode of use
Adhese Universal Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein	MDP, MCAP, HEMA, Bis-GMA, D3MA, Water, Ethanol Highly dispersed silicon dioxide Initiators and Stabilizers	2.5-3	 The adhesive is scrub on dentin for 20 s; Air-spray with oil- and moisture-free compressed air until a glossy, immobile film layer results; Light-cure using a LED light-curing unit for 20 s.
iBOND Universal Kulzer GmgH, Hanau, Germany	Phosphonic acid acrylate, HEMA, D3MA Highly dispersed silica Ethanol Catalysts, stabilizers, fluoride	1.6-1.8	 The adhesive is scrub on dentin for 20 s; Disperse the adhesive with an oil- and moisture-free compressed air until a glossy, immobile film layer result; Light-cure using a LED light-curing unit for 10 s.
GLUMA Desensitizer Kulzer GmgH, Hanau, Germany	Purified water, (HEMA), glutardialdehyde, pyrogenic silicic	3.66	 Apply the desensitizer for 30 - 60 s; Thoroughly rinse off the desensitizer with water spray and dry with oil-free air; Continue with the bonding procedures.
GLUMA Desensitizer Powergel Kulzer GmgH, Hanau, Germany	Purified water, (HEMA), glutardialdehyde, pyrogenic silicic	3.66	 Apply the desensitizer for 30 - 60 s; Thoroughly rinse off the desensitizer with water spray and dry with oil-free air; Continue with the bonding procedures.
VENUS Pearl Kulzer GmgH, Hanau, Germany	Amorphous silica, triethylen glycol dimethacrylate, trimethoxysilylpropyl methacrylate, Phenyl-1,2- propandion, methyl methacrylate, acetic acid	Not defined	

Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) Examination

After μ TBS, two representative debonded sticks per group were selected (with a bond strength value close to the mean value of the group) and prepared for scanning electron microscopy (SEM) evaluation. Each specimen was fixated in a 2.5% glutaraldehyde 0.1 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.4), dehydrated in ascending ethanol solutions (50%, 70%, 80%, 90%, 95% and 100%), and dried using hexamethyldisilazane. Then, they were mounted on aluminum
specimen stubs, coated with 8÷10 nm gold particles and observed under a field-emission gun scanning electron microscope (FEG-SEM; Nova NanoSEM 450; FEI, Eindohoven, NL).

In situ zymography of resin-dentin interfaces

One-millimeter-thick slabs of middle/deep coronal dentin were obtained from four extracted human third molars using a low-speed saw (Micromet) under water-cooling. Two dentin slabs were obtained from each tooth. Each slab was further divided into 4 pieces so that testing of the six experimental groups was performed using the same dentin substrate. A standardized smear layer was created on each dentin surface using #600-grit silicon carbide paper under water cooling. Identical bonding procedures were performed as previously described for the μ TBS forming the same 6 groups (n = 4). Resin-dentin interfaces were exposed by cutting the bonded specimens vertically into 1 mm-thick sticks using the slowspeed saw under water cooling. The sticks were fixed to glass slides with cyanoacrylate glue and polished to obtain ~50 µm thick slabs using a series of wet silicon carbide papers. Selfquenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin was used as the MMP substrate (E-12055, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) for *in situ* zymography at T₀ and T₁₂ (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013). The fluorescent gelatin mixture was placed on top of each slab and covered with a glass coverslip. The slides were incubated in a humidified chamber at 37° C overnight. During incubation, the assemblies were prevented from direct contact with water and were protected from exposure to light. After incubation, the microscopic slides were examined using a confocal laser scanning microscope (excitation wavelength 488 nm; emission wavelength 530 nm; Model A1-R; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). For each specimen, a series of images were made to visualize the hydrolysis of the quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin substrate as an indicator of endogenous gelatinolytic activity. Enzymatic activity was quantified as the integrated density of the fluorescence signals using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

Statistical Analysis

Data sets obtained from bond strength testing and in situ zymography were first validated individually for their normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) and equality of variance (Brown-Forsythe test). For the μ TBS test, as data were normally and equally distributed, the three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to identify the effects of the 3 independent variables involved in the testing: adhesive systems, dentin desensitizer and aging time. Post-hoc pairwise comparisons were conducted using the Tukey test.

Regarding the in situ zymography results, since data were not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk test, P<0.05), they were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test and a Pairwise Multiple Comparison Procedures (Dunn's Method). All analyses were performed using a statistical software (Sigmaplot v.14.0.; StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX, USA) and the statistical significance was preset at $\alpha = 0.05$.

<u>Results</u>

Microtensile bond strength test (µTBS)

Mean microtensile bond strength results and standard deviations of the experimental groups tested at baseline and after 1 year of artificial storage are presented in Table 6. Statistical analysis revealed that dentin pre-treatment, the type of adhesive and aging significantly influenced the results (P<0.05). The interaction between the adhesive and aging was also significant (P=0.048). AU showed higher bond strength compared with IBU (P<0.001). At baseline, specimens pre-treated with L resulted in higher bond strength compared to G (P<0.001) and control group (P<0.001). No statistically significant differences were found between G and the control groups (P=0.556). Laboratory aging statistically decreased bonding values, irrespective of the experimental group (P<0.001). After 1 year of storage in artificial saliva no differences in bond strength were observed between L and G regardless of the adhesive (P=0.001). However, pre-treating dentin with the two desensitizers resulted in higher

bond strength when compared to the controls, independent of the adhesive product used for bonding procedures (P<0.001). Table 7 summarizes the percentage distribution of failure modes identified after μ TBS test at T₀ and T₁₂. A predominance of A failures first, followed by the CC ones was observed in all groups, irrespective of the adhesive and dentin pre-treatment. Notwithstanding, after storage, the type of debondings changed trend with a reduced percentage of A failures and higher CC for pre-treated groups (irrespective of whether it was L or G), except for the control groups that did not show any different tendency (independent of the type of adhesive). A certain percentage of CD and M fractures were observed among groups, with an equal distribution independent of the adhesive, dentin pre-treatment and aging.

Table 6: Summary of microtensile bond strength results obtained from the four experimental groups immediately (T0) and after 12 months of laboratory aging (T12).

Densensitizer/Adhesive	T ₀ (MPa) [†]	T ₁₂ (MPa) [†]
L/IBU	24.03 ± 7.43 ^{c,A}	$24.37 \pm 10.70 \ ^{a,b,A}$
G/IBU	$23.05 \pm 14.26^{c,A}$	$18.57 \pm 10.67 \ ^{b,A}$
IBUCTRL	20.59 ± 6.86 ^{c,A}	$16.59 \pm 7.76^{\ b,A}$
L/AU	$43.16 \pm 10.51 \ ^{\rm a,A}$	30.41 ± 9.55 ^{a,B}
G/AU	32.86 ± 1.63 ^{b,A}	$27.54 \pm 14.95 \ ^{a,A}$
AUCTRL	31.50 ± 11.27 ^{b,A}	$24.51 \pm 11.72 \ ^{a,b,A}$

Abbreviations: L – liquid desensitizing agent GLUMA Desensitizer; G – desensitizing agent GLUMA Desensitizer Powergel; IBU –iBond Universal; AU - Adhese Universal; CTRL – Control: no dentin pretreatment.

Different lower-case letters indicate significant differences within the same column (p < 0.05). Different upper-case letters indicate significant differences within the same row (p < 0.05).

terent upper cuse fetters indicate significant differences within the same row (p < 0

 † Values are means \pm standard deviations, in megaPascals (MPa).

		Failure mode (%)							
						T ₁₂			
	Α	CC	CD	Μ	А	CC	CD	М	
L/IBU	44%	49%	5%	2%	32%	61%	2%	5%	
G/IBU	38%	51%	8%	3%	32%	57%	0%	11%	
IBUCTRL	21%	64%	8%	8%	22%	63%	9%	6%	
L/AU	34%	32%	19%	15%	18%	42%	22%	18%	
G/AU	28%	51%	6%	15%	26%	60%	9%	5%	
AUCTRL	25%	68%	3%	5%	19%	67%	10%	5%	

Table 7. Failure mode distributions and their percentages identified among the experimental groups after bond strength testing at baseline (T_0) and 1 yr of laboratory storage in artificial saliva (T_{12}) .

Failure modes: A – adhesive at the dentin interface; CC - cohesive in composite; CD - cohesive in dentin; M – mixed.

Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) Examinations

Representative SEM images at T_0 and T_{12} are shown in Fig. 23 and 24 respectively (magnifications 200x, 2000x and 5000x). SEM analysis showed the presence of smear layer when no dentin pre-treatment was performed (control groups in Figs 2C and G and Figs 3C and G), especially when compared to the experimental groups where the tubules orifices were mostly visible and wide (Figs 2A,B,D,E and Figs 3A,B,D,E). These situations were observed both at baseline (Fig. 2) and after laboratory storage (Fig.3). Remnants of resin composite bulk were observed in all the experimental groups at baseline showing, however, rough and untight surfaces cautiously indicating mixed failures (Fig.2). Higher concentration of dentinal tubules with larger amount of impregnated resin tags were observed at T_{12} for AU when compared to IBU, irrespective of the desensitizer used (Fig 3D and E). At the same timepoint, IBU revealed a softer and plastic appearance with sparsely distributed bubble formations when it was used after application of the liquid desensitizer or alone (CTRL group) (Fig. 23A and C, respectively). This conformation was only occasionally present when IBU was used after the application of G (Fig. 24B).



Figure 23

Representative field emission scanning electron microscope micrographs of the adhesive interfaces of fractured microtensile bond strength sticks (the dentin side) at baseline (T_0): left, view of the whole adhesive surface; right, enlarged view of the area marked with the red selection. Magnification: 200 x, left; 2000 x, right. (a) L/IBU: mixed failure with the presence of remnants of resin composite. (b) G/IBU: mixed debondings with the present of resin composite still attached on the dentin surface. (c) IBUCTRL: mixed failure, the presence of soft-appearance material was noted over the dentin surface. (d)L/AU: this group showed the highest percentage of mixed failures among groups at baseline. (e) G/AU: mixed failure, with the presence of sparsely distributed resin tags occluding dentinal tubules. (f) AUCTRL: mixed failures.

A, adhesive resin; D, dentin;



Figure 24

Representative field emission scanning electron microscope micrographs of the adhesive interfaces of aged (T_{12}) fractured microtensile bond strength sticks (the dentin side): left, view of the whole adhesive surface; right, enlarged view of the area marked with the red selection. Magnification: 200 x, left; 5000 x, right. (a) L/IBU: mixed fracture, with the presence of a porous with internmittent bubbles cross overing the resin. (b) G/IBU: mixed failure with some resin tags and sparsely distributed soft resin remnants. (c) IBUCTRL: mixed fracture with some opened dentinal tubules with no evident resin penetration. The surface was also characterized by the presence of plastic filaments, rendering the surface rough and irregular. (d) L/AU: mixed failure showing exposed dentinal tubules with thin extruding resin tags formations. (e) G/AU: mixed failure with the presence of opened dentinal tubules intermittently occluded by thin and sparse resin impregnation. (f) AUCTRL: mixed failure with the presence of smear layer on the dentin surface occluding the underneath tubule orifices.

A, adhesive resin; D, dentin; Black arrow, resin tag in the dentinal tubule.

In situ zymography

Representative confocal images of the tested groups are shown in Figures 25 and 26 for time T_0 and T_{12} , respectively. The percentages of HLs exhibiting hydrolysis of the quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin at T_0 and T_{12} are shown in Figure 27. The green fluorescence signals at T_0 identified from the AU control group were statistically lower compared to those exhibited by the L/AU group (P<0,001), whilst G/IBU showed statistically higher levels of fluorescence than IBU (CTRL) group (P=0,022). In all the tested groups, the fluorescence density level was lower after aging. At T_{12} all the groups tested showed comparable endogenous enzymatic activity irrespective of the adhesive and the desensitizing agent used (P>0.05).



Figure 25

Resin-bonded mid-coronal dentin interfaces prepared with L/IBU (a) G/IBU (b), IBUCTRL (c), L/AU (d), G/AU (e) and AUCTRL (f) at T₀, incubated with quenched fluorescein-labeled gelatin. All the images were acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence (identifying intense endogenous enzymatic activity) in dentinal tubules and within the HL.

D = Dentin; HL = Hybrid Layer; R = Resin Composite.



Figure 26

Resin-bonded mid-coronal dentin interfaces prepared with L/IBU (a) G/IBU (b), IBUCTRL (c), L/AU (d), G/AU (e) and AUCTRL (f) at T12, incubated with quenched fluorescein-labeled gelatin. All the images are acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence (identifying intense endogenous enzymatic activity) in dentinal tubules and within the HL.

D = Dentin; HL = Hybrid Layer; R = Resin Composite.



Figure 27

Quantification (Pixels/um2) of the fluorescence obtained in the different groups at T0 and T12 by means of in situ zymography showing reduced enzymatic activity in all T12 groups irrespective from the adhesive and desensitizing agent used.

STUDY 5

Bonding to dentin using an experimental zirconium oxynitrate etchant

An experimental zirconium oxynitrate conditioner [ZrO (NO3)2] has recently been introduced to adhesive dentistry. Zirconium oxynitrate has only been used previously in applied chemistry or as a radiopacifying material in endodontic cements (Camilleri et al., 2011). Promising results have recently been reported when ZrO(NO3)2 was used as an enamel etchant, in combination with different adhesive systems (Yao et al., 2019). Introduction of an etching product that can dissolve the inorganic component of dentin, reduce nanoleakage and inhibit MMP-mediated proteolytic activity at the resin-dentin interface is highly desirable to maintain bond stability over time (Pashley et al., 2004).

Capitalizing on the aforementioned considerations, the objectives of the present *in vitro* study were to evaluate the immediate (T0) *vs* 1 year (T12) microtensile bond strength to dentin, interfacial nanoleakage expression and the effects of endogenous enzymatic activity on hybrid layers created by two simplified adhesive systems (one single-component etch-and-rinse adhesive and one universal adhesive). These adhesives were applied to dentin after the latter was conditioned with a H3PO4 acid etchant or an experimental ZrO(NO3)2 etchant.

The null hypothesis tested were that the experimental ZrO(NO3)2 etchant:

- 1) has no effect on the immediate bonding performance of the tested ad- hesives to dentin;
- 2) has no effect on the maintenance of bonding per- formance after laboratory aging; and
- 3) has no effect on inhibiting endogenous dentin MMPs activity immediately or over time.

Material and methods

Microtensile bond strength test (\mu TBS)

Sixty-four freshly extracted non-carious human third molars were obtained from anonymous individuals following their informed consent. The project protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee (protocol N°: 71/2019/OSS/AUSLBO, approved on 23/01/2019). Tooth crowns were removed with a low-speed diamond saw under water cooling (Microremet, Remet, Bologna, Italy) to expose deep cor onal dentin. Cut dentin surfaces were examined with a stereoscopical microscope to ensure that they were devoid of enamel remnants. A standardized smear layer was created on each dentin surface using 600- grit wet silicon carbide paper and water lubrication. Dentin conditioning was performed with 37 % H3PO4 – TE (Total Etch; Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein) or an experimental zirconium oxynitrate gel (ZON) (Ivoclar Vivadent). After dentin etching, a universal adhesi – AU (Adhese Universal; Ivoclar Vivadent) was used in the etch-and-rinse mode. Alternatively, a single-component etchand-rinse adhesive – EF (Excite F; Ivoclar Vivadent) was used in the etch-and-rinse mode. This resulted in the establishment of 4 experimental groups (n = 16): 1) ZON + AU; 2) TE + AU; 3) ZON + EF; 4) TE + EF. The chemical composition of the adhesives and etchants and their instructions for use are shown in Table 8.

Material	Composition	Ph	Mode of use
Adhese Universal Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein	MDP, MCAP, HEMA, Bis-GMA, D3MA, Water, Ethanol Highly dispersed silicon dioxide Initiators and Stabilizers	2.5 - 3	 The adhesive is scrub on dentin for 20 s; Air-spray with oil- and moisture-free compressed air until a glossy, immobile film layer results; Light-cure using a LED light- curing unit for 20 s.
Excite F Ivoclar Vivadent	Phosphonic acid acrylate, HEMA, D3MA, ethanol, highly dispersed silica, catalysts, initiator and stabilizers, fluoride	2.5	 After acid etching, apply adhesive on dentin and agitate for at least 10 s; Thin the adhesive with an oil- and moisture-free compressed air until a glossy, immobile film is obtained; Light-cure using a LED light- curing unit for 20 s.
Experimental etchant (ZON) Ivoclar Vivadent	ZrO(NO3)2, water, glycerol, fumed silica, polyethylene oxide	0.56	 Apply ZON and allow it to interact with the tooth surface without agitation for 30 s; Thoroughly rinse off the etchant with water spray and dry with oil- free air; Continue with bonding procedures.
Total Etch Ivoclar Vivadent	Phosphoric acid (37 wt% in water), thickening agent and color pigments	0.1-0.4	 Apply the etchant and allow it to interact with the tooth surface without agitation for 15 s; Thoroughly rinse off the etchant with water spray and dry with oil- free air. Continue with bonding procedures.

Table 8: Chemical composition of the materials used in the study and bonding procedures.

Abbreviations: Bis-GMA - bisphenol A-glycidyl methacrylate; D3MA - dec- andiol dimethacrylate; HEMA – 2- hydroxyethyl methacrylate; LED – light emitting diode; MCAP - methacrylated carboxylic acid polymer; MDP - meth- acryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate.

After polymerization of the respective adhesive, a 4 mm-thick layer of composite buildup was performed with a nanohybrid resin composite (Tetric Evo Ceram Bulk Fill, Ivoclar Vivadent). Light curing was per- formed for 20 s with a light-emitting diode curing light (DemiPlus; Kerr Corp., Orange, CA, USA) with an output of 500 mW/cm2. The bonded specimens were serially sectioned to obtain beams with ~0.9 mm × ~0.9 mm cross-sectional area, in accordance with the non- trimming technique of the microtensile test. Bond testing was performed after the beams were aged in artificial saliva at 37 °C for 24 h (T0) or 1 year (T12). The exact dimension of each beam was measured using a pair of digital calipers. Each beam was stressed under tension to failure using a simplified bond testing machine (Shear Bond Tester; Bisco, Schaumburg, IL, USA) at a crosshead speed of 1 mm/min. The number of prematurely debonded beams in each experimental group was recorded. Null bond strength values were not included in the statistical analysis because the number of prematurely debonded beams did not exceed 3% of the total number of tested specimens and were similarly distributed within the groups. A single observer evaluated each side of the fractured sticks with a stereomicroscope at 50× magnification to determine the mode of failure. Failure was classified as adhesive (A), cohesive in dentin (CD), cohesive in composite (CC) or mixed failure (M).

Nanoleakage expression

Four additional teeth per group were sectioned into 1 mm-thick slices of mid-coronal dentin and bonded in the manner described for the μ TBS test. After bonding, 1 mm-thick resin composite build-ups were made using TetricEvo Flow (Ivoclar Vivadent). The specimens were sectioned vertically into 1-mm thick beams to expose the bonding sur- faces. Half of the beams were stored in the artificial saliva at 37 ° C for 24 h (T0). The remaining half was stored the artificial saliva for 12 months (T12). After aging, the specimens were immersed in 50 wt% ammoniacal AgNO3 solution for 24 h, following the protocol described by Tay et al. (F.R. Tay et al., 2002). The silver tracer infiltrated specimens were thoroughly rinsed with distilled water and immersed in a photo-developing solution for 8 h under a fluorescent light to reduce silver ions that infiltrated voids along the bonded interfaces into metallic silver grains.

Each specimen was fixed to a glass slab and polished with a polishing device (LS2; Remet) under water irrigation. Polishing was performed using a series of silicon carbide papers with increasing fineness (180-, 600-, 1200-, 2400-, and 4000-grit). Observations were made using a light microscope (E800; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). Images of the resin- dentin interfaces were obtained at 20x magnification. The severity of interfacial nanoleakage was quantified using a four-point scale by one experienced investigator. Scoring was performed using the method described by Saboia et al. (Saboia et al., 2008) with the scores representing the percentage distribution of silver deposits within the resin-dentin interfaces.

Gelatin zymography

Zymography was performed using the method reported by Mazzoni et al. (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013). Briefly, mineralized dentin powder was obtained from eight extracted human third molars. Each tooth was ground free of enamel and cementum; pulpal soft tissue was removed with excavators and hand files. Dentin powder was obtained by freezing dentin chips in liquid nitrogen and triturating them in a ball mill (Retsch Mill; Reimiller, Reggio Emilia, Italy). The mineralized dentin powder was pooled, sieved, dried and kept frozen until use. Aliquots of mineralized dentin powder were divided into 3 groups:

Group 1: Mineralized dentin control (C);

Group 2: Dentin powder demineralized with ZON for 10 min (ZON);

Group 3: Dentin powder demineralized with TE for 10 min (TE).

In the groups treated with a liquid etchant, the acid was neutralized after 10 min and centrifuged. The supernatant was removed and the powder was rinsed 2 more times with distilled water and re-centrifuged for 20 min at 4 °C. For protein extraction, dentin powder aliquots were re-suspended in extraction buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 6, containing 5 mM CaCl2, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1 % Triton X-100, 0.1 % nonionic detergent P-40, 0.1 mM ZnCl2 and 0.02 % NaN3) for 24h at 4 °C. The dentin powder-containing buffers were intermittently sonicated for 10 min and centrifuged for 20 min at 4 °C. The supernatants were discarded and recentrifuged. The extracted proteins were concentrated using Vivaspin centrifugal concentrator (10 kDa molecular weight cut-off; Vivaspin Sartorius Stedim Biotech, Goettingen, Germany) for 30 min at 25 °C (15 G × 3 times). Total protein concentration in the dentin extracts was determined using the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad Bradford Protein Assay; Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Dentin proteins aliquots (60 µg each) were diluted in Laemmli sample buffer in a 4:1 ratio and subjected to electrophoresis under non-reducing conditions in 10 % sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) containing 1 mg/mL fluorescein-labeled gelatin. Pre-stained, low-range molecular weight SDS-PAGE standards (Bio-Rad) were used as molecular-weight markers. After electrophoresis, the gels were washed for 1 h in 2 % Triton X-100 and incubated in zymography activation buffer (50 mmol/L Tris-HCl, 5 mmol/L CaCl2, pH 7.4) for 48 h. Proteolytic activity was evaluated using an ultraviolet light scanner (ChemiDoc Universal Hood, Bio-Rad). Gelatinase activities in the

extracts were analyzed in duplicate. Images were qualitatively examined and gelatinase activities were quantified using an image processing software (ImageJ; National Insti- tute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

In situ zymography of resin-dentin interfaces

One-millimeter-thick slabs of middle/deep coronal dentin were obtained from three extracted human third molars using a low-speed saw (Micromet) with water-cooling. Two dentin slabs were obtained from each tooth. Each slab was further divided into 2 pieces, so that testing of the four experimental groups was performed using the same dentin substrate. A standardized smear layer was created on each dentin surface using 600-grit silicon carbide paper under water cooling. The specimens were then randomly assigned to the same 4 groups (n = 3) described for µTBS. Identical bonding procedures were performed as previously described. Each bonded specimen was light-cured for 20 s using a light emission diode lightcuring unit (Demi Plus). Resin-dentin interfaces were exposed by cutting the bonded specimens vertically into 1 mm-thick sticks using the slow-speed saw under water cooling. The sticks were affixed to glass slides with cyanoacrylate glue, and polished to obtain \sim 50 µm-thick slabs using a series of wet silicon carbide papers. Self-quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin was used as the MMP substrate (E-12055, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) for in situ zymography at the baseline (T0) and after 12 months (T12) of storage in artificial saliva at 37 °C, as previously described (Comba et al., 2019b). The fluorescent gelatin mixture was placed on top of each slab and covered with a glass coverslip. The slides were incubated in a humidified chamber at 37 °C overnight. During incubation, the assemblies were prevented from direct contact with water and were protected from exposure to light. After incubation, the microscopic slides were examined using a confocal laser scanning microscope (excitation wavelength 488 nm; emission wavelength 530 nm; Model A1-R; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). For each specimen, a series of images were made to visualize hydrolysis of the quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin substrate as an indicator of endogenous gelatinolytic activity. Enzymatic activity was quantified as the integrated density of the fluorescence signals using ImageJ software.

Statistical analyses

Data sets obtained from bond strength testing, nanoleakage evaluation and in situ zymography were first validated individually for their normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) and homoscedasticity assumptions (modified Levene test) prior to the use of parametric statistical methods for analysis. Three independent variables were involved in μ TBS testing: adhesive systems, dentin conditioners and aging time. Accordingly, a three-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to identify the effects of the three independent variables on bond strength. Post-hoc pairwise comparisons were conducted using the Tukey test. The nano-leakage results were analyzed using Chi-squared test. Data derived from in situ zymography were analyzed with one-factor ANOVA and post-hoc Tukey test. All analyses were performed using a statistical software (Stata v.12.0.; StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX, USA). For all analyses, statistical significance was preset at $\alpha = 0.05$.

<u>Results</u>

Microtensile bond strength test (\mu TBS)

Bond strength values at T0 and T12 are depicted in Table 9. Three- way ANOVA test showed that all the investigated factors (adhesive systems, dentin conditioners and aging), significantly influenced bond strength results (p < 0.05). In addition, significant interactions were identified between adhesive systems and dentin conditioners (p < 0.05) and between adhesive systems and aging (p < 0.05). At T0, ZON/AU had the highest mean bond strength among the tested groups (p < 0.05). No differences were observed among TE/AU, ZON/EF and TE/EF. Significant difference in bond strength was observed after laboratory aging (p < 0.05). Pairwise comparisons indicated that bond strength values after aging were in the order: ZON/AU = TE/AU > TE/AU = ZON/EF > ZON/EF = TE/EF (p < 0.05). Compared with the immediate bond strength results, bond strength significantly declined for all groups (p < 0.05) after laboratory aging except for TE/AU.

Adhesive/Densensitizer	T ₀ (MPa) [†]	T12 (MPa) [†]		
ZON/AU	$54.3 \pm 15.0 \text{ a,A}$	$43.9\pm14.2\text{ a,B}$		
TE/AU	$39.1 \pm 14.2 \text{ b,A}$	36.0 ± 14.1 a,b,A		
ZON/EF	42.1 ± 17.9 b,A	$26.9\pm14.3~\text{b,c,B}$		
TE/EF	$37.9 \pm 16.2 \text{ b,A}$	$20.8\pm14.8~\text{c,B}$		

Table 9: Summary of microtensile bond strength results obtained from the four experimental groups immediately (T0) and after 12 months of laboratory aging (T12).

Abbreviations: ZON - experimental zirconia oxynitrate [ZrO(NO3)2] etchant; TE - Total Etch conventional 37 % phosphoric acid (H3PO4) etchant; AU - universal adhesive Adhese Universal; EF - 2-step self-etch adhesive Excite F.

Different lower-case letters indicate significant differences within the same column (p < 0.05).

Different upper-case letters indicate significant differences within the same row (p < 0.05).

 \dagger Values are means \pm standard deviations, in megaPascals (MPa).

Table 9 summarizes the percentage distribution of different failure modes identified after μ TBS test at T0 and T12. Whereas at T0 for all groups but TE/AU the majority of the failures were adhesive, followed by mixed failures and cohesive in resin composite, at T12, there were less mixed fractures and, especially in the AU groups, more cohesive failure in resin composite, irrespective of the dentin conditioner employed. After aging in the ZON/EF group there an increment in the adhesive failures.

Failure mode (%)								
	T ₀			T12				
	А	CC	CD	М	А	CC	CD	М
ZON/AU	43%	34%	0%	23%	19%	73%	6%	2%
TE/AU	28%	43%	6%	24%	24%	61%	11%	4%
ZON/EF	57%	22%	2%	20%	81%	11%	3%	5%
TE/EF	47%	21%	8%	25%	52%	32%	0%	16%

Table 9: Failure mode distributions and their percentages identified from the four experimental groups after bond strength testing at T0 and T12.

Failure modes: A - adhesive; CC - cohesive in composite; CD - cohesive in dentin; M – mixed. Abbreviations: ZON - experimental ZrO(NO3)2 etchant; TE - Total Etch 37 % H3PO3; AU - Adhese Universal adhesive; EF - Excite F adhesive.

Nanoleakage expression

Interfacial nanoleakage scores are summarized in Figure 28. Representative light microscopy images of nanoleakage expression for the four experimental groups tested at T0 or T12 are shown in Figures 29 and 30, respectively. The Chi-squared test indicated differences among the experimental groups in the percentage of silver deposition along the resin-dentin interfaces. At T0, there was no difference in nanoleakage expression among the experimental groups. There were more extensive silver deposits along the resin-dentin interfaces after the specimens were aged for 12 months (T12), compared with T0 (p < 0.05) and this manifestation was independent of the tested group. When the etchants were compared, the two groups that were etched with TE had more extensive interfacial silver deposits compared to the ZON groups (p < 0.05).



Figure 28: Percentage of interfacial nanoleakage expression in resin-dentin interfaces created among the different groups, at T0 and T12.



Figure 29. Representative light microscopy images (20x magnification) of the tested materials in the experimental conditions and submitted to nanoleakage with silver nitrate after 24 h of storage in artificial saliva (T0). D = Dentin; HL = Hybrid Layer; C = Composite. Arrows indicate areas of silver nitrate particles deposition.



Figure 30. Representative light microscopy images (20x magnification) of the tested materials in the experimental conditions and submitted to nanoleakage with silver nitrate after 12 months of storage in artificial saliva (T12). D = Dentin; HL = Hybrid Layer; C = Composite. Arrows indicate areas of silver nitrate particles deposition.

Gelatin zymography

Zymography results are shown in Figure 31a and b. Qualitative and quantitative zymography assays identified the proform and active form of MMP-9 (\approx 92 kDa and 86 kDa, respectively) in mineralized dentin. Expression of MMP-9 was more pronounced in dentin demineralized with TE. In addition, an extra band that corresponded to the molecular weight of active MMP-2 was observed at \approx 66 kDa. Dentin demineralized with ZON showed bands that corresponded to the molecular weight of pro-MMP-9, the intensity of which was slightly lower that what was presented in the TE-demineralized dentin. There was complete inhibition of MMP-2 and MMP-9 active forms.



Figure 31. a) Zymographic analysis of proteins extracted from dentin powder. L1: Standards (STD); L2: mineralized dentin (MIN) showing the presence of activity of pro-form of MMP-9 (92 kDa) and active form of MMP- 2 (66 kDa); L3: demineralized dentin powder (DDP) showing an increase of MMP-9 (86 kDa) and the higher activity of the active form of MMP-2 (66 kDa); L4: Dentin powder demineralized with ZON showing inhibition of MMP-9 and MMP-2 activity. b) Graph illustrating the densitometric evaluation of bands obtained from the zymographic analysis of proteins extracted from dentin powder.

In situ zymography of resin-dentin interfaces

Qualitative and quantitative in situ zymography results are shown in Figures 32–34. The green fluorescence signals identified from the AU groups at T0 and T12 were lower compared to those exhibited by the EF groups. All groups demonstrated the general tendency of augmented protease activity after aging. Statistical analysis indicated that experimental groups treated with ZON had significantly lower levels of fluorescence at T0, compared to TE, irrespective of the bonding system employed (p < 0.05). After aging, there was also less fluorescence for ZON-etched dentin for the AU adhesive (p < 0.05). However, fluorescence in the ZON-etched dentin and TE-etched dentin that were bonded with the EF self-etch adhesive were very high and there was no difference between these two groups at T12 (Fig. 21, 3rd and 4th green columns; p > 0.05).



Figure 32. Resin-bonded mid-coronal dentin interfaces prepared with ZON/AU (a and e), TE/AU (b and f), ZON/EF (c and g) and TE/EF (d and h) at T0, incubated with quenched fluorescein-labeled gelatin. (a) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence (identifying intense endogenous enzymatic activity) in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with ZON/AU; (b) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with TE/ AU; (c) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with TE/ AU; (c) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with ZON/EF; (d) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with TE/EF; (e) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/AU obtained by merging differential interference contrast image (showing the optical density of the resin-dentin interface) and image acquired in green channel; (f) Image of the HL created by the application of TE/AU obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (g) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (h) Image of the HL created by the application of TE/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (h) Image of the HL created by the application of TE/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel. D = Dentin; HL = Hybrid Layer; R = Resin Composite.



Figure 33. Resin-bonded mid-coronal dentin interfaces prepared with ZON/AU (a,e), TE/AU (b,f), ZON/EF (c,g) and TE/EF (d,h) at T12, incubated with quenched fluorescein-labeled gelatin. (a) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence (identifying intense endogenous enzymatic activity) in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with ZON/AU; (b) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with TE/AU; (c) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with TE/AU; (c) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with ZON/EF; (d) Image acquired in green channel, showing fluorescence in dentinal tubules and within the HL created with TE/EF; (e) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/AU obtained by merging differential interference contrast image (showing the optical density of the resin-dentin interface) and image acquired in green channel; (f) Image of the HL created by the application of TE/AU obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (g) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (g) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (h) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (g) Image of the HL created by the application of ZON/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; (h) Image of the HL created by the application of TE/EF obtained by merging differential interference contrast image and image acquired in green channel; R = Resin Composite.



Figure 34. In situ zymography quantification at T0 and T12 showing reduced enzymatic activity in ZON groups when used in association with both AU and EF adhesive systems.

The present series of studies aimed to investigate the effect of various collagen crosslinkers on dentin protease activity and their effect on bond-strength to the dentinal substrate. Thus, selected collagen crosslinkers were tested to determine their effect on MPa values on coronal and radicular dentine, the marginal infiltration at the resin dentin interfaces, the presence of endogenous enzymatic activity after treatment and the localization of the gelatinase activity in dentin. Additionally, the effect of the cross-linkers and the effect of treatment period (duration) on the degradation of collagen matrices were examined.

The presented thesis demonstrated that the cross-linkers employed were efficient in preserving bond strength after 12 months or 5 years of aging and hybrid layer integrity after aging in vitro in artificial saliva at 37°C when used as a separate primer on demineralized dentin. Hence, the first hypothesis can be rejected. The enzymatic activity was lower in all experimental groups when associated at demineralized dentin, at baseline, as well as after aging (for 1 year and 5 years) with a slight influence of the bonding mode. In the cases when the cross-linking agent was utilized on mineralized dentin before the adhesive procedures, the bond preservation was similar to the other groups. Hence, the second hypothesis of the thesis can be partially rejected.

Discussion

Over the last few years, the experimental use of collagen cross-linking agents to increase the longevity of resin-dentin bonds gained increased popularity. The use of cross-linkers can be considered as a biological tissue engineering approach where dentin tissue repair/regeneration is the development of a biomimetic strategy to enhance the tissue properties by modifying the chemistry of the tissue (Breschi et al., 2010b). The biomodification of the existing tooth hard tissue structures is a novel approach to improve the biomechanical properties of the tissue for preventive and reparative/restorative purposes. The approach was thought to be determined by non- enzymatic inter- or intra-molecular collagen cross-linking (Pashley et al., 2004). However, the multiple interactions between bioactive agents with various extracellular components of the dentin matrix are likely the determinants of the tissue enhanced biomechanics and biostability. Therefore, the term biomodification is more appropriate to define the bioactivity of these highly bioactive chemical mediators.

Influence of Collagen Cross-Linkers on microtensile bond-strength

The present study demonstrated that increased bond strength can be obtained by the additional use of different biochemical cross-linkers in association to different dentin bonding adhesive systems both on coronal and radicular dentin. The ability of the tested cross-linking agents in increasing the bond strength of the adhesive interface with several bonding agents, both on coronal and radicular dentin, was assessed through microtensile bond strength test and the cross-linkers application period was established in 1 min according to the finding published by Tezvergil-Mutluay et al. (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013), and with the intention to test a contact time period feasible in clinical practice. Previous studies investigated the use of different crosslinkers, such as glutaraldehyde, chitosan, proanthocidin and EDC, as biomodifying agents, although the application time required to be effective (10 min to several hours) (Mazzoni et al., 2014; D. Pashley et al., 2011) could not be considered clinically acceptable. For this reason, more recent studies concerning the use of EDC were conducted to evaluate the capabilities to increase the mechanical properties of the etching-dentin matrix within 1 min application time, revealing that this short application time is sufficient to inactivate endogenous protease activity of dentin without significantly stiffening the collagen matrix (Mazzoni et al., 2014). These findings were further confirmed by a recent study conducted by Mazzoni et al. (Mazzoni et al., 2014) demonstrating that 1 min or even 30s is an adequate timing to positively influence the durability of resin-dentin bond over time.

Bond strength tests are the most frequently used tests to screen adhesives. A tensile bond strength test is defined "microtensile" when the bonded surface analyzed is 1 mm2 or less. The microtensile bond strength test is calculated as the tensile load at failure divided by the crosssectional area of the bonded interface (Mazzoni et al., 2012).

In the present thesis, in order to reproduce the oral environment as realistically as possible the specimens were stored in artificial saliva solution at 37°C.

Many studies in literature demonstrated that bond strength values decrease even after brief period of storage (Nascimento et al., 2011; Saboia et al., 2008; Franklin R. Tay et al., 2002) and Pashley et al. (D. Pashley et al., 2011) demonstrated that the degradation of the hybrid layer can occur also in absence of bacteria. Furthermore, several in vitro studies have provided morphological evidence of resin elution and/or hydrolytic degradation of collagen in resin-dentin bonds and highlighted that the adhesion interface area is inversely proportional to the bond strength maintenance, in the same time-line storage (Armstrong et al., 2001; Hosaka et al., 2009). Hence, this technique of storage could be considered as a method of accelerating aging.

The advantage of using cross-linking instead of MMPs inhibitors to preserve the integrity of the exposed collagen matrix within the hybrid layer is that the covalent cross-links formed by cross linking agents are permanent, whereas inhibitors that are not covalently bonded with the polymerised resin network may leach out of the hybrid layer after 18-24 months (Hashimoto et al., 2000; Komori et al., 2009; Sadek et al., 2010). Cross-linking agents increase collagen stiffness by creating interfibrillar and intrafibrillar cross-links, thereby strengthening the collagen network structure (Frassetto et al., 2016). This may prevent unravelling of the triple helix of collagen molecules, which is necessary for exposure of the catalytic site of the MMPs to cleave the collagen molecule. This results in the increase in resistance of the collagen matrix to MMP activities (Chung et al., 2004).

The present thesis demonstrated for the first time that EDC pretreatment retained significantly higher bond strength values, even after 5 y of accelerated aging in artificial saliva. In the conducted study, EDC was more efficient in bond strength preservation when applied with an etch-and-rinse adhesive, probably due to differences in the application mode and properties of the adhesive. In etch-and-rinse adhesive systems, dentin is etched, rinsed, and then pretreated with the EDC aqueous solution, enabling the cross-linker to interact freely with collagen molecules, with an abundance of collagen substrate to cross-link and exposed MMPs to inactivate (Mazzoni et al., 2006). We can speculate that during the course of aging, EDC may still exert its cross-linking potential in the resin-sparse, water-rich layer of collagen fibrils

at the bottom of the hybrid layer. As compared with an etch-and-rinse adhesive, separate EDC pretreatment associated with the use of a self-etch adhesive is conducted after placement of the self-etching primer on dentin. EDC may not be as efficient in diffusing through a bed of partially demineralized collagen fibrils that has been infiltrated with a mixture of water and resin. Moreover, CSE bond contains 10-methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate, an acidic phosphate monomer with the purported ability to bind chemically to dentin (Van Meerbeek et al., 2011). The HLs created with this system are thinner since the penetration of the acidic monomer is shallower, with better dentin hybridization than an etch-and-rinse adhesive (Breschi et al., 2004). In addition, there is likely to be less exposed MMPs for the EDC to inactivate and less denuded collagen fibrils to cross-link, as demonstrated in the SEM failure analysis, with dentin tubules occluded by smear layer, as compared with the etch-andrinse groups, which presented open dentin tubules and exposed sparse denuded collagen fibrils (Figures 1, 2). The present EDC-priming protocol appears to be clinically feasible, considering that EDC is a compound with low trans- dentinal cytotoxicity (Scheffel et al., 2015) and it prolongs the adhesive procedure for merely 1 min. Clinical trials are necessary to confirm the effectiveness of EDC in the preservation of resin-dentin bonds over time. Incorporation of EDC as a component of dentin adhesive systems may result in simplification of the clinical application procedure, making it more appealing to dental practitioners.

Also, a second cross-linking molecule has been tested in this research work both on coronal and radicular dentin, the dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC). DCC is a crosslinker belonging to the same family of EDC, which activates carboxylic groups for the spontaneous formation of peptide bonds with primary amines. It differentiates from EDC because of the different solubility. Hence, EDC is soluble in water, while DCC in organic solvents. In the present study, the cross linker was tested in a 0.5M ethanol solution and the results on coronal and radicular dentin were in accordance with that obtained for EDC. No influence was detected on immediate bond-strength, while a preservation of the values was obtained in the experimental groups after one year of aging in artificial saliva.

EDC and DCC have demonstrated to be primers exploitable for the clinical practice use. DCC could be very promising since its hydrophobicity and its solubility in acetone or ethanol. Indeed, water molecules present in the HL are responsible of the ester-bonds in adhesive polymers and peptide bonds in collagen causing the failure of resin-tooth interface. For this reason, many studies focused on the concept of "ethanol-wet bonding" which provides an opportunity for coaxing hydrophobic monomers into a demineralized collagen matrix without sacrificing any additional matrix shrinkage. Infiltration of hydrophobic monomers into a collagen matrix decreases water sorption/solubility, resin plasticization, and enzymecatalyzed hydrolytic cleavage of collagen (Hosaka et al., 2007; Sadek et al., 2010), thereby creating more durable resin bonds. Sauro et al. (Sauro et al., 2009) demonstrated that ethanol wet-bonding is capable of increasing resin uptake and producing better sealing of the collagen matrix, even with the use of hydrophilic adhesives. The presence of ethanol probably also increases the degree of conversion of the hydrophilic adhesives.

Several studies have also investigated the effect of glutaraldehyde, on the mechanical properties of the dentine organic matrix, as well as on the preservation of the hybrid layer (Bedran-Russo et al., 2008, 2007; Chen et al., 2016; Hass et al., 2016; Hiraishi et al., 2013; R. Liu et al., 2011; Seseogullari-Dirihan et al., 2015) Glutaraldehyde improves the mechanical properties and reduces the degradation rate of biological tissues (Nimni, 1988; H. Sung et al., 1999). Glutaraldehyde increases type I collagen covalent bonding by bridging the amino groups of lysine and hydroxylysine residues of different collagen polypeptide chains with monomeric or oligomeric cross-links. The exogenous cross-links introduced by glutaraldehyde improve the mechanical properties of the exposed dentine matrix (Bedran-Russo et al., 2010, 2007; Macedo et al., 2009).

A desensitizing agent called GLUMA desensitizer (Heraeus Kulzer GmgH, Hanau, Germany) or in its Gel composition GLUMA desensitizer power gel (Heraeus Kulzer GmgH), containing purified water, hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) 35%, glutardialdehyde 5% -10% and pyrogenic silicic (Chu and Lo, 2010; Wang et al., 2010) have been proposed on the market as dentin desensitizer to reduce postoperative sensitivity. This material has been proven effective as a desensitizer applied on exposed and sensitive dentine (Sayed et al., 2021; Schüpbach et al., 1997). Its desensitizing effects are to be ascribed mainly to its components, HEMA and Glutaraldehyde. HEMA is a resin that penetrates within the dentinal tubules and physically seals them. Because HEMA is soluble in water, it fosters permeation of the glutaraldehyde in the tubules and enables in-depth action (Rajnekar et al., 2022). The desensitizing effects of glutaraldehyde are not the sole positive effects ascribed to GLUMA. Indeed, it contains glutaraldehyde, with its already described cross-linking properties on the demineralized collagen matrix if utilized before adhesive application. GLUMA desensitizer has also already shown to perform well in terms of bond strength when in association with etch and rinse adhesives and self-adhesive cements (Aranha et al., 2006; Sailer et al., 2012). However, little is known about the effect of glutaraldehyde used as dentin pretreatment on the bond strength and enzymatic interaction of self-etch adhesives. For this reason, the study presented, analyzed the effects of the application of this desensitizing agent in two formulations

on the bond strength on dentin before adhesion procedures with two universal adhesives in the self-etch mode.

According to our results, better stability of the hybrid layer was observed when the desensitizers were applied compared to the control group, irrespective of the type of adhesive.

As already stated, HEMA is a water-soluble monomer present in most current hydrophilic dental adhesives to facilitate resin infiltration in the moist dentin substrate and to facilitate the reaction with dentin collagen due to its ester and hydroxyl groups (Xu et al., 1997). Indeed, HEMA was found to decrease surface tension of water molecules and subsequently increase monomer penetration into dentin facilitating the diffusion of the hydrophilic resin monomer into the tubules, and improving the efficacy of the resin-dentin bonds (Nakabayashi et al., 1992). Previously, products containing glutaraldehyde and HEMA in their formulations have demonstrated the formation of a collagen-glutaraldehyde layer at the dentin/desensitizer interfaces ready to chemically interact with HEMA molecules (Munksgaard and Asmussen, 1984). Eventually, copolymerization occurs between the adhesive and HEMA complexes increasing the resin-dentin bonding performances (Munksgaard and Asmussen, 1984; Qin et al., 2006), and this may explain the enhanced experimental groups' bond strength in the present study.

Regarding the desensitizer used in this study, GLUMA, in both its consistencies, has a pH of \approx 3. When it comes to the evaluation of the effect of acidity on smear layer modification, we can cautiously hypothesize that this desensitizer acted similarly to a mild SE adhesive which only superficially/partially demineralized the dentin surface, leaving the hydroxyapatite remnants still available for chemical bonding (Giannini et al., 2015). In partial support of this statement, the SEM images showed a greater dissolution of the smear layer in the groups treated with the desensitizers, irrespective of the consistency of the product (Fig. 3). It would seem that the application of an acidic universal adhesive resin after GLUMA pretreatment has provided higher smear layer dissolution, dentin interaction and possibly chemical interaction

with the underlying dentin substrates. Due to the complex mechanism of bonding to dentin, the latter information can only be assumed, as this was not taken into consideration in our methodology, thus requiring further evaluations and future studies should be performed to compare this potential etching efficacy with other dentin pre-treatment methods, such as phosphoric acid or EDTA (Mazzitelli et al., 2010). Apart from the possible chemical interaction with the dental substrate, in the presence of open dentinal tubules filled with HEMA, observed after GLUMA application, resin penetration into the dentin could be improved, leading to higher bond strength compared to the control groups, independent of the testing times (Tab. 2), and this was in accordance with previous studies [56,104]. It could be suggested that GLUMA could work as an intermediate between an acid etching and demineralized agent, thus providing more than partial smear layer dissolution and aperture of dentinal tubules ready to interact with the subsequent adhesive resin. Thus, the smear layer removal and the resin penetration might have been improved with the subsequent application of the universal adhesives after GLUMA, and this might be another reason explaining the higher results in the bonding strength of the experimental groups [56,104].

When the liquid version of GLUMA was used before adhesive application, statistically higher bonding values were recorded when compared to gel consistency (Tab. 6). These results are in accordance with the study of Lee and Sabatini where the two formulations of GLUMA were tested with an etch-and-rinse adhesive (Lee and Sabatini, 2017). It is worth mentioning that the two forms of the desensitizer, liquid and gel, possess identical formulations in terms of glutaraldehyde and HEMA content, as well as presented the same application modality (in terms of application time and the removal method). Therefore, it could be speculated that the flowability of the liquid version has enhanced its ability to diffuse among the dentin collagen fibrils and the smear layer compared to the more viscous gel. It could also be possible that the gel formulation is more difficult to rinse off from the dentin surface, leaving remnants of the material on the surface, possibly hindering the subsequent bonding mechanisms of resin penetration and polymerization.

As the two adhesives employed in the study have shown bond strength differences but exhibited no differences in terms of enzymatic activity, the third null hypothesis must also be partially rejected. AU performed statistically better than IBU immediately and after aging in terms of bonding performance, irrespective of the dentin pretreatment with the desensitizer. The two adhesives differ in terms of their acidity and composition. IBU has a pH of ≈ 1.4 -1.8 and it is classified as a strong universal adhesive while AU is reported to have a pH of around 2.6 and it is classified as a mild universal adhesive. Dentin bond strength of intermediately strong universal adhesives has been indicated as less stable over time (Cuevas-Suárez et al., 2019). These lower values could be explained by the presence of unpolymerized monomers remaining after light activation, which continue to demineralize the dentin due to their high level of acidity, thus promoting dentin-adhesive interfaces with low hydrolytic stability and low-stability chemical interactions with the collagen (Van Meerbeek et al., 2011). Furthermore, these two systems have different solvents. While AU contains ethanol, IBU contains acetone and water. Acetone-based adhesives are more prone to hydrolytic degradation (Tjäderhane et al., 2013). In fact, IBU previously demonstrated higher hydrophilicity, resulting in swallowing phenomena and plasticization after polymerization (Mazzitelli et al., 2022b, 2020), as also observed in the present SEM images.

The tested material GLUMA is indicated and has proven its efficacy, prior to adhesive restorations, in those cases where, due to extended cavity preparation, or proximity with the pulp, postoperative sensibility may develop. Contrarily to other crosslinkers, that require an additional clinical step solely to achieve improved bonding and stability of the hybrid layer, GLUMA could combine in a single step beneficial desensitizing effect and act as a bonding enhancer and stabilizer.

Despite attempts to improve adhesive performance and to promote more stable resindentin interfaces through the use of protease inhibitors, degradation of these interfaces have been reported with all types of bonding approaches (Abu-Hanna et al., 2004; Hashimoto et al., 2002; Van Meerbeek et al., 2011) due to the fact that the depth of etching dentin with phosphoric acid is always higher than the depth of penetration of the adhesive resin into the denuded collagen fibrils. Therefore, alternative etchants have been developed. An experimental zirconium oxynitrate conditioner [ZrO (NO3)2] has recently been introduced to adhesive dentistry. This material was investigated in this thesis for its peculiar characteristics of dissoluting prevalentely the inorganic component of dentin, thus reducing nanoleakage and inhibit MMP-mediated proteolytic activity at the resin-dentin interface maintaining bond stability over time (Pashley et al., 2004).

In the study conducted the experimental ZON etchant not only did not impair immediate bond strength, but increased that of the universal adhesive Adhese Universal (D. H. Pashley et al., 2011a). The ZON etchant is a Lewis acidic metal salt that is readily soluble in water. Water is necessary for the dissolution of the zirconium salt to create an acidic condition (pH = 0.56) that is conducive for demineralizing the inorganic components of dentin. During demineralization, Ca^{2+} and PO^{24-} ions are released from dentin and these ions bind to the Zr^{4+} ions as to form a solid complex (Solovkin and Tsvetkova, 1962). A preliminary scanning electron microscopy and energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy study performed by this research group confirmed the precipitation of Ca^{2+} and P^{3-} ions on the surface of dentin treated with ZON for 30 s, with tubules more closed compared to dentin etched with TE for 15 s (unpublished data).

The ZON etchant increased the immediate bond strength of AU to dentin, resulting in acceptable immediate adhesion in all the experimental groups. It has been speculated cautiously that the chemical interaction between dentin and MDP does not have any influence on the

immediate bond strength to dentin, but helps to improve bond stability (Erhardt et al., 2011). Such a speculation was validated in the present study, wherein the bond strength of AU did not decrease with the use of conventional etching after 12 months of laboratory aging.

Significant decrease in bond strength was observed for ZON/AU at T12, however, it is possible that the bond strength values in this group were underestimated, since the adhesive bond strength between the tooth and the composite exceeded the cohesive bond strength within the material itself (73 % of CC failure mode). The 10-MDP and the methacrylated carboxylic acid polymer incorporated within AU possibly enabled the adhesive to produce durable bonds to dentin (Mancuso et al., 2022; Sauro et al., 2009; Visse and Nagase, 2003) Nurrohman et al. (Nurrohman et al., 2012) investigated the interaction of MDP and the carboxylic-based functional co-polymer on the formation of crystallites on the bottom of the hybrid layer and preservation of the underlying dentin structure after the exposure to acid attack. Interestingly, the study revealed that both functional monomers/polymers were more efficient in creating a crystallite layer and protecting the underlying dentin structure in the self-etch compared to etch-and-rinse systems, since the etching with phosphoric acid always penetrates deeper into the dentin structure than the adhesive resin itself (D. H. Pashley et al., 2011b). Although in the control MDP-containing etch-and-rinse samples there was apatite formation on the bottom of the hybrid layer, after the acid attack, the destruction of the underlying dentin structure was prevented by the MDP only partially. AU in general performed better in the present study in terms of bond strength. AU contains both the 10-MDP and methacrylated carboxylic acid polymer, contributing to a possibly stronger interaction with the apatite crystals on the bottom of the etched dentin surface, leading to higher bond strength compared to EF, even after aging in the artificial saliva. Furthermore, the precipitation of Ca²⁺ and PO⁴²⁻ ions on the bottom of the hybrid layer formed after etching with ZON might have enhanced the MDP interaction with the apatite crystals. The experimental zirconium oxynitrate etchant has the ability to improve

bond strength, particularly when used before a universal adhesive containing functional monomers.

Detection of MMP Inactivation Using Gelatin Zymography

Gelatin zymography is a simple and inexpensive method to measure the activity of several proteases with same substrate (Tay FR, King NM, Chan K, 2002). Its high sensitivity to detect proteolytic activity in samples with levels of pg of MMPs render it favorable in comparison to ELISA (Leber and Balkwill, 1997; Tay FR, King NM, Chan K, 2002). Mazzoni et al. (Mazzoni et al., 2007) employed gelatin zymography for the first time, to determine the gelatinase activity of dentin MMPs using extracted molar teeth. The activation of dentin MMPs following the demineralization of dentin using acidic monomers has been known (Mazzoni et al., 2012, 2006; Nishitani et al., 2006). Mazzoni et al. (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013) reported for the first time the active and pro-forms of MMP-2 and -9 on demineralized dentin following the application of both self-etch and etch-and-rinse adhesives by using gelatin zymography.

To support positive mechanical data concerning the bond strength preservation and reduce interfacial nanoleakage of the dentinal substrate pre-treated with cross-linkers, the effect on endogenous enzymatic activity was detected.

Apart from the creating exogenous cross-links within the dentine collagen matrix, bond preservation in acid-etched dentine that is treated with cross-linking agents may also be related to the ability of the cross-linking agents to inactivate endogenous MMPs in the exposed dentine collagen matrix (Mazzoni et al., 2014, 2006). It has been hypothesized that cross-linking agents alter the three-dimensional conformation of the catalytic domain of MMPs, or change their negatively-charged ionized carboxyl groups into positively-charged amide groups, to inactivate

the MMPs. The advantage of inactivating proteolytic enzymes in the dentine matrix by crosslinking is that it is a non-specific mechanism (Nascimento et al., 2011; Tersariol et al., 2010). These cross-links involve covalent bonds that are stable over time. Because MMPs do not turn over in dentine, their inactivation by cross-linking agents should last for a long time and may be even more effective than MMP inhibitors.

As for the molecule tested, chitosan, the data available on the cross-linking effect are scarce but are in accordance with the data available on other cross-linkers. Previously, our research group demonstrated by means of gelatin zymography that the 0.1% chitosan primer was able to inhibit the expression of the MMPs when used with a universal adhesive in the SE mode. However, it activated the MMPs when used before a 3-step etch-and-rinse adhesive (Baena et al., 2020). The results of the present study are in accordance with the previous findings as chitosan dissolved in water at low concentrations was able to decrease the activity and expression of dentinal endogenous proteases when used on unrestored dentin as well as before a universal adhesive placed in the etch-and-rinse mode. This indicates that the antienzymatic activity of chitosan is also adhesive system dependent. It seems that chitosan (0.1%)water solution) is more effective when used with universal adhesives. Another interesting point to discuss is the influence of the application of the adhesive resin over a cross-linking primer. In the present study, the adhesive resins significantly increased the enzymatic activity in the dentin underlying the HL. It has been previously shown that both the etch-and-rinse and selfetch adhesives activate the dentinal MMPs (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013; Mazzoni et al., 2011a; Nishitani et al., 2006), which is in accordance with the results of the present study (for all the groups except the 0.1% chitosan). It was observed, in the study depicted, that the chitosan concentration had an influence on the MPs expression. In this case, the lower the chitosan concentration, the lower the enzymatic activity. Chitosan 1% and 0.5% revealed gelatinolytic bands corresponding to active MMP-2, while there were no active forms of MMPs expressed in the 0.1% CH group, and the pro-form MMP-9 and MMP-2 bands were faint.

The experimental etchant was also investigated in this thesis for its enzymatic inhibition abilities. The zymography results in the work revealed inhibition of MMP activities when the ZON etchant was used to demineralize the dentin surface, a feature that was not identified with the use of the TE etchant. In situ zymography identified more potent inhibition of enzymatic activity by ZON, when compared with TE, at T0 and T12 (Figure 18). These results could be explained by the ability of ZON to bind to Ca2+ ions via chelation. Because of this mechanism, the ZON etchant removes Ca2+ ions from the catalytic site of MMP-2 and MMP-9 that are crucial for the optimal function of these proteases (Visse and Nagase, 2003). Such a phenomenon is analogous to the chelation effect of EDTA in MMPs inhibition (Sauro et al., 2009). Further studies should be performed to validate the depth of demineralization created by the ZON etchant on dentin.

Localization of Gelatinolytic activity Using in-situ Zymography

The final part of the present thesis focused on the localization of the enzymatic activity on the hybrid layer after different cross-linkers pre-treatment on dentin.

Homogenization of tissues for gelatin zymography is mandatory, while *in situ* zymography analysis was performed to localize the MMP activity previously detected by zymography. Although gelatin zymography is a powerful technique for showing the location and presence of hydrolytic enzymes, which is based on the degradation of substrate; it does not determine potential enzymatic activities. The technique was introduced by Galis et al. (Galis et al., 1994) to localize the gelatinolytic activity in human atherosclerotic plaques and was adapted to hard tissue sections such as dentin and bone by Porto et al. and Mazzoni et al.
(Mazzoni et al., 2012), for the first time, indicated the localization of gelatinolytic activity in the hybrid layer by using in situ zymography after adhesive application.

Precise localization of gelatinase activity in sections and cells became possible with the introduction of dye-quenched (DQ)-gelatin, which is gelatin that is heavily labeled with FITC molecules so that its fluorescence is quenched (Goodall et al., 2001; Lindsey et al., 2001; Teesalu et al., 2001). After cleavage of DQ-gelatin by gelatinolytic activity, fluorescent peptides are produced that can be visualized against a weakly fluorescent background (EnzCheck; Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). The use of DQ-gelatin instead of labeled or unlabeled gelatin is superior for in situ zymography because fluorescence is produced at sites of gelatinolytic activity instead of decreased staining intensity at gelatinolytic areas.

Although a wide range of cross-linkers is available, their specific antienzymatic effects are still not clear. Among these cross-linkers, EDC pre-treatment of demineralized dentin matrices increases the mechanical properties of the dentin matrix and also completely inhibits the endogenous protease activity (Bedran-Russo et al., 2010; A. Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2012) Zymographic studies, in fact, have shown that the pretreatment of acid-etched dentin with a conditioner containing 0.3 M EDC could completely inhibit the collagenolytic activity of endogenous enzymes (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013), even after adhesive application (Mazzoni et al., 2014; Tezvergil-Mutluay et al., 2015).

In situ zymography showed a gelatinolytic activity clearly detectable within the hybrid layer and along the tubular dentin walls extending from the dentinal tubules in the control groups for both coronal and radicular dentin. The effectiveness of EDC used as conditioner primer before the bonding application was evident in the different experiments by the reduced protease activity detectable within the hybrid layer. These correlative results confirmed and validated the zymography analysis outcomes. As concern DCC, also gelatinolitic activity was reduced in experimental groups. Thus, based on the findings of the present project the double effectiveness of cross-linkers tested in improve mechanical properties and in inhibit gelatinolytic activity within the hybrid layer has been demonstrated. The use of DCC in ethanol solution could strengthen the collagen matrix and creating a hybrid layer in absence of water. Nevertheless, the application of ethanol on dentin matrix does not completely avoid the presence of water caused by outward fluid flows without the use of adjunctive tubular occlusion agents (Sadek et al., 2010)(Cadenaro et al., 2009).

Considering the glutaraldehyde and HEMA compounds, in our study, the application of the desensitizing agents influenced dentin MMPs activity only at T_0 , whilst after 1 year of aging no statistical significance was found among the groups.

Glutaraldehyde, in addition to its well-known disinfectant and desensitizing properties, is also widely known as a potent protein cross-linker reacting with the amino groups of proteins within minutes (Kiernan, 2000). As previously observed, GLUMA was able to inactivate matrix-bound dentin proteinases in demineralized dentin matrices almost entirely in a short time application (within 30 s of exposure) (Sabatini et al., 2014). The inactivation of MMPs induced by a collagen cross-linker is a non-specific mechanism involving covalent bonds that are claimed to be very stable over time (Tersariol et al., 2010). Studies have shown a significant decrease in MMPs activation after the treatment of demineralized dentin with glutaraldehyde solutions (Chen et al., 2016; Hass et al., 2016).

In the presented study, however, the application of GLUMA for 30s prior to the SE adhesive procedures resulted in a statistically significant increase in the MMPs expression in the HL. Differently from the cited studies where the dentin was etched and then only primed with GLUMA, in this research, GLUMA was applied for 30 s on mineralized dentin prior to the universal adhesive application in the SE mode. Thus, the application of GLUMA was not

performed on demineralized dentin but on a mineralized substrate. This should be considered, as Qin et al. (Qin et al., 2006) stated that the glutaraldehyde present in GLUMA could not form cross-links with mineralized dentin. Indeed, the enzymatic inhibition of glutaraldehyde requires contact with collagen fibrils. Its application before the demineralization procedures could result in the presence of a smear layer preventing contact with the fibrils and prone to nullify the cross-linking ability of GLUMA. Another recent study (Mazzoni et al., 2018) demonstrated that a cross-linker used before a SE adhesive was not able to inactivate the MMPs, or improve the longevity of the hybrid layer as efficiently as in the case of the etch-and-rinse adhesives.

Moreover, the mild acidity expressed by GLUMA can activate MMPs (Davis et al., 1992; Tjäderhane et al., 1998) by inducing the cysteine switch (Chaussain-Miller et al., 2006). Acidic resin monomers may activate latent forms of MMPs (pro-MMPs) via the cysteine-switch mechanism that exposes the catalytic domains of these enzymes that were blocked by pro-peptides, and also provide excellent conditions for the activation of the protease's cysteine cathepsins (A. Mazzoni et al., 2013; Tallant et al., 2010; Tersariol et al., 2010). This might explain the further activation of MMPs and the consequent activation of the enzymes at T₀.

Aging negatively affected bonding performances and determined a reduction of enzymatic activity in the tested groups. As no significant differences in terms of endogenous enzymatic activity were found irrespective of the adhesive and the desensitizing agent used, this reduction seems to be independent of the influence of the MMPs, and prevalently due to the hydrolytic degradation of the adhesive resin. Both adhesives employed in the study, IBU and AU, contain functional monomers. It has been postulated that the Ca salts created by these functional monomers on the dentin surface may inhibit MMP activity reducing the enzymatic activity over time (Shen et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2023), explaining the decrease of the activity of the samples in all groups after 1 y storage in artificial saliva. *In situ* zymography performed on samples treated with the experimental etching, identified more potent inhibition of enzymatic activity by ZON, when compared with TE, at T0 and T12 (Figures 19, 20). These results could be explained by the ability of ZON to bind to Ca2+ ions via chelation. Because of this mechanism, the ZON etchant removes Ca2+ ions from the catalytic site of MMP-2 and MMP-9 that are crucial for the optimal function of these proteases (Visse and Nagase, 2003). Such a phenomenon is analogous to the chelation effect of EDTA in MMPs inhibition (Sauro et al., 2009). Further studies should be performed to validate the depth of demineralization created by the ZON etchant on dentin.

Conclusions

Based on the studies included in this thesis, the following conclusions were drawn:

- Collagen cross-linkers tested do not alter immediate bond strength to dentin, and are effective molecules in preserving the adhesive interface over time.
- EDC, DCC and Chitosan help in preserving the degradation of dentin organic matrix by inactivating dentin endogenous enzymes.
- The inhibiting effect of cross-linkers on the enzymatic activity detected in the hybrid layer, even if has the tendency to increase over time, is still present after one year of storage in artificial saliva and for 5 years when EDC was used.
- Although the crosslinkers tested have shown to been able to reduce the enzymatic activity of demineralized and partially demineralized dentin, this inhibition might be reduced and not necessary when the crosslinkers are used in mineralized dentin.
- Short applications time of the cross-linkers (1 min or 30s) on dentin is clinically acceptable and is effective in preventing degradation of the adhesive interface over time and inhibiting endogenous enzymatic activity
- New approaches for the demineralization of the dentin substrate may promote the stabilization of the dentin hybrid layer, improving bond strength over time.

Future Directions

While ongoing studies have searched for alternative ways to protect dentin collagen matrices from degradation clinically, the results of this thesis suggest that collagen crosslinkers can slow down/inhibit collagen degradation through the inactivation of dentin proteases. Thus, the use of collagen crosslinkers may help collagen matrices to resist the degradation. The incorporation of these compounds into current adhesive systems or desensitizing agents may protect demineralized collagen matrix to create a favourable tooth-biomaterial interface.

Further studies are needed to better understand the structure of the hybrid layer created using cross-linkers as conditioning primer, considering the encouraging results obtained from this thesis. Additionally, *in vivo* studies will be essential to better understand the feasibility of the tested molecules as dentin conditioning primer during bonding procedures.

Bibliography

A. Nanci, 2008. Cate's Oral Histology.

- Abu-Hanna, A., Gordan, V. V., Mjor, I., 2004. The effect of variation in etching times on dentin bonding. Gen. Dent. 52, 28–33.
- Abuna, G., Feitosa, V.P., Correr, A.B., Cama, G., Giannini, M., Sinhoreti, M.A., Pashley, D.H., Sauro, S., 2016. Bonding performance of experimental bioactive/biomimetic selfetch adhesives doped with calcium-phosphate fillers and biomimetic analogs of phosphoproteins. J. Dent. 52, 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2016.07.016
- Agee, K.A., Prakki, A., Abu-Haimed, T., Naguib, G.H., Nawareg, M.A., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Scheffel, D.L.S., Chen, C., Jang, S.S., Hwang, H., Brackett, M., Grégoire, G., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., Pashley, D.H., 2015. Water distribution in dentin matrices: Bound vs. unbound water. Dent. Mater. 31, 205–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2014.12.007
- Antonucci, J.M., Zeiger, D.N., Tang, K., Lin-Gibson, S., Fowler, B.O., Lin, N.J., 2012. Synthesis and characterization of dimethacrylates containing quaternary ammonium functionalities for dental applications. Dent. Mater. 28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2011.10.004
- Apolonio, F.M., Mazzoni, A., Angeloni, V., Scaffa, P.M.C., Santi, S., Saboia, V. de P.A., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2017. Effect of a one-step self-etch adhesive on endogenous dentin matrix metalloproteinases. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 125, 168–172. https://doi.org/10.1111/eos.12337
- Aranha, A.C.C., Siqueira Junior, A.D.S., Cavalcante, L.M.A., Pimenta, L.A.F., Marchi, G.M., 2006. Microtensile bond strengths of composite to dentin treated with desensitizer products. J. Adhes. Dent. 8, 85–90.
- Armstrong, S.R., Keller, J.C., Boyer, D.B., 2001. The influence of water storage and C-factor on the dentin-resin composite microtensile bond strength and debond pathway utilizing a filled and unfilled adhesive resin. Dent. Mater. 17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0109-5641(00)00081-6
- Aso, C., Aito, Y., 1962. Intramolecular-Intermolecular Polymerization of Glutaraldehyde. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 35. https://doi.org/10.1246/bcsj.35.1426
- Ayar, M.K., 2016. A review of ethanol wet-bonding: Principles and techniques. Eur. J. Dent. 10, 155–9. https://doi.org/10.4103/1305-7456.175687
- Ayar, M.K., 2015. Bond durability of contemporary adhesive systems to pulp chamber dentin. Acta Biomater. Odontol. Scand. 1. https://doi.org/10.3109/23337931.2015.1075887
- Baena, E., Cunha, S.R., Maravić, T., Comba, A., Paganelli, F., Alessandri-Bonetti, G., Ceballos, L., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., 2020. Effect of chitosan as a crosslinker on matrix metalloproteinase activity and bond stability with different adhesive systems. Mar. Drugs 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/md18050263

- Bedran-Russo, A.K., Pauli, G.F., Chen, S.N., McAlpine, J., Castellan, C.S., Phansalkar, R.S., Aguiar, T.R., Vidal, C.M.P., Napotilano, J.G., Nam, J.W., Leme, A.A., 2014. Dentin biomodification: Strategies, renewable resources and clinical applications. Dent. Mater. 30, 62–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2013.10.012
- Bedran-Russo, A.K.B., Pashley, D.H., Agee, K., Drummond, J.L., Miescke, K.J., 2008. Changes in stiffness of demineralized dentin following application of collagen crosslinkers. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B. Appl. Biomater. 86, 330–334. https://doi.org/10.1002/JBM.B.31022
- Bedran-Russo, A.K.B., Pereira, P.N.R., Duarte, W.R., Drummond, J.L., Yamaychi, M., 2007. Application of crosslinkers to dentin collagen enhances the ultimate tensile strength. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B. Appl. Biomater. 80, 268–272. https://doi.org/10.1002/JBM.B.30593
- Bedran-Russo, A.K.B., Vidal, C.M.P., Dos Santos, P.H., Castellan, C.S., 2010. Long-term effect of carbodiimide on dentin matrix and resin-dentin bonds. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. -Part B Appl. Biomater. 94, 250–255. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.31649
- Breschi, L, Gobbi, P., Lopes, M., Prati, C., Falconi, M., Teti, G., Mazzotti, G., 2003. Immunocytochemical analysis of dentin: a double-labeling technique. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 67, 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.10048
- Breschi, L., Gobbi, P., Mazzotti, G., Ellis, T.H., Sacher, E., Stangel, I., 1999. Field emission in-lens SEM study of enamel and dentin. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 46, 315–23.
- Breschi, L., Lopes, M., Gobbi, P., Mazzotti, G., Falconi, M., Perdigão, J., 2002. Dentin proteoglycans: an immunocytochemical FEISEM study. J Biomed Mater Res 61, 40–46.
- Breschi, L., Maravic, T., Comba, A., Cunha, S.R., Loguercio, A.D., Reis, A., Hass, V., Cadenaro, M., Mancuso, E., Mayer-Santos, E., Niu, L., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Mazzoni, A., 2020. Chlorhexidine preserves the hybrid layer in vitro after 10-years aging. Dent. Mater. 36, 672–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2020.03.009
- Breschi, L., Maravic, T., Cunha, S.R., Comba, A., Cadenaro, M., Tjäderhane, L., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Mazzoni, A., 2018. Dentin bonding systems: From dentin collagen structure to bond preservation and clinical applications. Dent. Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2017.11.005
- Breschi, L., Martin, P., Mazzoni, A., Nato, F., Carrilho, M., Tjäderhane, L., Visintini, E., Cadenaro, M., Tay, F.R., Dorigo, E.D.S., Pashley, D.H., 2010a. Use of a specific MMPinhibitor (galardin) for preservation of hybrid layer. Dent. Mater. 26, 571–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.02.007
- Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Nato, F., Carrilho, M., Visintini, E., Tjäderhane, L., Ruggeri, A., Tay, F.R., Dorigo, E.D.S., Pashley, D.H., 2010b. Chlorhexidine stabilizes the adhesive interface: a 2-year in vitro study. Dent. Mater. 26, 320–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2009.11.153
- Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Ruggeri, A., Cadenaro, M., Di Lenarda, R., De Stefano Dorigo, E., 2008a. Dental adhesion review: Aging and stability of the bonded interface. Dent. Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2007.02.009

- Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Ruggeri, A., Cadenaro, M., Di Lenarda, R., De Stefano Dorigo, E., 2008b. Dental adhesion review: Aging and stability of the bonded interface. Dent. Mater. 24, 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DENTAL.2007.02.009
- Breschi, Lorenzo, Perdigão, J., Gobbi, P., Mazzotti, G., Falconi, M., Lopes, M., 2003. Immunocytochemical identification of type I collagen in acid-etched dentin. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 66, 764–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.10073
- Breschi, L., Prati, C., Gobbi, P., Pashley, D., Mazzotti, G., Teti, G., Perdigão, J., 2004. Immunohistochemical analysis of collagen fibrils within the hybrid layer: A FEISEM study. Oper. Dent. 29, 538–46.
- Brinckmann, J., Notbohm, H., Müller, P.K., 2005. Collagen: Primer in Structure, Processing and Assembly, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Bromme, D., Okamoto, K., 1995. Human cathepsin O2, a novel cysteine protease highly expressed in osteoclastomas and ovary molecular cloning, sequencing and tissue distribution. Biol. Chem. Hoppe. Seyler. 376, 379–384. https://doi.org/10.1515/BCHM3.1995.376.6.379
- Brömme, D., Wilson, S., 2011. Role of cysteine cathepsins in extracellular proteolysis, in: Extracellular Matrix Degradation. Springer Verlag-Heidelberg, Berlin, DE, pp. 23–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-16861-1
- Buonocore, M., Wileman, W., Brudevold, F., 1956. A report on a resin composition capable of bonding to human dentin surfaces. J. Dent. Res. 35. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345560350060401
- Buonocore, M.G., 1955. A simple method of increasing the adhesion of acrylic filling materials to enamel surfaces. J. Dent. Res. 34. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345550340060801
- Buzalaf, M.A.R., Charone, S., Tjäderhane, L., 2015. Role of host-derived proteinases in dentine caries and erosion. Caries Res. 49, 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1159/000380885
- Cadenaro, M., Antoniolli, F., Sauro, S., Tay, F.R., Di Lenarda, R., Prati, C., Biasotto, M., Contardo, L., Breschi, L., 2005. Degree of conversion and permeability of dental adhesives. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 113, 525–530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0722.2005.00251.x
- Cadenaro, M., Breschi, L., Rueggeberg, F.A., Suchko, M., Grodin, E., Agee, K., Di Lenarda, R., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2009. Effects of residual ethanol on the rate and degree of conversion of five experimental resins. Dent. Mater. 25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2008.11.005
- Cadenaro, M., Josic, U., Maravić, T., Mazzitelli, C., Marchesi, G., Mancuso, E., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., 2023. Progress in Dental Adhesive Materials. J. Dent. Res. 002203452211456. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345221145673
- Camilleri, J., Cutajar, A., Mallia, B., 2011. Hydration characteristics of zirconium oxide replaced Portland cement for use as a root-end filling material. Dent. Mater. 27, 845–854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2011.04.011

- Campos, E.A., Correr, G.M., Leonardi, D.P., Barato-Filho, F., Gonzaga, C.C., Zielak, J.C., 2009. Chlorhexidine diminishes the loss of bond strength over time under simulated pulpal pressure and thermo-mechanical stressing. J. Dent. 37, 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2008.10.003
- Camps, J., Pashley, D.H., 2000. Buffering action of human dentin in vitro. J. Adhes. Dent. 2.
- Carrilho, M., Geraldeli, S., Tay, F., de Goes, M., Carvalho, R., Tjäderhane, L., Reis, A., Hebling, J., Mazzoni, A., Breschi, L., Pashley, D., 2007. In vivo preservation of the hybrid layer by chlorhexidine. J. Dent. Res. 86, 529–33. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910708600608
- Carrilho, M.R., Carvalho, R.M., Sousa, E.N., Nicolau, J., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Tjäderhane, L., Tay, F.R., Agee, K., Pashley, D.H., 2010. Substantivity of chlorhexidine to human dentin. Dent. Mater. 26, 779–785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.04.002
- Carrilho, M.R.O., Carvalho, R.M., de Goes, M.F., di Hipólito, V., Geraldeli, S., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Tjäderhane, L., 2007. Chlorhexidine preserves dentin bond in vitro. J. Dent. Res. 86, 90–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910708600115
- Carvalho, R.M., Tay, F., Sano, H., Yoshiyama, M., Pashley, D.H., 2000. Long-term mechanical properties of EDTA-demineralized dentin matrix. J. Adhes. Dent. 2, 193–9.
- Carvalho, R.M., Tjäderhane, L., Manso, A.P., Carrilho, M. R., &, Carvalho, C.A.R., 2012. Dentin as a bonding substrate. Endod. Top. 21, 62–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-1546.2012.00274.x
- Ceballos, L., Camejo, D.G., Victoria Fuentes, M., Osorio, R., Toledano, M., Carvalho, R.M., Pashley, D.H., 2003. Microtensile bond strength of total-etch and self-etching adhesives to caries-affected dentine. J. Dent. 31, 469–77.
- Cervino, G., Fiorillo, L., Spagnuolo, G., Bramanti, E., Laino, L., Lauritano, F., Cicciù, M., 2017. Interface between MTA and dental bonding agents: Scanning electron microscope evaluation. J. Int. Soc. Prev. Community Dent. 7. https://doi.org/10.4103/jispcd.JISPCD_521_16
- Chaussain-Miller, C., Fioretti, F., Goldberg, M., Menashi, S., 2006. The role of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in human caries. J. Dent. Res. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910608500104
- Chen, C., Mao, C., Sun, J., Chen, Y., Wang, W., Pan, H., Tang, R., Gu, X., 2016. Glutaraldehyde-induced remineralization improves the mechanical properties and biostability of dentin collagen. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.05.076
- Chen, J., Zhang, J., Zhang, W., Chen, Z., 2014. Sensitive determination of the potential biomarker sarcosine for prostate cancer by LC-MS with N,N'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide derivatization. J. Sep. Sci. 37. https://doi.org/10.1002/jssc.201301043
- Cheng, H., Caterson, B., Yamauchi, M., 1999. Identification and immunolocalization of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in tooth cementum. Connect Tissue Res 40, 37–47.

- Cheung, D., Perelman, N., Ko, E., Nimni, M., 1985. Mechanism of crosslinking of proteins by glutaraldehyde III: Reaction with collagen in tissues. Connect Tissue Res 13, 109–115.
- Chiba, A., Zhou, J., Nakajima, M., Tan, J., Tagami, J., Scheffel, D.L.S., Hebling, J., Agee, K.A., Breschi, L., Grégoire, G., Jang, S.S., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2016. The effects of ethanol on the size-exclusion characteristics of type I dentin collagen to adhesive resin monomers. Acta Biomater. 33, 235–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.040
- Chu, C., Lo, E., 2010. Dentin hypersensitivity: a review. Hong Kong Dent. J. 7, 5–22.
- Chung, L., Dinakarpandian, D., Yoshida, N., Lauer-Fields, J.L., Fields, G.B., Visse, R., Nagase, H., 2004. Collagenase unwinds triple-helical collagen prior to peptide bond hydrolysis. EMBO J. 23, 3020–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600318
- Cicciù, M., Fiorillo, L., Cervino, G., 2019. Chitosan use in dentistry: A systematic review of recent clinical studies. Mar. Drugs. https://doi.org/10.3390/md17070417
- Comba, A., Maravic, T., Valente, L., Girlando, M., Cunha, S.R., Checchi, V., Salgarello, S., Tay, F.R., Scotti, N., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., 2019a. Effect of benzalkonium chloride on dentin bond strength and endogenous enzymatic activity. J. Dent. 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2019.04.008
- Comba, A., Scotti, N., Mazzoni, A., Maravic, T., Ribeiro Cunha, S., Michelotto Tempesta, R., Carossa, M., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., 2019b. Carbodiimide inactivation of matrix metalloproteinases in radicular dentine. J. Dent. 82, 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2019.01.007
- Cova, A., Breschi, L., Nato, F., Ruggeri, A., Carrilho, M., Tjaderhane, L., Prati, C., Di Lenarda, R., Tay, F., Pashley, D., Mazzoni, A., 2011. Effect of UVA-activated riboflavin on dentin bonding. J. Dent. Res. 90, 1439–1445. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034511423397
- Cuevas-Suárez, C.E., da Rosa, W.L.O., Lund, R.G., da Silva, A.F., Piva, E., 2019. Bonding performance of universal adhesives: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Adhes. Dent. 21. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a41975
- Da Rosa Rodolpho, P.A., Donassollo, T.A., Cenci, M.S., Loguércio, A.D., Moraes, R.R., Bronkhorst, E.M., Opdam, N.J.M., Demarco, F.F., 2011. 22-Year clinical evaluation of the performance of two posterior composites with different filler characteristics. Dent. Mater. 27, 955–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DENTAL.2011.06.001
- da Silva, E.M., de Sá Rodrigues, C.U.F., de Oliveira Matos, M.P., de Carvalho, T.R., dos Santos, G.B., Amaral, C.M., 2015. Experimental etch-and-rinse adhesive systems containing MMP-inhibitors: Physicochemical characterization and resin-dentin bonding stability. J. Dent. 43, 1491–1497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.10.004
- Davis, E.L., Wieczkowski, G., Yu, X.Y., Joynt, R.B., Gallo, J., 1992. Adhesion of dentin bonding agents after smear layer treatments. Am. J. Dent. 5.

de Almeida Neves, A., Coutinho, E., Cardoso, M.V., Lambrechts, P., Van Meerbeek, B.,

2011. Current concepts and techniques for caries excavation and adhesion to residual dentin. J. Adhes. Dent. 13, 7–22. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a18443

- De Munck, J., Mine, A., den Steen, P.E., Van Landuyt, K.L., Poitevin, A., Opdenakker, G., Van Meerbeek, B., 2010. Enzymatic degradation of adhesive–dentin interfaces produced by mild self-etch adhesives. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 118, 494–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0722.2010.00758.x
- De Munck, J., Van Meerbeek, B., Yoshida, Y., Inoue, S., Vargas, M., Suzuki, K., Lambrechts, P., Vanherle, G., 2003. Four-year water degradation of total-etch adhesives bonded to dentin. J. Dent. Res. 82, 136–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910308200212
- Dhand, C., Ong, S.T., Dwivedi, N., Diaz, S.M., Venugopal, J.R., Navaneethan, B., Fazil, M.H.U.T., Liu, S., Seitz, V., Wintermantel, E., Beuerman, R.W., Ramakrishna, S., Verma, N.K., Lakshminarayanan, R., 2016. Bio-inspired in situ crosslinking and mineralization of electrospun collagen scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.07.007
- El-Deeb, H.A., Badran, O., Mobarak, E.H., 2015. One-year adhesive bond durability to coronal and radicular dentin under intrapulpal pressure simulation. Oper. Dent. 40. https://doi.org/10.2341/14-134-L
- Erhardt, M.C.G., Pisani-Proença, J., Osorio, E., Aguilera, F.S., Toledano, M., Osorio, R., 2011. Influence of laboratory degradation methods and bonding application parameters on microTBS of self-etch adhesives to dentin. Am. J. Dent. 24, 103–108.
- Erhardt, M.C.G., Toledano, M., Osorio, R., Pimenta, L.A., 2008. Histomorphologic characterization and bond strength evaluation of caries-affected dentin/resin interfaces: Effects of long-term water exposure. Dent. Mater. 24, 786–798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2007.09.007
- Fathima, N.N., Baias, M., Blumich, B., Ramasami, T., 2010. Structure and dynamics of water in native and tanned collagen fibers: Effect of crosslinking. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2010.08.003
- Felton, D.A., Bergenholtz, G., Kanoy, B.E., 1991. Evaluation of the desensitizing effect of Gluma Dentin Bond on teeth prepared for complete-coverage restorations. Int J Prosthodont 4, 292–8.
- Finkelman, R.D., Mohan, S., Jennings, J.C., Taylor, A.K., Jepsen, S., Baylink, D.J., 1990. Quantitation of growth factors IGF-I, SGF/IGF-II, and TGF-beta in human dentin. J Bone Min. Res 5.
- Fiorillo, L., 2019. Chlorhexidine gel use in the oral district: A systematic review. Gels. https://doi.org/10.3390/gels5020031
- Frankenberger, R., Pashley, D.H., Reich, S.M., Lohbauer, U., Petschelt, A., Tay, F.R., 2005. Characterisation of resin–dentine interfaces by compressive cyclic loading. Biomaterials 26, 2043–2052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.07.003

Frassetto, A., Breschi, L., Turco, G., Marchesi, G., Di Lenarda, R., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H.,

Cadenaro, M., 2016. Mechanisms of degradation of the hybrid layer in adhesive dentistry and therapeutic agents to improve bond durability - A literature review. Dent. Mater. 32, e41–e53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.11.007

- Gale, M., Darvell, B., 1999. Thermal cycling procedures for laboratory testing of dental restorations. J. Dent. 27, 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-5712(98)00037-2
- Galis, Z.S., Sukhova, G.K., Lark, M.W., Libby, P., 1994. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. J. Clin. Invest. 94. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117619
- Gamborgi, G.P., Loguercio, A.D., Reis, A., 2007. Influence of enamel border and regional variability on durability of resin-dentin bonds. J. Dent. 35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2006.11.005
- Garnero, P., Borel, O., Byrjalsen, I., Ferreras, M., Drake, F.H., McQueney, M.S., Foged, N.T., Delmas, P.D., Delaissé, J.M., 1999. The collagenolytic activity of cathepsin K is unique among mammalian proteinases. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 32347–32352. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.48.32347
- Gendron, R., Grenier, D., Sorsa, T., Mayrand, D., 1999. Inhibition of the activities of matrix metalloproteinases 2, 8, and 9 by chlorhexidine. Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 6, 437–439.
- Giannini, M., Makishi, P., Ayres, A.P.A., Vermelho, P.M., Fronza, B.M., Nikaido, T., Tagami, J., 2015. Self-Etch adhesive systems: A literature review. Braz. Dent. J. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-6440201302442
- Gobbi, P., Maravic, T., Comba, A., Mazzitelli, C., Mancuso, E., Falconi, M., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., 2021. Biochemical and immunohistochemical analysis of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 in human sound dentin. Clin. Oral Investig. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-021-03819-6
- Goldberg, M., Takagi, M., 1993. Dentine proteoglycans: composition, ultrastructure and functions. Histochem J 25, 781–806.
- Gong, S.Q., Xue, Z.J., Liao, S.T., Wu, Y.B., Liu, Y., 2018. The effect of NDGA-modified etchant on the enzymatic degradation resistance and mechanical properties of collagen matrix. Chinese Chem. Lett. 29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cclet.2017.08.036
- Goodall, S., Crowther, M., Hemingway, D.M., Bell, P.R., Thompson, M.M., 2001. Ubiquitous elevation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in the vasculature of patients with abdominal aneurysms. Circulation 104. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.104.3.304
- Grynspan, F., Cheryan, M., 1983. Calcium phytate: Effect of ph and molar ratio on in vitro solubility. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 60. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02680350
- Gu, L., Kim, Y.K., Liu, Y., Ryou, H., Wimmer, C.E., Dai, L., Arola, D.D., Looney, S.W., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2011. Biomimetic analogs for collagen biomineralization. J. Dent. Res. 90, 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510385241

Gwinnett, A.J., 1993. Quantitative contribution of resin infiltration/hybridization to dentin

bonding. Am. J. Dent. 6, 7–9.

- Hanabusa, M., Mine, A., Kuboki, T., Momoi, Y., Van Ende, A., Van Meerbeek, B., De Munck, J., 2012. Bonding effectiveness of a new "multi-mode" adhesive to enamel and dentine. J. Dent. 40, 475–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2012.02.012
- Hannas, Angélica R., Pereira, J.C., Granjeiro, J.M., Tjäderhane, L., 2007. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in the oral environment. Acta Odontol. Scand. 65, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/00016350600963640
- Hannas, Angélica R, Pereira, J.C., Granjeiro, J.M., Tjäderhane, L., Hannas, A.R., Pereira, J.C., Granjeiro, J.M., Tjäderhane, L., 2007. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in the oral environment. Acta Odontol. Scand. 65, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/00016350600963640
- Hashimoto, M., Ohno, H., Kaga, M., Endo, K., Sano, H., Oguchi, H., 2000. In vivo degradation of resin-dentin bonds in humans over 1 to 3 years. J. Dent. Res. 79, 1385–1391. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345000790060601
- Hashimoto, M., Ohno, H., Kaga, M., Sano, H., Tay, F.R., Oguchi, H., Araki, Y., Kubota, M., 2002. Over-etching effects on micro-tensile bond strength and failure patterns for two dentin bonding systems. J. Dent. 30, 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-5712(02)00004-0
- Hass, V., Luque-Martinez, I.V., Gutierrez, M.F., Moreira, C.G., Gotti, V.B., Feitosa, V.P., Koller, G., Otuki, M.F., Loguercio, A.D., Reis, A., 2016. Collagen cross-linkers on dentin bonding: Stability of the adhesive interfaces, degree of conversion of the adhesive, cytotoxicity and in situ MMP inhibition. Dent. Mater. 32, 732–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DENTAL.2016.03.008
- Hayashi, M., Okamura, K., Koychev, E.V., Furuya, Y., Sugeta, A., Ota, T., Ebisu, S., 2010. Effects of rehydration on dentin strengthened by heating or UV irradiation. J. Dent. Res. 89, 154–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034509354564
- Hebling, J., Pashley, D.H., Tjäderhane, L., Tay, F.R., 2005. Chlorhexidine arrests subclinical degradation of dentin hybrid layers in vivo. J. Dent. Res. 84, 741–746. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910508400811
- Hedbom, E., Heinegård, D., 1993. Binding of fibromodulin and decorin to separate sites on fibrillar collagens. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 27307–27312.
- Heikkilä, P., Teronen, O., Moilanen, M., Konttinen, Y.T., Hanemaaijer, R., Laitinen, M., Maisi, P., Van Der Pluijm, G., Bartlett, J.D., Salo, T., Sorsa, T., 2002. Bisphosphonates inhibit stromelysin-1 (MMP-3), matrix metalloelastase (MMP-12), collagenase-3 (MMP-13) and enamelysin (MMP-20), but not urokinase-type plasminogen activator, and diminish invasion and migration of human malignant and endothelial cell lines. Anticancer. Drugs 13. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001813-200203000-00006
- Hiraishi, N., Nishiyama, N., Ikemura, K., Yau, J.Y.Y., King, N.M., Tagami, J., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2005. Water concentration in self-etching primers affects their aggressiveness and bonding efficacy to dentin. J. Dent. Res. 84, 653–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910508400714

- Hiraishi, N., Sono, R., Sofiqul, I., Yiu, C., Nakamura, H., Otsuki, M., Takatsuka, T., Tagami, J., 2013. In vitro evaluation of plant-derived agents to preserve dentin collagen. Dent. Mater. 29, 1048–1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2013.07.015
- Hosaka, K., Nishitani, Y., Tagami, J., Yoshiyama, M., Brackett, W.W., Agee, K.A., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2009. Durability of resin-dentin bonds to water- vs. ethanolsaturated dentin. J. Dent. Res. 88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034508328910
- Hosaka, K., Tagami, J., Nishitani, Y., Yoshiyama, M., Carrilho, M., Tay, F.R., Agee, K.A., Pashley, D.H., 2007. Effect of wet vs. dry testing on the mechanical properties of hydrophilic self-etching primer polymers. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0722.2007.00452.x
- Hsu, K.-W., Marshall, S.J., Pinzon, L.M., Watanabe, L., Saiz, E., Marshall, G.W., 2008. SEM evaluation of resin-carious dentin interfaces formed by two dentin adhesive systems. Dent. Mater. 24, 880–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2007.11.001
- Huang, Y.P., Kimura, M., Tawada, K., 1990. Covalent crosslinking of myosin subfragment-1 and heavy meromyosin to actin at various molar ratios: Different correlations between ATPase activity and crosslinking extent. J. Muscle Res. Cell Motil. 11. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01766669
- Husain, S., Al-Samadani, K.H., Najeeb, S., Zafar, M.S., Khurshid, Z., Zohaib, S., Qasim, S.B., 2017. Chitosan biomaterials for current and potential dental applications. Materials (Basel). https://doi.org/10.3390/ma10060602
- Ilie, N., Hickel, R., 2008. Can CQ be completely replaced by alternative initiators in dental adhesives? Dent. Mater. J. 27, 221–228. https://doi.org/10.4012/dmj.27.221
- Imazato, S., Kinomoto, Y., Tarumi, H., Ebisu, S., R. Tay, F., 2003. Antibacterial activity and bonding characteristics of an adhesive resin containing antibacterial monomer MDPB. Dent. Mater. 19, 313–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0109-5641(02)00060-X
- Imazato, S., Tay, F.R., Kaneshiro, A. V, Takahashi, Y., Ebisu, S., 2007. An in vivo evaluation of bonding ability of comprehensive antibacterial adhesive system incorporating MDPB. Dent. Mater. 23, 170–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2006.01.005
- Inoue, S., Koshiro, K., Yoshida, Y., De Munck, J., Nagakane, K., Suzuki, K., Sano, H., Van Meerbeek, B., 2005. Hydrolytic stability of self-etch adhesives bonded to dentin. J. Dent. Res. 84, 1160–1164. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910508401213
- Inoue, S., Vargas, M.A., Abe, Y., Yoshida, Y., Lambrechts, P., Vanherle, G., Sano, H., Van Meerbeek, B., 2003. Microtensile bond strength of eleven contemporary adhesives to enamel. Am. J. Dent. 16.
- Ito, S., Saito, T., Tay, F.R., Carvalho, R.M., Yoshiyama, M., Pashley, D.H., 2005. Water content and apparent stiffness of non-caries versus caries-affected human dentin. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 72B, 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.30130
- Jacobsen, T., Söderholm, K.J., 1995. Some effects of water on dentin bonding. Dent. Mater. 11, 132–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/0109-5641(95)80048-4

- Jee, S.E., Zhou, J., Tan, J., Breschi, L., Tay, F.R., Grégoire, G., Pashley, D.H., Jang, S.S., 2016. Investigation of ethanol infiltration into demineralized dentin collagen fibrils using molecular dynamics simulations. Acta Biomater. 36, 175–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.03.012
- Josic, U., Mazzitelli, C., Maravic, T., Radovic, I., Jacimovic, J., Mancuso, E., Florenzano, F., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., 2022. The influence of selective enamel etch and self-etch mode of universal adhesives' application on clinical behavior of composite restorations placed on non-carious cervical lesions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Dent. Mater. 38, 472–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DENTAL.2022.01.002
- Kanca, J., 1992. Improving bond strength through acid etching of dentin and bonding to wet dentin surfaces. J. Am. Dent. Assoc. 123. https://doi.org/10.14219/jada.archive.1992.0248
- Kawahara, J. ichi, Ohmori, T., Ohkubo, T., Hattori, S., Kawamura, M., 1992. The structure of glutaraldehyde in aqueous solution determined by ultraviolet absorption and light scattering. Anal. Biochem. 201. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(92)90178-A
- Khaddam, M., Salmon, B., Le Denmat, D., Tjaderhane, L., Menashi, S., Chaussain, C., Rochefort, G.Y., Boukpessi, T., 2014. Grape seed extracts inhibit dentin matrix degradation by MMP-3. Front. Physiol. 5, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00425
- Khor, E., 1997. Methods for the treatment of collagenous tissues for bioprostheses. Biomaterials 18, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(96)00106-8
- Kiernan, J.A., 2000. Formaldehyde, Formalin, Paraformaldehyde And Glutaraldehyde: What They Are And What They Do. Micros. Today 8. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1551929500057060
- Kim, J., Uchiyama, T., Carrilho, M., Agee, K.A., Mazzoni, A., Breschi, L., Carvalho, R.M., Tj??derhane, L., Looney, S., Wimmer, C., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2010. Chlorhexidine binding to mineralized versus demineralized dentin powder. Dent. Mater. 26, 771–778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.04.001
- Kim, Y.K., Gu, L., Bryan, T.E., Kim, J.R., Chen, L., Liu, Y., Yoon, J.C., Breschi, L., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2010. Mineralisation of reconstituted collagen using polyvinylphosphonic acid/polyacrylic acid templating matrix protein analogues in the presence of calcium, phosphate and hydroxyl ions. Biomaterials 31, 6618–6627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.04.060
- Kishen, A., Shrestha, S., Shrestha, A., Cheng, C., Goh, C., 2016. Characterizing the collagen stabilizing effect of crosslinked chitosan nanoparticles against collagenase degradation. Dent. Mater. 32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2016.05.005
- Kleinman, J.E., Casanova, M.F., Jaskiw, G.E., 1988. The neuropathology of schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 14, 209–216. https://doi.org/10.1093/SCHBUL/14.2.209
- Komori, P.C.P., Pashley, D.H., Tjäderhane, L., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., de Goes, M.F., Wang, L., Carrilho, M.R., 2009. Effect of 2% Chlorhexidine Digluconate on the Bond Strength to Normal Versus Caries-affected Dentin. Oper. Dent. 34, 157–165.

https://doi.org/10.2341/08-55

- Koob, T.J., Hernandez, D.J., 2003. Mechanical and thermal properties of novel polymerized NDGA-gelatin hydrogels. Biomaterials 24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(02)00465-9
- Koob, T.J., Hernandez, D.J., 2002. Material properties of polymerized NDGA-collagen composite fibers: development of biologically based tendon constructs. Biomaterials 23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(01)00096-5
- Koshiro, K., Sidhu, S.K., Inoue, S., Ikeda, T., Sano, H., 2006. New concept of resin-dentin interfacial adhesion: The nanointeraction zone. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part B Appl. Biomater. 77. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.30450
- Kramer, R.Z., Bella, J., Brodsky, B., Berman, H.M., 2001. The crystal and molecular, structure of a collagen-like peptide with a biologically relevant sequence. J. Mol. Biol. 311. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.2001.4849
- Kwong, S.M., Cheung, G.S.P., Kei, L.H., Itthagarun, A., Smales, R.J., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2002. Micro-tensile bond strengths to sclerotic dentin using a self-etching and a total-etching technique. Dent. Mater. 18, 359–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0109-5641(01)00051-3
- Lauhio, A., Salo, T., Tjäderhane, L., Lähdevirta, J., Golub, L.M., Sorsa, T., 1995. Tetracyclines in treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet (London, England) 346, 645– 6.
- Leber, T.M., Balkwill, F.R., 1997. Zymography: A single-step staining method for quantitation of proteolytic activity on substrate gels. Anal. Biochem. 249. https://doi.org/10.1006/abio.1997.2170
- Lee, H., Jeong, C., Ghafoor, K., Cho, S., Park, J., 2011. Oral delivery of insulin using chitosan capsules cross-linked with phytic acid. Biomed. Mater. Eng. 21. https://doi.org/10.3233/BME-2011-0654
- Lee, J., Sabatini, C., 2017. Glutaraldehyde collagen cross-linking stabilizes resin-dentin interfaces and reduces bond degradation. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 125, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/EOS.12317
- Leitune, V.C.B., Portella, F.F., Bohn, P.V., Collares, F.M., Samuel, S.M.W., 2011. Influence of chlorhexidine application on longitudinal adhesive bond strength in deciduous teeth. Braz. Oral Res. 25, 388–92. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-83242011000500003
- Li, J., Ren, N., Qiu, J., Jiang, H., Zhao, H., Wang, G., Boughton, R.I., Wang, Y., Liu, H., 2013. Carbodiimide crosslinked collagen from porcine dermal matrix for high-strength tissue engineering scaffold. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2013.06.038
- Li, Z., Hou, W.S., Escalante-Torres, C.R., Gelb, B.D., Bromme, D., 2002. Collagenase activity of cathepsin K depends on complex formation with chondroitin sulfate. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 28669–28676. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M204004200

- Li, Z., Yasuda, Y., Li, W., Bogyo, M., Katz, N., Gordon, R.E., Fields, G.B., Brömme, D., 2004. Regulation of collagenase activities of human cathepsins by glycosaminoglycans. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 5470–5479. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M310349200
- Lin, C.P., Douglas, W.H., Erlandsen, S.L., 1993. Scanning electron microscopy of type I collagen at the dentin-enamel junction of human teeth. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 41, 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/41.3.8429200
- Lindsey, M., Wedin, K., Brown, M.D., Keller, C., Evans, A.J., Smolen, J., Burns, A.R., Rossen, R.D., Michael, L., Entman, M., 2001. Matrix-dependent mechanism of neutrophil-mediated release and activation of matrix metalloproteinase 9 in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. Circulation 103. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.103.17.2181
- Liu, R., Fang, M., Xiao, Y., Li, F., Yu, L., Zhao, S., Shen, L., Chen, J., 2011. The effect of transient proanthocyanidins preconditioning on the cross-linking and mechanical properties of demineralized dentin. J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 22, 2403–2411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-011-4430-4
- Liu, Y., Tjäderhane, L., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Li, N., Mao, J., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2011. Limitations in bonding to dentin and experimental strategies to prevent bond degradation. J. Dent. Res. 90, 953–968. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510391799
- Loguercio, A.D., Hass, V., Gutierrez, M.F., Luque-Martinez, I.V., Szezs, A., Stanislawczuk, R., Bandeca, M.C., Reis, A., 2016. Five-year effects of chlorhexidine on the in vitro durability of resin/dentin interfaces. J. Adhes. Dent. 18, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a35514
- Lopes, G.C., Baratieri, C.M., Baratieri, L.N., Monteiro, S., Cardoso Vieira, L.C., 2004. Bonding to cervical sclerotic dentin: effect of acid etching time. J. Adhes. Dent. 6, 19–23.
- López-Alonso, J.P., Diez-García, F., Font, J., Ribó, M., Vilanova, M., Scholtz, J.M., González, C., Vottariello, F., Gotte, G., Libonati, M., Laurents, D. V., 2009. Carbodiimide EDC induces cross-links that stabilize RNase a C-dimer against dissociation: EDC adducts can affect protein net charge, conformation, and activity. Bioconjug. Chem. 20. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc9001486
- M, K., 2017. Chitosan-Properties and Applications in Dentistry. Adv. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. Open Access 2. https://doi.org/10.15406/atroa.2017.02.00035
- Macedo, G. V, Yamauchi, M., Bedran-Russo, a K., 2009. Effects of chemical cross-linkers on caries-affected dentin bonding. J. Dent. Res. 88, 1096–1100. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034509351001
- Mai, S., Wei, C., Gu, L., Tian, F., Arola, D., Chen, J., Jiao, Y., 2017. Extrafibrillar collagen demineralization-based chelate-and-rinse technique bridges the gap between wet and dry dentin bonding. Acta Biomater. 57, 435–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.05.017
- Makishi, P., Thitthaweerat, S., Sadr, A., Shimada, Y., Martins, A.L., Tagami, J., Giannini, M., 2015. Assessment of current adhesives in class I cavity: Nondestructive imaging using optical coherence tomography and microtensile bond strength. Dent. Mater. 31.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.06.013

- Mancuso, E., Mazzitelli, C., Maravic, T., Pitta, J., Mengozzi, A., Comba, A., Baldi, A., Scotti, N., Mazzoni, A., Fehmer, V., Sailer, I., Breschi, L., 2022. The influence of finishing lines and margin location on enamel and dentin removal for indirect partial restorations: A micro-CT quantitative evaluation. J. Dent. 127. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JDENT.2022.104334
- Maravic, T., Breschi, L., Comba, A., Cunha, S.R., Angeloni, V., Nucci, C., Hebling, J., Pashley, D., Tay, F., Mazzoni, A., 2017. Experimental use of an acrolein-based primer as collagen cross-linker for dentine bonding. J. Dent. 68, 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2017.11.006
- Marchesi, G., Frassetto, A., Mazzoni, A., Apolonio, F., Diolosà, M., Cadenaro, M., Di Lenarda, R., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F., Breschi, L., 2014. Adhesive performance of a multimode adhesive system: 1-Year in vitro study. J. Dent. 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2013.12.008
- Mazzitelli, C., Josic, U., Maravic, T., Mancuso, E., Goracci, C., Cadenaro, M., Mazzoni, A., Breschi, L., 2022a. An Insight into Enamel Resin Infiltrants with Experimental Compositions. Polymers (Basel). 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/POLYM14245553
- Mazzitelli, C., Maravic, T., Mancuso, E., Josic, U., Generali, L., Comba, A., Mazzoni, A., Breschi, L., 2022b. Influence of the activation mode on long-term bond strength and endogenous enzymatic activity of dual-cure resin cements. Clin. Oral Investig. 26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-021-04141-x
- Mazzitelli, C., Maravic, T., Sebold, M., Checchi, V., Josic, U., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., 2020. Effect of shelf-life of a universal adhesive to dentin. Int. J. Adhes. Adhes. 102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijadhadh.2020.102673
- Mazzitelli, C., Monticelli, F., Toledano, M., Ferrari, M., Osorio, R., 2010. Dentin treatment effects on the bonding performance of self-adhesive resin cements. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 118, 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0722.2009.00703.X
- Mazzoni, Annalisa, Angeloni, V., Apolonio, F.M., Scotti, N., Tjäderhane, L., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Di Lenarda, R., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2013. Effect of carbodiimide (EDC) on the bond stability of etch-and-rinse adhesive systems. Dent. Mater. 29, 1040–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2013.07.010
- Mazzoni, A., Angeloni, V., Comba, A., Maravic, T., Cadenaro, M., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., 2018. Cross-linking effect on dentin bond strength and MMPs activity. Dent. Mater. 34, 288–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2017.11.009
- Mazzoni, A., Angeloni, V., Sartori, N., Duarte, S., Maravic, T., Tjäderhane, L., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., 2017. Substantivity of carbodiimide inhibition on dentinal enzyme activity over time. J. Dent. Res. 96, 902–908. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034517708312
- Mazzoni, A., Apolonio, F.M., Saboia, V.P.A., Santi, S., Angeloni, V., Checchi, V., Curci, R., Di Lenarda, R., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2014. Carbodiimide inactivation

of MMPs and effect on dentin bonding. J. Dent. Res. 93, 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034513516465

- Mazzoni, A., Breschi, L., Carrilho, M., Nascimento, F.D., Orsini, G., Ruggeri, A., Gobbi, P., Manzoli, L., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Tjäderhane, L., 2009a. A review of the nature, role, and function of dentin non-collagenous proteins. Part II: enzymes, serum proteins, and growth factors. Endod. Top. 21, 19–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-1546.2012.00268.x
- Mazzoni, A., Carrilho, M., Papa, V., Tjäderhane, L., Gobbi, P., Nucci, C., Di Lenarda, R., Mazzotti, G., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2011a. MMP-2 assay within the hybrid layer created by a two-step etch-and-rinse adhesive: Biochemical and immunohistochemical analysis. J. Dent. 39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2011.04.004
- Mazzoni, A., Mannello, F., Tay, F.R., Tonti, G.A.M., Papa, S., Mazzotti, G., Di Lenarda, R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2007. Zymographic analysis and characterization of MMP-2 and -9 forms in human sound dentin. J. Dent. Res. 86, 436–440. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910708600509
- Mazzoni, A., Nascimento, F., Carrilho, M., Tersariol, I., Papa, V., Tjaderhane, L., Di Lenarda, R., Tay, F., Pashley, D., Breschi, L., 2012. MMP activity in the hybrid layer detected with in situ zymography. J. Dent. Res. 91, 467–472. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034512439210
- Mazzoni, A., Papa, V., Nato, F., Carrilho, M., Tjäderhane, L., Ruggeri, A., Gobbi, P., Mazzotti, G., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2011b. Immunohistochemical and biochemical assay of MMP-3 in human dentine. J. Dent. 39, 231–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2011.01.001
- Mazzoni, A., Pashley, D.H., Nishitani, Y., Breschi, L., Mannello, F., Tjäderhane, L., Toledano, M., Pashley, E.L., Tay, F.R., 2006. Reactivation of inactivated endogenous proteolytic activities in phosphoric acid-etched dentine by etch-and-rinse adhesives. Biomaterials 27, 4470–4476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.01.040
- Mazzoni, A., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Gobbi, P., Orsini, G., Ruggeri, A., Carrilho, M., Tjäderhane, L., Di Lenarda, R., Breschi, L., 2009b. Immunohistochemical identification of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in human dentin: Correlative FEI-SEM/TEM analysis. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part A 88, 697–703. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.31920
- Mazzoni, A., Scaffa, P., Carrilho, M., Tjäderhane, L., Di Lenarda, R., Polimeni, A., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2013. Effects of etch-andrinse and self-etch adhesives on dentin MMP-2 and MMP-9. J. Dent. Res. 92, 82–86. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034512467034
- Mazzoni, A., Tjäderhane, L., Checchi, V., Di Lenarda, R., Salo, T., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Breschi, L., 2015. Role of dentin MMPs in caries progression and bond stability. J. Dent. Res. 94, 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034514562833
- Migneault, I., Dartiguenave, C., Bertrand, M.J., Waldron, K.C., 2004. Glutaraldehyde: Behavior in aqueous solution, reaction with proteins, and application to enzyme crosslinking. Biotechniques. https://doi.org/10.2144/04375rv01

- Mirigian, L.S., Makareeva, E., Koistinen, H., Itkonen, O., Sorsa, T., Stenman, U.H., Salo, T., Leikin, S., 2013. Collagen degradation by tumor-associated trypsins. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 535, 111–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2013.03.008
- Mobarak, E.H., 2011. Effect of chlorhexidine pretreatment on bond strength durability of caries-affected dentin over 2-year aging in artificial saliva and under simulated intrapulpal pressure. Oper. Dent. 36, 649–60. https://doi.org/10.2341/11-018-L
- Munksgaard, E.C., Asmussen, E., 1984. Bond Strength Between Dentin and Restorative Resins Mediated by Mixtures of HEMA and Glutaraldehyde. J. Dent. Res. 63. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345840630081701
- Muñoz, M.A., Luque, I., Hass, V., Reis, A., Loguercio, A.D., Bombarda, N.H.C., 2013. Immediate bonding properties of universal adhesives to dentine. J. Dent. 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2013.03.001
- Nakabayashi, N., Watanabe, A., Gendusa, N.J., 1992. Dentin adhesion of "modified" 4-META/MMA-TBB resin: function of HEMA. Dent. Mater. 8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0109-5641(92)90096-U
- Nascimento, F.D., Minciotti, C.L., Geraldeli, S., Carrilho, M.R., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Nader, H.B., Salo, T., Tjäderhane, L., Tersariol, I.L.S., 2011. Cysteine cathepsins in human carious dentin. J. Dent. Res. 90, 506–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510391906
- Nassar, M., Hiraishi, N., Islam, M.S., Aizawa, M., Tamura, Y., Otsuki, M., Kasugai, S., Ohya, K., Tagami, J., 2013. Effect of phytic acid used as etchant on bond strength, smear layer, and pulpal cells. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 121. https://doi.org/10.1111/eos.12064
- Nassar, M., Nassar, R., Maki, H., Al-Yagoob, A., Hachim, M., Senok, A., Williams, D., Hiraishi, N., 2021. Phytic Acid: Properties and Potential Applications in Dentistry. Front. Mater. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmats.2021.638909
- Nimni, M.E., 1988. The cross-linking and structure modification of the collagen matrix in the design of cardiovascular prosthesis. J. Card. Surg. 3, 523–533. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8191.1988.tb00446.x
- Nimni, M.E., Cheung, D., Strates, B., Kodama, M., Sheikh, K., 1987. Chemically modified collagen: A natural biomaterial for tissue replacement. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 21. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.820210606
- Nishitani, Y., Yoshiyama, M., Wadgaonkar, B., Breschi, L., Mannello, F., Mazzoni, A., Carvalho, R., Tjäderhane, L., Tay, F., Pashley, D., 2006. Activation of gelatinolytic / collagenolytic activity in dentin by self - etching adhesives. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 114, 160–6.
- Nurrohman, H., Nikaido, T., Takagaki, T., Sadr, A., Ichinose, S., Tagami, J., 2012. Apatite crystal protection against acid-attack beneath resin-dentin interface with four adhesives: TEM and crystallography evidence. Dent. Mater. 28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2012.04.025
- Okuda, K., Urabe, I., Yamada, Y., Okada, H., 1991. Reaction of glutaraldehyde with amino and thiol compounds. J. Ferment. Bioeng. 71. https://doi.org/10.1016/0922-

338X(91)90231-5

- Okuyama, K., Takayanagi, M., Ashida, T., Kakudo, M., 1977. A new structural model for collagen. Polym. J. 9. https://doi.org/10.1295/polymj.9.341
- Olde Damink, L.H.H., Dijkstra, P.J., Van Luyn, M.J.A., Van Wachem, P.B., Nieuwenhuis, P., Feijen, J., 1996. Cross-linking of dermal sheep collagen using a water-soluble carbodiimide. Biomaterials 17. https://doi.org/10.1016/0142-9612(96)81413-X
- Opdam, N.J.M., Bronkhorst, E.M., Loomans, B.A.C., Huysmans, M.-C.D.N.J.M., 2010. 12year survival of composite vs amalgam restorations. J. Dent. Res. 89, 1063–1067. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510376071
- Ortiz, C., Boyce, M.C., 2008. Materials science: Bioinspired structural materials. Science (80-.). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1154295
- Oyarzún, A., Rathkamp, H., Dreyer, E., 2000. Immunohistochemical and ultrastructural evaluation of the effects of phosphoric acid etching on dentin proteoglycans. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 108, 546–54.
- Panwar, P., Du, X., Sharma, V., Lamour, G., Castro, M., Li, H., Brömme, D., 2013. Effects of cysteine proteases on the structural and mechanical properties of collagen fibers. J. Biol. Chem. 288. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.419689
- Pashley, D., Tay, F., Imazato, S., 2011. How to increase the durability of resin-dentin bonds. Compend Contin Educ Dent 32, 60–64.
- Pashley, D. H., Ciucchi, B., Sano, H., Carvalho, R.M., Russell, C.M., 1995. Bond strength versus dentine structure: A modelling approach. Arch. Oral Biol. 40, 1109–1118. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9969(95)00090-9
- Pashley, D.H., Ciucchi, B., Sano, H., Horner, J.A., 1993. Permeability of dentin to adhesive agents. Quintessence Int. 24.
- Pashley, David H., Sano, H., Ciucchi, B., Yoshiyama, M., Carvalho, R.M., 1995. Adhesion testing of dentin bonding agents: A review. Dent. Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/0109-5641(95)80046-8
- Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., Tjäderhane, L., Carvalho, R.M., Carrilho, M., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., 2011a. State of the art etch-and-rinse adhesives. Dent. Mater. 27, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.10.016
- Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., Tjäderhane, L., Carvalho, R.M., Carrilho, M., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., 2011b. State of the art etch-and-rinse adhesives. Dent. Mater. 27, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.10.016
- Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Carvalho, R.M., Rueggeberg, F.A., Agee, K.A., Carrilho, M., Donnelly, A., García-Godoy, F., 2007. From dry bonding to water-wet bonding to ethanol-wet bonding. A review of the interactions between dentin matrix and solvated resins using a macromodel of the hybrid layer. Am. J. Dent. 20, 7–20.

Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Yiu, C., Hashimoto, M., Breschi, L., Carvalho, R.M., Ito, S., 2004.

Collagen degradation by host-derived enzymes during aging. J. Dent. Res. 83, 216–221. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910408300306

- Perdigão, J., Lambrechts, P., Van Meerbeek, B., Tomé, Â.R., Vanherle, G., Lopes, A.B., 1996. Morphological field emission-SEM study of the effect of six phosphoric acid etching agents on human dentin. Dent. Mater. 12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0109-5641(96)80033-9
- Perumal, S., Antipova, O., Orgel, J.P.R.O., 2008. Collagen fibril architecture, domain organization, and triple-helical conformation govern its proteolysis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 2824–2829. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710588105
- Prati, C., Pashley, D.H., 1992. Dentin wetness, permeability and thickness and bond strength of adhesive systems. Am. J. Dent. 5, 33–8.
- Qasim, S.B., Zafar, M.S., Najeeb, S., Khurshid, Z., Shah, A.H., Husain, S., Rehman, I.U., 2018. Electrospinning of Chitosan-Based Solutions for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS19020407
- Qin, C., Xu, J., Zhang, Y., 2006. Spectroscopic investigation of the function of aqueous 2hydroxyethylmethacrylate/glutaraldehyde solution as a dentin desensitizer. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 114, 354–359. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0722.2006.00382.X
- Rainey, J.K., Goh, M.C., 2009. A statistically derived parameterization for the collagen triple-helix. Protein Sci. 11. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.0218502
- Rajnekar, R., Mankar, N., Nikhade, P., Chandak, M., Ikhar, A., Burde, K., 2022. Clinical Efficacy of Two Different Desensitizers in Reducing Postoperative Sensitivity Following Composite Restorations. Cureus 14. https://doi.org/10.7759/CUREUS.25977
- Ravichandran, R., Seitz, V., Reddy Venugopal, J., Sridhar, R., Sundarrajan, S., Mukherjee, S., Wintermantel, E., Ramakrishna, S., 2013. Mimicking Native Extracellular Matrix with Phytic Acid-Crosslinked Protein Nanofibers for Cardiac Tissue Engineering. Macromol. Biosci. 13. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201200391
- Ravindran, V., Bryden, W., Kornegay, E., 1995. Phytates: occurrence, bioavailability and implications in poultry nutrition. Poult. Avian Biol. Rev. 6, 125–143.
- Reis, A., Klein-Junior, C.A., de Souza, F.H.C., Stanislawczuk, R., Loguercio, A.D., 2010. The use of warm air stream for solvent evaporation: Effects on the durability of resindentin bonds. Oper. Dent. 35, 29–36. https://doi.org/10.2341/08-065-L
- Reis, A., Loguercio, A.D., 2009. A 36-month clinical evaluation of ethanol/water and acetone-based etch-and-rinse adhesives in non-carious cervical lesions. Oper. Dent. 34. https://doi.org/10.2341/08-117
- Reiser, K., McCormick, R.J., Rucker, R.B., 1992. Enzymatic and nonenzymatic cross-linking of collagen and elastin. FASEB J. 6. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.6.7.1348714
- Rembaum, A., Margel, S., Levy, J., 1978. Polyglutaraldehyde: A new reagent for coupling proteins to microspheres and for labeling cell-surface receptors. J. Immunol. Methods 24. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1759(78)90128-X

- Richards, F.M., Knowles, J.R., 1968. Glutaraldehyde as a protein cross-linkage reagent. J. Mol. Biol. 37, 231–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(68)90086-7
- Ritter, A. V., Swift, E.J., Yamauchi, M., 2001. Effects of phosphoric acid and glutaraldehyde-HEMA on dentin collagen. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 109. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0722.2001.00088.x
- Ryou, H., Turco, G., Breschi, L., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Arola, D., 2016. On the stiffness of demineralized dentin matrices. Dent. Mater. 32, 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.11.029
- Sabatini, C., Ortiz, P.A., Pashley, D.H., 2015. Preservation of resin-dentin interfaces treated with benzalkonium chloride adhesive blends. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 123, 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/eos.12176
- Sabatini, C., Pashley, D.H., 2014. Mechanisms regulating the degradation of dentin matrices by endogenous dentin proteases and their role in dental adhesion. A review. Am. J. Dent.
- Sabatini, C., Patel, S.K., 2013. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitory properties of benzalkonium chloride stabilizes adhesive interfaces. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 121, 610–616. https://doi.org/10.1111/eos.12089
- Sabatini, C., Scheffel, D.L.S., Scheffel, R.H., Agee, K.A., Rouch, K., Takahashi, M., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Tjäderhane, L., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2014. Inhibition of endogenous human dentin MMPs by Gluma. Dent. Mater. 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2014.04.006
- SABATINI, D.D., BENSCH, K., BARRNETT, R.J., 1963. Cytochemistry and electron microscopy. The preservation of cellular ultrastructure and enzymatic activity by aldehyde fixation. J. Cell Biol. 17. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.17.1.19
- Saboia, V.P.A., Nato, F., Mazzoni, A., Orsini, G., Putignano, A., Giannini, M., Breschi, L., 2008. Adhesion of a two-step etch-and-rinse adhesive on collagen-depleted dentin. J. Adhes. Dent. 10, 419–22. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a14143
- Sadek, F.T., Braga, R.R., Muench, A., Liu, Y., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2010. Ethanol wetbonding challenges current anti-degradation strategy. J. Dent. Res. 89, 1499–1504. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510385240
- Sailer, I., Oendra, A.E.H., Stawarczyk, B., Hämmerle, C.H.F., 2012. The effects of desensitizing resin, resin sealing, and provisional cement on the bond strength of dentin luted with self-adhesive and conventional resincements. J. Prosthet. Dent. 107, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3913(12)60070-5
- Sano, H., Takatsu, T., Ciucchi, B., Honer, J., Matthews, W., Pashley, D., 1995. Nanoleakage: leakage within the hybrid layer. Oper Dent 20, 18–25.
- Sauro, S., Mannocci, F., Toledano, M., Osorio, R., Pashley, D.H., Watson, T.F., 2009. EDTA or H3PO4/NaOCl dentine treatments may increase hybrid layers' resistance to degradation: A microtensile bond strength and confocal-micropermeability study. J. Dent. 37, 279–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2008.12.002

- Sauro, S., Osorio, R., Watson, T.F., Toledano, M., 2015. Influence of phosphoproteins' biomimetic analogs on remineralization of mineral-depleted resin-dentin interfaces created with ion-releasing resin-based systems. Dent. Mater. 31, 759–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.03.013
- Sayed, M.E., Dewan, H., Alomer, N., Alsubaie, S., Chohan, H., 2021. Efficacy of desensitizers in reducing post-preparation sensitivity prior to a fixed dental prosthesis: A randomized controlled clinical trial. J. Int. Soc. Prev. Community Dent. 11. https://doi.org/10.4103/jispcd.JISPCD_31_21
- Scaffa, P.M.C., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Vidal, C. de M.P., Curci, R., Apolonio, F., Gobbi, P., Pashley, D., Tjäderhane, L., Tersariol, I.L. dos S., Nascimento, F.D., Carrilho, M.R., 2017. Co-distribution of cysteine cathepsins and matrix metalloproteases in human dentin. Arch. Oral Biol. 74, 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archoralbio.2016.11.011
- Scaffa, P.M.C., Vidal, C.M.P., Barros, N., Gesteira, T.F., Carmona, a. K., Breschi, L., Pashley, D.H., Tjaderhane, L., Tersariol, I.L.S., Nascimento, F.D., Carrilho, M.R., 2012. Chlorhexidine inhibits the activity of dental cysteine cathepsins. J. Dent. Res. 91, 420– 425. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034511435329
- Scheffel, D.L.S., Bianchi, L., Soares, D.G., Basso, F.G., Sabatini, C., De Souza Costa, C.A., Pashley, D.H., Hebling, J., 2015. Transdentinal cytotoxicity of carbodiimide (EDC) and glutaraldehyde on odontoblast-like cells. Oper. Dent. 40. https://doi.org/10.2341/13-338-L
- Schlueter, R.J., Veis, A., 1964. The macromolecular organization of dentine matrix collagen. II. Periodate degradation and carbohydrate cross-linking. Biochemistry 3, 1657–65.
- Schüpbach, P., Lutz, F., Finger, W.J., 1997. Closing of dentinal tubules by Gluma desensitizer. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 105, 414–421. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0722.1997.TB02138.X
- Scott, J.E., 1988. Proteoglycan-fibrillar collagen interactions. Biochem. J. 252, 313–323.
- Sebald, W., Machleidt, W., Wachter, E., 1980. N,N'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide binds specifically to a single glutamyl residue of the proteolipid subunit of the mitochondrial adenosinetriphosphatases from Neurospora crassa and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 77. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.77.2.785
- Sebold, M., André, C.B., Carvalho, R.M., Giannini, M., 2019. Dry-bonding to dentin using alternative conditioners based on iron-containing solutions or nitric acid. J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater. 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2019.03.015
- Selle, P.H., Cowieson, A.J., Cowieson, N.P., Ravindran, V., 2012. Protein-phytate interactions in pig and poultry nutrition: A reappraisal. Nutr. Res. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954422411000151
- Seseogullari-Dirihan, R., Apollonio, F., Mazzoni, A., Tjaderhane, L., Pashley, D., Breschi, L., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., 2016. Use of crosslinkers to inactivate dentin MMPs. Dent. Mater. 32, 423–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.12.012

Seseogullari-Dirihan, R., Mutluay, M.M., Pashley, D.H., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., 2017. Is the

inactivation of dentin proteases by crosslinkers reversible? Dent. Mater. 33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2016.09.036

- Seseogullari-Dirihan, R., Tjäderhane, L., Pashley, D.H., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., 2015. Effect of ultraviolet A-induced crosslinking on dentin collagen matrix. Dent. Mater. 31, 1225– 1231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.08.145
- Sever, M.J., Weisser, J.T., Monahan, J., Srinivasan, S., Wilker, J.J., 2004. Metal-Mediated Cross-Linking in the Generation of a Marine-Mussel Adhesive. Angew. Chemie - Int. Ed. 43. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200352759
- Sheehan, J.C., Boshart, G.L., Cruickshank, P.A., 1961. A Convenient Synthesis of Water-Soluble Carbodiimides. J. Org. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo01351a600
- Shen, J., Xie, H., Wang, Q., Wu, X., Yang, J., Chen, C., 2020. Evaluation of the interaction of chlorhexidine and MDP and its effects on the durability of dentin bonding. Dent. Mater. 36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2020.10.006
- Shimada, Y., Ichinose, S., Sadr, A., Burrow, M.F., Tagami, J., 2009. Localization of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs-2, 8, 9 and 20) in normal and carious dentine. Aust. Dent. J. 54, 347–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1834-7819.2009.01161.x
- Shin, T.P., Yao, X., Huenergardt, R., Walker, M.P., Wang, Y., 2009. Morphological and chemical characterization of bonding hydrophobic adhesive to dentin using ethanol wet bonding technique. Dent. Mater. 25, 1050–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2009.03.006
- Solovkin, A.S., Tsvetkova, Z.N., 1962. the Chemistry of Aqueous Solutions of Zirconium Salts (Does the Zirconyl Ion Exist?). Russ. Chem. Rev. 31, 655–669. https://doi.org/10.1070/rc1962v031n11abeh001326
- Spencer, P., Wang, Y., 2002. Adhesive phase separation at the dentin interface under wet bonding conditions. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 62, 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.10364
- Spencer, P., Wang, Y., Katz, J.L., Misra, A., 2005. Physicochemical interactions at the dentin/adhesive interface using FTIR chemical imaging. J. Biomed. Opt. 10, 031104. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.1914844
- Spencer, P., Wang, Y., Walker, M.P., Wieliczka, D.M., Swafford, J.R., 2000. Interfacial chemistry of the dentin/adhesive bond. J. Dent. Res. 79, 1458–1463. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345000790070501
- Stanislawczuk, R., Pereira, F., Muñoz, M.A., Luque, I., Farago, P.V., Reis, A., Loguercio, A.D., 2014. Effects of chlorhexidine-containing adhesives on the durability of resindentine interfaces. J. Dent. 42, 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2013.11.002
- Staros, J. V., Wright, R.W., Swingle, D.M., 1986. Enhancement by Nhydroxysulfosuccinimide of water-soluble carbodiimide-mediated coupling reactions. Anal. Biochem. 156. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(86)90176-4

Sulkala, M., Tervahartiala, T., Sorsa, T., Larmas, M., Salo, T., Tjäderhane, L., 2007. Matrix

metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) is the major collagenase in human dentin. Arch. Oral Biol. 52, 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archoralbio.2006.08.009

- Sulkala, M., Wahlgren, J., Larmas, M., Sorsa, T., Teronen, O., Salo, T., Tjäderhane, L., 2001. The effects of MMP inhibitors on human salivary MMP activity and caries progression in rats. J. Dent. Res. 80, 1545–1549. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345010800061301
- Sung, H., Chang, Y., CT, C., Chen, C., Liang, H., 1999. Crosslinking characteristics and mechanical properties of a bovine pericardium fixed with a naturally occurring crosslinking agent. J Biomed Mater Res 47, 116–126.
- Sung, H.W., Huang, D.M., Chang, W.H., Huang, R.N., Hsu, J.C., 1999. Evaluation of gelatin hydrogel crosslinked with various crosslinking agents as bioadhesives: In vitro study. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 46. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(19990915)46:4<520::AID-JBM10>3.0.CO;2-9
- Suppa, P., Breschi, L., Ruggeri, A., Mazzotti, G., Prati, C., Chersoni, S., Di Lenarda, R., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2005. Nanoleakage within the hybrid layer: A correlative FEISEM/TEM investigation. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part B Appl. Biomater. 73. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.30217
- Swift, E.J., Perdigão, J., Heymann, H.O., 1995. Bonding to enamel and dentin: A brief history and state of the art, 1995. Quintessence Int. 26, 95–110.
- Takahashi, M., Nakajima, M., Tagami, J., Scheffel, D., Carvalho, R., Mazzoni, A., Carrilho, M., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Breschi, L., Tjäderhane, L., Jang, S., Tay, F., Agee, K., Pashley, D., 2013. The importance of size-exclusion characteristics of type I collagen in bonding to dentin matrices. Acta Biomater. 9, 9522–9528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2013.07.037.The
- Tallant, C., Marrero, A., Gomis-Rüth, F.X., 2010. Matrix metalloproteinases: Fold and function of their catalytic domains. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.04.003
- Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2008. Guided tissue remineralisation of partially demineralised human dentine. Biomaterials 29, 1127–1137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.11.001
- Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2004. Resin bonding to cervical sclerotic dentin: A review. J. Dent. 32, 173–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2003.10.009
- Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Kapur, R.R., Carrilho, M.R.O., Hur, Y.B., Garrett, L. V, Tay, K.C.Y., 2007. Bonding BisGMA to dentin--a proof of concept for hydrophobic dentin bonding. J. Dent. Res. 86, 1034–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910708601103
- Tay, Franklin R., Pashley, D.H., Suh, B.I., Carvalho, R.M., Itthagarun, A., 2002. Single-step adhesives are permeable membranes. J. Dent. 30, 371–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-5712(02)00064-7
- Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Yoshiyama, M., 2002. Two Modes of Nanoleakage Expression in Single-step Adhesives. J. Dent. Res. 81, 472–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910208100708

- Tay FR, King NM, Chan K, P.D., 2002. How can nanoleakage occur in self-etching adhesive systems that demineralize and infiltrate simultaneously? | Request PDF [WWW Document]. J Adhes Dent.
- Teesalu, T., Hinkkanen, A.E., Vaheri, A., 2001. Coordinated induction of extracellular proteolysis systems during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. Am. J. Pathol. 159. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63073-8
- Tersariol, I.L., Geraldeli, S., Minciotti, C.L., Nascimento, F.D., Pääkkönen, V., Martins, M.T., Carrilho, M.R., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., Salo, T., Tjäderhane, L., 2010. Cysteine Cathepsins in Human Dentin-Pulp Complex. J. Endod. 36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2009.12.034
- Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Agee, K.A., Hoshika, T., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2010. The inhibitory effect of polyvinylphosphonic acid on functional matrix metalloproteinase activities in human demineralized dentin. Acta Biomater. 6, 4136–4142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2010.05.017
- Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Agee, K.A., Mazzoni, A., Carvalho, R.M., Carrilho, M., Tersariol, I.L., Nascimento, F.D., Imazato, S., Tj??derhane, L., Breschi, L., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2015. Can quaternary ammonium methacrylates inhibit matrix MMPs and cathepsins? Dent. Mater. 31, e25–e32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2014.10.006
- Tezvergil-Mutluay, A, Agee, K.A., Uchiyama, T., Imazato, S., Mutluay, M.M., Cadenaro, M., Breschi, L., Nishitani, Y., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2011. The inhibitory effects of quaternary ammonium methacrylates on soluble and matrix-bound MMPs. J. Dent. Res. 90, 535–540. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510389472
- Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Mutluay, M.M., Agee, K.A., Seseogullari-Dirihan, R., Hoshika, T., Cadenaro, M., Breschi, L., Vallittu, P., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2012. Carbodiimide cross-linking inactivates soluble and matrix-bound MMPs, in vitro. J. Dent. Res. 91, 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034511427705
- Tezvergil-Mutluay, A, Mutluay, M.M., Agee, K.A., Seseogullari-Dirihan, R., Hoshika, T., Cadenaro, M., Breschi, L., Vallittu, P., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2012. Carbodiimide cross-linking inactivates soluble and matrix-bound MMPs, in vitro. J. Dent. Res. 91, 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034511427705
- Tezvergil-Mutluay, Arzu, Mutluay, M.M., Gu, L.S., Zhang, K., Agee, K.A., Carvalho, R.M., Manso, A., Carrilho, M., Tay, F.R., Breschi, L., Suh, B.I., Pashley, D.H., 2011. The anti-MMP activity of benzalkonium chloride. J. Dent. 39, 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2010.10.003
- Thompson, J.M., Agee, K., Sidow, S.J., McNally, K., Lindsey, K., Borke, J., Elsalanty, M., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2012. Inhibition of endogenous dentin matrix metalloproteinases by ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid. J. Endod. 38, 62–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2011.09.005
- Tjäderhane, L., 2015. Dentin bonding: Can we make it last? Oper. Dent. 40. https://doi.org/10.2341/14-095-BL

Tjäderhane, L., Buzalaf, M.A.R., Carrilho, M., Chaussain, C., 2015. Matrix

metalloproteinases and other matrix proteinases in relation to cariology: The era of "dentin degradomics." Caries Res. 49, 193–208. https://doi.org/10.1159/000363582

- Tjäderhane, L., Carrilho, M.R., Breschi, L., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2009. Dentin basic structure and composition-an overview. Endod. Top. 20, 3–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-1546.2012.00269.x
- Tjäderhane, L., Larjava, H., Sorsa, T., Uitto, V.J., Larmas, M., Salo, T., 1998. The activation and function of host matrix metalloproteinases in dentin matrix breakdown in caries lesions. J. Dent. Res. 77. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345980770081001
- Tjäderhane, L., Nascimento, F.D., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Tersariol, I.L.S., Geraldeli, S., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Carrilho, M., Carvalho, R.M., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., 2013. Strategies to prevent hydrolytic degradation of the hybrid layer—A review. Dent. Mater. 29, 999–1011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2013.07.016
- Toledano, M., Osorio, R., De Leonardi, G., Rosales-Leal, J.I., Ceballos, L., Cabrerizo-Vilchez, M.A., 2001. Influence of self-etching primer on the resin adhesion to enamel and dentin. Am. J. Dent. 14.
- Toroian, D., Lim, J.E., Price, P.A., 2007. The size exclusion characteristics of type I collagen. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 22437–22447. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M700591200
- Turk, D., Guncar, G., Podobnik, M., Turk, B., 1998. Revised definition of substrate binding sites of papain-like cysteine proteases. Biol. Chem. 379, 137–47.
- Turk, V., Stoka, V., Vasiljeva, O., Renko, M., Sun, T., Turk, B., Turk, D., 2012. Cysteine cathepsins: From structure, function and regulation to new frontiers. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteomics 1824, 68–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2011.10.002
- Van Meerbeek, B., Van Landuyt, K., De Munck, J., Hashimoto, M., Peumans, M., Lambrechts, P., Yoshida, Y., Inoue, S., Suzuki, K., 2005. Technique-sensitivity of contemporary adhesives. Dent. Mater. J. 24, 1–13.
- Van Meerbeek, B., Vargas, M., Inoue, S., Yoshida, Y., Perdigão, J., Lambrechts, P., Vanherle, G., 2000. Microscopy investigations. Techniques, results, limitations. Am. J. Dent. 13.
- Van Meerbeek, B., Yoshihara, K., Yoshida, Y., Mine, A., De Munck, J., Van Landuyt, K.L., 2011. State of the art of self-etch adhesives. Dent. Mater. 27, 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.10.023
- Van Wart, H.E., Birkedal-Hansen, H., 1990. The cysteine switch: a principle of regulation of metalloproteinase activity with potential applicability to the entire matrix metalloproteinase gene family. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87, 5578–82.
- Veis, A., 2003. Mineralization in organic matrix frameworks. Rev. Mineral. Geochemistry 54, 249–289. https://doi.org/10.2113/0540249
- Veis, A., Schlueter, R.J., 1964. The Macromolecular Organization of Dentine Matrix Collagen. I. Characterization of Dentine Collagen. Biochemistry 3. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00899a009

- Vidal, C.M.P., Tjäderhane, L., Scaffa, P.M., Tersariol, I.L., Pashley, D., Nader, H.B., Nascimento, F.D., Carrilho, M.R., 2014. Abundance of MMPs and cysteine cathepsins in caries-affected dentin. J. Dent. Res. 93, 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034513516979
- Visse, R., Nagase, H., 2003. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: Structure, function, and biochemistry. Circ. Res. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000070112.80711.3D
- Vogel, K.G., Paulsson, M., Heinegård, D., 1984. Specific inhibition of type I and type II collagen fibrillogenesis by the small proteoglycan of tendon. Biochem. J. 223, 587–97.
- Wang, Y., Spencer, P., 2002. Quantifying adhesive penetration in adhesive/dentin interface using confocal Raman microspectroscopy. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 59, 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.1215
- Wang, Y., Spencer, P., Walker, M.P., 2007. Chemical profile of adhesive/caries-affected dentin interfaces using Raman microspectroscopy. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 81, 279–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.30981
- Wang, Y., Spencer, P., Yao, X., Ye, Q., 2006. Effect of coinitiator and water on the photoreactivity and photopolymerization of HEMA/camphoquinone-based reactant mixtures. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 78, 721–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.30733
- Wang, Z., Sa, Y., Sauro, S., Chen, H., Xing, W., Ma, X., Jiang, T., Wang, Y., 2010. Effect of desensitising toothpastes on dentinal tubule occlusion: a dentine permeability measurement and SEM in vitro study. J. Dent. 38, 400–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JDENT.2010.01.007
- Xu, C., Wang, Y., 2011. Cross-linked demineralized dentin maintains its mechanical stability when challenged by bacterial collagenase. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part B Appl. Biomater. 96 B, 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.31759
- Xu, J., Stangel, I., Butler, I.S., Gilson, D.F.R., 1997. An FT-Raman spectroscopic investigation of dentin and collagen surfaces modified by 2-hydroxyethylmethacrylate. J. Dent. Res. 76. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220345970760011101
- Yamauchi, M., Shiiba, M., 2008. Lysine hydroxylation and cross-linking of collagen. Methods Mol. Biol. 446, 95–108. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-084-7_7
- Yao, C., Ahmed, M.H., Yoshihara, K., Mercelis, B., Parise Gré, C., Van Landuyt, K.L., Huang, C., Van Meerbeek, B., 2019. Bonding to enamel using alternative Enamel Conditioner/etchants. Dent. Mater. 35, 1415–1429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2019.07.022
- Ye, Q., Park, J.G., Topp, E., Wang, Y., Misra, A., Spencer, P., 2008. In vitro performance of nano-heterogeneous dentin adhesive. J. Dent. Res. 87, 829–33. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910808700911
- Ye, Q., Spencer, P., Wang, Y., 2007. Nanoscale patterning in crosslinked methacrylate copolymer networks: An atomic force microscopy study. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. Symp. 106, 3843–3851. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.27044

- Yiu, C.K.Y., Hiraishi, N., Tay, F.R., King, M., 2012. Effect of chlorhexidine incorporation into dental adhesive resin on durability of resin-dentin bond. J. Adhes. Dent. 14, 355– 362. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a25674
- Yoshida, E., Uno, S., Nodasaka, Y., Kaga, M., Hirano, S., 2007. Relationship between water status in dentin and interfacial morphology in all-in-one adhesives. Dent. Mater. 23, 556–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2006.03.014
- Yoshioka, M., Yoshida, Y., Inoue, S., Lambrechts, P., Vanherle, G., Nomura, Y., Okazaki, M., Shintani, H., Van Meerbeek, B., 2002. Adhesion/decalcification mechanisms of acid interactions with human hard tissues. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 59. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.1216
- Yoshiyama, M., Tay, F.R., Doi, J., Nishitani, Y., Yamada, T., Itou, K., Carvalho, R.M., Nakajima, M., Pashley, D.H., 2002. Bonding of self-etch and total-etch adhesives to carious dentin. J. Dent. Res. 81, 556–560. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910208100811
- Yoshiyama, M., Urayama, A., Kimochi, T., Matsuo, T., Pashley, D.H., n.d. Comparison of conventional vs self-etching adhesive bonds to caries-affected dentin. Oper. Dent. 25, 163–9.
- Yuan, X., Wang, Q., Zhao, Q., Bai, Z., Chen, C., Xie, H., 2023. Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by 10-MDP and its calcium salt contributes to improved dentinbonding durability. Int. J. Adhes. Adhes. 120, 103302. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJADHADH.2022.103302
- Zhang, Y., Gu, Y., Lee, H.-M., Hambardjieva, E., Vranková, K., Golub, L.M., Johnson, F., 2012. Design, synthesis and biological activity of new polyenolic inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases: a focus on chemically-modified curcumins. Curr. Med. Chem. 19, 4348–58.
- Zhang, Z., Mutluay, M., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Tay, F.R., Pashley, D.H., Arola, D., 2017. Effects of EDC crosslinking on the stiffness of dentin hybrid layers evaluated by nanoDMA over time. Dent. Mater. 33, 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2017.04.006
- Zheng, P., Zaruba, M., Attin, T., Wiegand, A., 2014. Effect of different matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors on microtensile bond strength of an etch-and-rinse and a self-etching adhesive to dentin. Oper. Dent. 40, 80–6. https://doi.org/10.2341/13-162-L
- Zhou, J., Tan, J., Chen, L., Li, D., Tan, Y., 2009. The incorporation of chlorhexidine in a two-step self-etching adhesive preserves dentin bond in vitro. J. Dent. 37, 807–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2009.06.011